

Durham E-Theses

A study into the regulation of root development under osmotic stress

JERVIS, GEORGE, HENRY

How to cite:

JERVIS, GEORGE, HENRY (2023) A study into the regulation of root development under osmotic stress, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/14837/

Use policy

The full-text may be used and/or reproduced, and given to third parties in any format or medium, without prior permission or charge, for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes provided that:

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

A study into the regulation of root development under osmotic stress

George Henry Jervis

A thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Biosciences

Durham University

United Kingdom



March 2022

A study into the regulation of root development under osmotic stress

George Henry Jervis

Abstract

The mechanisms behind the regulation of root development under a lack of water (osmotic stress) is a critical subject for plant biology and global agriculture. Previously osmotic stress has been shown to inhibit root growth via an abscisic acid (ABA)-mediated reduction in auxin transport, independent of ethylene signalling.

This thesis examines the impact of osmotic stress on critical developmental signals: auxin, ABA and reactive oxygen species (ROS) minutes after encountering osmotic stress and following a longer stress period of 24 hours. The roles of these signals in the root were analysed via loss-of-function mutants, gene expression analysis, and bioimaging in concert with exogenous chemical treatment.

Auxin, ABA and ROS (represented by level of oxidation) levels were all found to rapidly increase within 10 minutes of osmotic stress leading to downstream responses. ROS and ABA appear to have a strong positive feedback relationship that can develop with minutes. Under the longer stress period of 24 hours, auxin responses were found to decrease while both ROS and ABA responses were shown to increase.

PIN-mediated auxin transport was shown to play a key role in the reduction of auxin in the root tip following 24-hour osmotic stress treatment. PIN3 and PIN7 gene expression and protein distribution were altered under osmotic stress, associated with a reduction of the auxin maximum at the root tip.

ROP2 was found to play a central role in root development under osmotic stress root, along with the decrease of auxin and increase in ABA signalling after 24 hours. It was also shown that that several respiratory burst oxidase homologs (RBOHs) play a role in root development under standard conditions as well as under osmotic stress. PERK4 and RBOHC likely play a key role in ROS production under ABA-mediated osmotic stress response, with the loss-of-function of PERK4 significantly improving root growth under osmotic stress.

Contents

A study into the regulation of root development under osmotic stress

George Henry Jervis

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	16
Dedication	17
1. Introduction	18
1.1 Drought stress and food security	19
1.2 Arabidopsis thaliana as a model organism	20
1.2.1 Arabidopsis root system and structure	20
1.3 Plant hormones as regulators of growth	21
1.3.1 Auxin	22
1.3.2 Ethylene and POLARIS	27
1.3.3 Cytokinin	28
1.3.4 Abscisic Acid (ABA)	29
1.4 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	33
1.4.1 The role of RBOH proteins	38
1.5 Rho of plant (ROP) proteins	38
1.6 Crosstalk between ABA, Auxin and ROS	41
1.6.1 ABA and ROS interaction	41
1.6.2 ABA and Auxin interaction	44
1.6.3 ROS and Auxin interaction	45

1.6.4 Sites of Crosstalk between ABA, Auxin and ROS	46
1.7 Osmotic Stress	48
1.7.1 What is Osmotic Stress?	49
1.7.2 The phenotypic response to osmotic stress	50
1.7.3 Root response to osmotic stress	50
1.7.4 Primary sensing mechanisms	52
1.7.5 Short-term signalling	53
1.7.6 Long-term osmotic signalling	55
1.7.6.1 The role of auxin during osmotic stress	55
1.7.6.2 The role of ABA during osmotic stress	57
1.7.6.3 The role of ROS during osmotic stress	59
1.7.6.4 Crosstalk during osmotic stress	60
1.8 Project Aims and Objectives	65
2 Methods and Materials	67
2.1 Materials	68
2.1.1 Chemical Suppliers	68
2.1.2 Plant Material	68
2.2 Plant Tissue Culture	69
2.2.1 Seed Sterilisation	69
2.2.2 Growth Conditions	69
2.3 Preparation of osmotic treatment	69
2.4 Hormone and chemical treatment	70
2.5 DNA Extraction and Preparation	71
2.6 RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis	71
2.7 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	71
2.7.1 Primers	71
2.7.2 Standard PCR Reaction	72

2.7.3 Gel Electrophoresis	72
2.7.4 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)	72
2.8 Seedling Length Analysis	73
2.9 Microscopy	74
2.9.1 Laser Confocal Scanning Microscopy (LCSM)	74
2.9.2 Steady State Imaging	74
2.9.3 Preparation of samples using ClearSee	75
2.10 Analysis of Confocal Images	76
2.10.1 Analysis of R2D2 Reporter lines	76
2.10.2 Analysis of proPIN3::PIN3:GFP, proPIN7::PIN7:GFP, TCSn:GFP	76
and <i>pls-3</i> /TCSn:GFP	
2.10.3 Analysis of ABAleonSD1-3L21 and roGFP2-Orp1	77
2.11 CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing of POLARIS (gPLS; At4g39403)	77
2.11.1 Molecular construction of CRISPR/Cas9 plant vector with 2	78
POLARIS (PLS) guide RNAs	
2.12 Statistical Analysis	80
3 The role of PLS in root development	81
3.1 Introduction	82
3.2 Results	83
3.2.1 Loss of PLS alters seedling growth in the dark	83
3.2.2 PLS influences TCSn:GFP distribution	84
3.2.3 Summary	87
4 The role of auxin and its distribution under osmotic stress	88
4.1 Introduction	89
4.2 Results	90
4.2.1 Osmotic stress results in reduction of primary growth	90
and lateral root number	

4.2.2	R2D2 response under osmotic stress	92
4.2.3	proPIN3:PIN3:GFP & proPIN7:PIN7:GFP analysis under	95
	osmotic stress	
4.2.4	PIN3 and PIN7 expression under osmotic stress	97
4.2.5	pin3, pin7, pin3/pin7 and dao1 mutants primary root	98
	growth under osmotic stress	
4.2.6	The role of RBOHC and ROP2 in auxin response to	100
	osmotic stress	
4.3 Summa	ary	102
5 The resp	oonse of ABA under osmotic stress	104
5.1 Introdu	uction	105
5.2 Results	5	106
5.2.1	ABAleonSD1-3L21 response to osmotic stress	106
5.2.2	ABA-Responsive gene RD29B under osmotic stress	108
5.3 Summa	ary	110
6 The role	e of ROS in osmotic stress response in the root system	112
6.1 Introdu	uction	113
6.2 Results	5	114
6.2.1	roGFP2-Orp1 response to osmotic stress	114
6.2.2	Expression of PERK4, RBOHC, RBOHI under osmotic stress	118
6.2.3	The role of ROS in primary root length under osmotic stress	119
6.2.4	The impact of H_2O_2 and DPI treatment on primary root	121
	length under osmotic stress	
6.3 Summa	ary	123
7 The role	e of ROPs in the osmotic stress response	126
7.1 Introdu	uction	127
7.2 Results	5	127

	7.2.1	ROP2 and ROP6 role in root development under	127
		osmotic stress	
	7.2.2	ROP2 expression under osmotic stress	127
	7.3 Summ	ary	128
8	Discussi	on	130
	8.1 The rol	e of POLARIS in plant development	131
	8.2 The ph	enotypic response to osmotic stress	133
	8.3 The rol	e of auxin and its transporters under osmotic stress	133
	8.3.1	Rapid spike in auxin levels within minutes of osmotic stress	133
	8.3.2	PIN proteins plays a critical role in auxin transport under	134
		osmotic stress	
	8.3.3	PIN3 and PIN7 under osmotic stress	135
	8.3.4	The role of DAO1 under osmotic stress	137
	8.4 The dy	namics of ABA under osmotic stress	138
	8.4.1	ABAleonSD1-3L21 analysis of osmotic stress response	138
	8.4.2	ABA-Responsive RD29B under osmotic stress	139
	8.5 The dy	namics and role of ROS in osmotic stress response	140
	8.5.1	The level of oxidation in the root tip increases under	140
		osmotic stress	
	8.5.2	Change in the pattern of oxidation in the root tip under	142
		osmotic stress	
	8.5.3	ROS and ROS inhibitor treatment alters root growth under	143
		osmotic stress	
	8.5.4	RBOHD and RBOHF play a key role in root growth and	144
		osmotic stress response	
	8.5.5	RBOHC has a complex role in root osmotic stress response	145

8.5.6 PERK4 expression increases under osmotic stress where	146
it plays critical role	
8.5.7 RBOHI plays critical role in root growth inhibition and	147
sensitivity to osmotic stress	
8.5.8 The role of UPB1 under osmotic stress	147
8.5.9 The role of ROPs in osmotic stress response	147
8.6 Hormonal crosstalk under osmotic stress	149
8.6.1 Short Term Signalling	149
8.6.2 Longer Term Signalling (24hr)	151
8.7 The role of ROS in root development under osmotic stress	152
8.8 ROP2 as a centre of osmotic stress signalling	154
8.9 Perspectives	155
8.10 Future Work	155
Bibliography	157

Figures

1.1 The organization of the Arabidopsis root	21
1.2. The primary auxin signalling pathway leading to the regulation of gene transcription	23
1.3 Distinct Polarization of PIN Proteins in Arabidopsis roots	25
1.4 The signalling cascade of abscisic acid (ABA)	31
1.5 Rho of plant (ROP) proteins act as two-state molecular switches	39
1.6 Reduction in meristem size under osmotic stress	48
1.7. A simplified hormonal crosstalk network for the regulation of root growth under osmotic stress conditions.	63
2.1A Genomic DNA sequence of the POLARIS (PLS)	78
2.1B Sequence of gene expression module	78
3.1A Primary root growth of Col-0 and <i>pls-2</i> in the dark for 1 week post germination	83
3.1B Ratio between shoot/root growth in Col-0 and <i>pls-2</i> after 1 week post germination	83
3.1C The whole root fluorescence of TCSn:GFP and <i>pls-3</i> /TCSn:GFP following 1 weeks growth on agar	83
3.2 The level of fluorescence in the quiescent centre (QC) in both TCSn:GFP and <i>pls-3</i> /TCSn:GFP	86
3.3. 20x confocal images of TCSn:GFP and <i>pls-3</i> /TCSn:GFP	86

1. The primary root length of Col-0 (WT) seedlings following 1 week of smotic stress treatment	89
2. The number of lateral roots on Col-0 (WT) seedlings following 1 week osmotic stress treatment	90
3 The change in R2D2 mDII-ndTomato/DII-n3xVenus ratio after) minutes of control and 10% PEG treatment	91
4 & 4.5 The levels of R2D2 mDII-ndTomato/DII-n3xVenus ratio ter 24hrs or control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions.	92
6 20x Confocal images of R2D2 under 24hr Control and high osmotic ress conditions	93
7 20x Confocal Images of proPIN3:PIN3:GFP under control and high smotic stress conditions	94
8 20x Confocal Images of proPIN7:PIN7:GFP under control and high smotic stress conditions	94
9 PIN3:GFP and PIN7:GFP whole root fluorescence under 24hr ontrol, mild and high osmotic stress conditions.	94
10 Level of polarisation in PIN3:GFP and PIN7:GFP in the quiescent entre of the root tip under 24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress onditions	95
11 Normalized fold expression of <i>PIN3</i> and <i>PIN7</i> under control, mild nd high osmotic stress conditions	96
12A Auxin transport and oxidation mutants primary root length after on eek under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions compared to ol-0	e 97

4.12B Auxin transport and oxidation mutants (Col-0, *pin3*, *pin7*, *pin3/pin7* 98
and *dao1*) primary root length after one week under control,
mild and high osmotic stress conditions compared against control

4.13 Normalized fold expression of auxin-responsive gene *IAA2* when 100 compared to Col-0 (WT) in *rbohc* and *rop2* loss-of-function mutants under control conditions

4.14 Normalized fold expression of auxin-responsive gene *IAA2* under
24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress treatment in Col-0 (WT), *rbohc* and *rop2* loss-of-function mutants

5.1A ABAleonSD1-3L21 levels under short term response under 105 10 minutes of 10% PEG and 10mM H₂O₂ treatment.

5.1B ABAleonSD1-3L21 response under 24hr High PEG and 10mM H₂O₂ 105 treatment

5.1C ABAleonSD1-3L21 levels following 24 hours Control, High PEG, 105 10μM DPI and High PEG + 10μM DPI treatment

5.2. ABAleonSD1-3L21 20x Confocal Images of 24hr Control conditions 105 and high osmotic stress

5.3 Normalized fold expression of ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* when 107 compared to Col-0 in *rbohc*, *rbohi* and *rop2* loss-of-function mutants under control conditions

5.4 Normalized fold expression of ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* under
24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress treatment in Col-0 (WT), *rbohc*, *rbohi* loss-of-function mutants

6.1. Levels of oxidation in the root tip via roGFP2-Orp1 upon a variety of 10-minute treatments	113
6.2. The distribution of oxidation in the root tip via reporter roGFP2-Orp1 under 10-minute treatments	114
6.3. Levels of oxidation in the root tip via roGFP2-Orp1 upon a variety of 24-hour treatments	114
6.4. The distribution of oxidation in the root tip via reporter roGFP2-Orp1 under 24-hour treatments	115
6.5. 20x Confocal images of roGFP2-Orp1 24hr Control and High PEG	115
6.6 Normalized fold expression of <i>PERK4, RBOHC</i> and <i>RBOHI</i> under 24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress treatment in Col-0 (WT)	117
6.7. ROS mutants primary root length after one week's growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions compared against Col-0 (WT)	118
6.8. ROS mutants primary root length after one week's growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions compared against control conditions	119
6.9 Col-0 (WT) root growth for one week under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions with treatments of 1mM H ₂ O ₂ , 1mM H ₂ O ₂ + 20μM DPI, 5μM DPI, 10μM DPI and 20μM DPI compared to control conditions	121
6.10 Col-0 (WT) primary root growth after 1 week growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions, separated by	122

chemical treatments of 1mM H ₂ O ₂ , 1mM H ₂ O ₂ + 20 μ M DPI
5μM DPI, 10μM DPI and 20μM DPI

7.1. <i>rop2</i> and <i>rop6</i> loss-of-function mutants primary root length	126
after one week's growth under control, mild and high osmotic	
stress conditions compared against Col-0 (WT)	
7.2. <i>rop2</i> and <i>rop6</i> mutants primary root length after one week's	127
growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions	
compared against control conditions	
7.3 Normalized fold expression of ROP2 under 24hr control,	128
mild and high osmotic stress treatment in Col-0 (WT)	
8.1 Expression levels of 24 ethylene-responsive genes in the <i>pls-1</i>	132
mutant and in PLS overexpressing seedlings (PLSox) compared to	
wildtype (Col-0) levels	
8.2 A network depicting rapid auxin, ABA and ROS signalling	151

interaction within 10 minutes of osmotic stress in the root tip

Tables

2.1 Seed stocks used in thesis	68
2.2 The mass of PEG required in 1 litre of overlay solution to achieve	70
desired osmotic pressure	
2.3 Hormone and chemical treatments	70
2.4 Reaction mix for 1x PCR Reaction	72
2.5 Program used for PCR	72
2.6 Reaction mix for 1x qPCR reaction	73
2.7 Programme used for qRT-PCR	73
2.8 Excitation of fluorophores and dyes for LCSM	75
2.9 Sequences of Primers used in CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing of PLS	75
3. Primers used for qRT-PCR analysis of gene expression	178

Declaration

I certify that all of the work described in this thesis is my own original research unless otherwise acknowledged in the text or by references and has not been previously submitted for a degree in this or any other university.

Copyright © 2022 George Henry Jervis

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Acknowledgements and Thanks

This PhD has been a blessing and a curse. Both enjoyable and painful in equal measure. A long slog that I never would have been able to complete without the help and support of lots of people who I hope to pay tribute to in this small section.

I would first like to thank the BBSRD, NLD DTP and Durham University for the funding and support of my studies. The extension given to me in response to the COVID-19 lockdown was very helpful.

I have to thank Junli and Keith for their excellent supervision. To both, your guidance and advice was helpful and motivating. I'm sure it did not feel like it at the time but some of what you said did sink in.

I would like to thank Jen for always being present and happy to answer any question. Your knowledge was invaluable, and I always felt comfortable to ask.

I would also like to thank Johan for your help with the CRISPR lines. I would not have been able to accomplish the work without your expertise and guidance. Thanks for showing patience when things did not work as planned.

I have to say a huge thanks to everyone in Labs 1004 and 1003 during the last 5 years. All members of the Lindsey lab; Amy, May, Flora, Helen, Fahad, Rodrigo, Cian, Julien, Mohkles, Xiaoyan. To those in 1003; Johan, Patrick, Peter, Joey and Miguel. There are many others that have escaped my memory.

I would also like to thank Joanne and Tim for the help and instruction you gave me on the microscopes. There was no way I could have done it without your help.

I want to thank all the friends I met in Durham who supported me during my PhD. Emily, Verity, Alice, Dan, Eder, Sophie, James, and Sol. Suffering along with you guys has been a pleasure.

Mum and Will, I absolutely could not have navigated the last 5 years without your help. I will always be grateful for the love and support that enabled me to complete the PhD. I guess we have two doctors in the family now!

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my father Mark. I guess your passion for learning and science rubbed off on me. What inspires me most was how wonderful, funny, warm, and kind you were. Every day I think about you and our times together.

"Ipsa scientia potestas est (Knowledge itself is power)"

Francis Bacon, 1597

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Drought stress and food security

We are rapidly approaching a hotter and drier world (FAO 2019). By 2050, global human population is predicted to reach near 10 billion people (United Nations 2019), 5 billion of which are projecting to be living in water-scarce regions (UNESCO 2020). Agricultural freshwater demand is predicted to double whilst freshwater availability could halve (Gupta *et al.* 2020).

Drought is occurring more frequently, as increasing global temperature leads to more extreme weather events (Moore *et al.* 2015). This has major consequences for crop yield as water is a major limiting factor for plant productivity in the field. Lack of water leads to the failure of vital organs and cellular processes (Gupta 2020). Compared with other abiotic stresses such as flood and cold, droughts and heatwaves accounts for the largest crop losses (Lesk *et al.* 2016, Brás *et al.* 2021)

There has been widespread success for genetically modified crops with resistance to pests, pathogens, and herbicides (Raman 2017). Developing drought resistance crops is a critical target for plant breeders. However, it is a complex trait that is dependent on several mechanisms. In fact, overexpression of drought responsive genes often results in growth deficits and yield loss (Gupta *et al.* 2020).

The major focus of drought stress research has been studying plant physiology above the soil. In particular, the study of mature plants in shoot and leaf samples (Kalve *et al.* 2020). Perhaps the most studied drought responses are the role of stomata; how they rapidly open and close to limit water loss via gaseous exchange (Sarwat *et al.* 2017, Agurla *et al.* 2018, Qi *et al.* 2018).

As the primary mechanism for drought detection and the absorption of water and nutrients, root system architecture (RSA) and physiology can have a large impact on drought resistance and crop survival/yield. Depth of rooting is a critical parameter for water foraging but little consideration has been given to overall distribution of the root system and its growth patterns (Rosales *et al.* 2019, Cajero-Sanchez *et al.* 2019).

Roots exhibit remarkable plasticity to their environment (Dinneny *et al.* 2019). The root has a biphasic response to drought stress, where root growth can be promoted or hindered depending on the level of moisture in the soil (Creelman 1990, Li *et al.* 2017). Mild soil drying stimulates growth (van der Weele *et al.* 2000, Li *et al.* 2017) whilst severe soil dryness limits the growth of the root (Koevoets *et al.* 2016). Under drought we also see other responses such as the accumulation of low weight osmolytes such as proline, and an increase in suberization (Kreszies *et al.* 2019).

There remains little consensus over the mechanisms of drought (osmotic stress) response in roots and in particular, how hormonal signalling leads to changes in RSA and growth patterns. Understanding how plants respond to drought is a critical concern if we are to meet the demands of a growing population via targeted molecular breeding.

1.2 Arabidopsis thaliana as a model organism

Arabidopsis thaliana has been used as a model organism for over 100 years due to its diminutive size, short generation time, diploid genome, and its preference for self-pollination (Krämer *et al.* 2015). In 2000, the genome sequence was published by The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative. This project along with a number of online sources enable detailed study of the *Arabidopsis* plant system at the molecular level.

The *Arabidopsis* root system is highly organised in its cellular structure and easily studied under a microscope (Dolan *et al.* 1993). This is useful for experimental manipulation and viewing the role of hormones in developmental processes such as cell division, differentiation, and expansion.

1.2.1 Arabidopsis root system and structure

Early on in the development of the *A. thaliana* embryo we see the establishment on the apical/basal axis (Jürgens 2001, Robert *et al.* 2013). The apical domain develops into the cotyledons and the shoot apical meristem. The basal domain develops into the root system containing the hypocotyl, the radicle, and the stem cell niche (SCN) of the root apical meristem (RAM)

The root tip is radially organised into concentric rings of cell files: the epidermis, cortex, endodermis, pericycle, lateral root cap and stele. The stele is further subdivided into the phloem, procambium, metaxylem and protoxylem (Dolan *et al.* 1993) (Figure 1.1).

There are distinct developmental zones within the root tip, each displaying different developmental processes. The initial site of cell division and root growth is within the RAM. Here, different tissues are formed from stem cell-initials which give rise to different cell files. From the quiescent centre (QC) arise daughter stem cell initials during embryogenesis. The QC is a group of four cells with low mitotic activity which are crucial for maintaining and regulating the undifferentiated status of the initials. The group of stem cells surround the QC is called the stem cell niche (SCN) (Dolan *et al.* 1993, Petricka *et al.* 2012, Yamoune *et al.* 2021).

The RAM is protected at the tip by a layer of cells called the root cap, made up of the columella and the lateral root cap. Following repeated cell division, cells pass from the RAM through the transition

zone (TZ) to the elongation zone (EZ). At the EZ, the rate of cell division decreases, and cells expand longitudinally. Following elongation, the cells acquire their final characteristic in the area called the differentiation zone (DZ) (Dolan *et al.* 1993).



1.3 Plant hormones as regulators of growth

Plant hormones are responsible for controlling almost every aspect of growth and development, some more essential in specific tissues at particular times than others (Takatsuka and Umeda 2014, Moore *et al.* 2015). Hormones such as auxin, cytokinin, ethylene and abscisic acid (ABA) can be altered rapidly when subjected to abiotic and biotic stresses, resulting in coordinated developmental change (Takatsuka and Umeda 2014). All hormones interact with each other in a mechanism of crosstalk, and it is through their interactions that root growth is maintained (Liu *et al.* 2014). Rapid hormonal crosstalk is required for integrating environmental signals into plant development (Liu *et al.* 2014, Rowe *et al.* 2016, Li *et al.* 2019, Jang *et al.* 2020). To understand osmotic stress response, we have to understand each hormone we are studying in a wider context.

1.3.1 Auxin

Almost every aspect of plant growth requires auxin (Saini *et al.* 2013). Auxin is a small organic molecule that has been well established as a regulator and coordinator of plant growth and development (Benjamins and Scheres 2008). This includes key roles in shoot and root meristem maintenance and elongation, tropic responses, leaf primordia, lateral root initiation and the development of vascular tissues (Abel and Theologis 1996, De Smet *et al.* 2007). At the cellular level, auxin alters cell division, elongation and differentiation resulting in shaping root/shoot shape and form (Naser *et al.* 2016).

High auxin concentration in the root QC and in the stem cell niche is required for the coordination and establishment of growth (Petersson *et al.* 2009, Clark *et al.* 2014). The maintenance of the auxin maximum in the root tip is achieved by a combination of shoot-derived auxin transported via auxin carriers and local auxin biosynthesis (Korver 2018, Ljung 2005). The level of auxin in a cell is crucial for determining cell fate. For example, the accumulation of auxin in pericycle cells transforms them into lateral root founder cells which further divide to form the later root primordium (Du *et al.* 2017).

Large levels of exogenous auxin application can inhibit growth, whilst lower concentrations of exogenous auxin can promote growth (Evans *et al.* 1994). Presence of auxin inhibits expansion in the elongation zone whilst promoting cell division and inhibiting differentiation in the meristematic zone (Moubayidin *et al.* 2010).

The perception of auxin and the process of gene transcription that follows is a process mediated by proteasomal degradation. Auxin is perceived by a complex of co-receptors comprising an F-box protein of the TIR1/AFB (TRANSPORT INHIBITOR RESPONSE 1/AUXIN SIGNALING F-BOX PROTEIN) family and a member of the Aux/IAA (Auxin/Indole-3-Acetic acid) family of transcriptional repressors.



Figure 1.2. The primary auxin signalling pathway leading to the regulation of gene transcription. In the absence of auxin, AUX/IAA proteins repress the activity of ARF transcription factors which bind to ARE domains. When auxin is present, AUX/IAAs and F-box proteins of the TIR1/AFB family form an SCF-type E3 ubiquitin protein ligase complex which transfers activated ubiquitin to AUX/IAA proteins. The polyubiquitination of Aux/IAA leads to the protein's degradation. As ARFs are no longer repressed, transcription is activated, and downstream auxin responses take place (Teale *et al.* 2006, Leyser 2018).

An auxin molecule promotes interaction between TIR1/AFBs and AUX/IAAs to form an SCF-type E3 ubiquitin protein ligase complex, leading to ubiquitination and degradation of AUX/IAAs (Tan *et al* . 2007) (Figure 1.2). This degradation enables Aux/IAA-interacting Auxin Response Factor (ARF) proteins to form homodimers and bind to the Auxin Response Element (ARE) promoter domains of auxin inducible genes leading to gene expression (Bargmann and Estelle 2014, Boer *et al*. 2014, Mironova *et al*. 2014). Auxin presence ultimately triggers a large network response by increasing the affinity between TIR1/AFB and AUX/IAA co-receptor families, which in turn releases ARF-dependent outputs.

Cellular patterning in the *Arabidopsis* root requires the establishment of an auxin concentration maximum around the QC. This patterning is controlled by asymmetrically located membrane

proteins located at the plasma membrane in a process called Polar Auxin Transport (PAT). The three main groups of transport proteins are the PIN-formed (PIN) family of efflux carrier proteins, ABCB/PGP (ATP-BINDING CASSETTE SUBFAMILY B/P-GYLCOPROTEINS) efflux proteins and AUX/LAX influx proteins (Petrasek and Friml 2009, Kramer and Bennett 2006, Peer *et al.* 2011).

Recent studies have also indicated there are other auxin transporters. PILS (PIN-LIKES) are required for auxin-dependent regulation of plant growth via helping determine intracellular auxin accumulation at the endoplasmic reticulum and so the available auxin for nuclear auxin signalling (Barbez *et al.* 2012). WAT1 (WALLS ARE THIN1) is a vacuolar auxin transporter that plays a key role in auxin transport and homeostasis, and that dictates secondary cell wall thickness (Ranocha *et al.* 2013)

PIN proteins are very important for directional movement of auxin at the root tip as they help facilitate the movement of auxin out of cells (Friml *et al.* 2003, Wisniewska et al. 2006, Petrasek and Friml 2009). PINs can be quickly organised into different locations to alter the direction of auxin flow, resulting in changes in morphology (Heisler *et al.* 2005).

Strict control of PINs polar distribution on the plasma membrane is possible via clathrin-coated vesicular transport to the PM, constitutive endocytic recycling, and vacuolar degradation (Adamowski and Friml 2015). These processes are tightly regulated by ADP-ribosylation factor (ATF) GTPases. Controlled by a GTP-binding and a GTP hydrolysis cycle that activates ARF GTPases and inactivates them respectively. R-SNARE protein VAMP714 plays a key role in the insertion of PINs into the plasma membrane for polar auxin transport, root gravitropism and morphogenesis. VAMP714 likely helps the delivery of PIN-carrying vesicles to the plasma membrane and plays a role in controlling development via positive regulatory loop in which auxin activates a VAMP714-dependent PIN/auxin transport system (Gu *et al.* 2021) The actin cytoskeleton is required for vesicular trafficking of PM proteins and in the cycling of PINs (Zhu and Geisler 2015).

PIN location and polarisation is critical in determining the direction and rate of auxin flow in the root tip. The directional transport of auxin via PINs and other transport proteins forms a 'reverse fountain' of auxin leading to accumulation of auxin in specific root tip cells (Petrásek & Friml 2009). PIN1, PIN3 and PIN7 are found in the vasculature, where they transport auxin acropetally where it is then transported by PIN4 into the QC. Both PIN3 and PIN7 are also found in the columella where they transport auxin to the lateral root cap. PIN2 transports auxin basipetally (shootward) to the elongation zone (Friml *et al.* 2003) (Figure 1.3). The temporal-spatial patterns of PIN proteins are also regulated by transcription factors. FOUR LIPS (FLP) and its paralogue MYB88 expression specifically determine the patterns of PIN3 and PIN7 during root responses to gravity (Wang *et al.* 2015)



basal (root tip-orientated) polarization. In contrasts, PIN2 in the epidermal cells shows an apical (shootwards) localization. PIN3 and PIN7 are largely non-polarly localized in the gravity-sensing columella cells but undergo polarization in response to stimuli. The polar distributions of PINs determine the auxin flow direction. (Taken from Rosquete *et al.* 2012).

The ABCB transporter family also regulates auxin efflux but is less well studied. Members of the family modulate auxin transport in a non-directional manner and do not have a high level of polar localisation. Recent research has indicated that ABCBs facilitate auxin efflux independently of PINS; however, PIN-mediated efflux is predominantly through a co-dependent efflux where PINs are co-localised with ABCBs (Mellor *et al.* 2022).

The AUX1/LAX family of carrier proteins are responsible for auxin influx into cells (Swarup *et al.* 2001). The most well studied of the family is AUX1. AUX/LAX protein carriers play a role in determining orientation and level of cell division in the root meristem

Auxin biosynthesis is a tightly regulated process contributing to control of root development, working synergistically with auxin transport to generate an auxin maximum. Local auxin production

in roots is required for maintaining functional root meristems (Brumos *et al.* 2018). Indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), the best characterized form of auxin, is predominantly produced from the aromatic amino acid L-tryptophan (Trp) via indole-3-pyruvic acid (IPyA) in a two-step pathway (Brumos *et al.* 2014). Trp is converted into IPyA (indole-3-pruvate) by the TAA1 (L-tryptophan pyruvate aminotransferase) family of amino-transferases such as WEI8, SAV3, TIR2, TAR1 and TA2 (Stepanova *et al.* 2008). IPyA is then converted to IAA by the YUCCA (YUC) family of flavin monooxygenases (Zhao *et al.* 2014). There are other biosynthesis pathways, but the Trp-dependent is the most prevalent (Wang *et al.* 2015)

The catabolism, conjugation and oxidation of auxin has a vital role in determining the actual level of active IAA, leading to control of plant development.

Auxin can be inactivated via a variety of pathways that are strictly coordinated with biosynthesis and transport. The larger proportion of IAA is stored in its conjugated form and is only made available when needed in developmental processes (Ludwig-Muller *et al.* 2011). It is often thought that the most important inactivation pathway is the oxidation of IAA, as oxIAA is the most abundant IAA metabolite in *Arabidopsis* (Zhang and Peer 2017). DIOXYGENASE FOR AUXIN OXIDATION (DAO1) is a member of the 2-oxyglutarate and Fe(II)-dependent oxygenase superfamily. DAO1 coverts IAA to oxIAA in vitro (Porco *et al.* 2016). *dao1-1* mutants display auxin-accumulation phenotypes, although overexpression of *DAO1* did not lead to obvious auxin-deficiency (Porco *et al.* 2016, Zhang *et al.* 2016).

The GH3 family of Acyl amidosynthetases are able to catalyze the conjugation between IAA and amino acids (Staswick *et al.* 2005). Six GH3 genes (GH3.1-GH3.6), induced by auxin and mainly producing IAA-Asp, likely play regulatory roles in maintaining active auxin concentrations (Staswick *et al.* 2005). GH3.9 and GH3.17 function in basal IAA inactivation, encoding for enzymes that catalyze the formation of IAA-Glu (Khan and Stone 2007). Overexpression of GH3.6 leads to severe auxindeficient phenotypes, whereas loss-of-function mutants exhibited slightly impaired phenotypes in auxin-regulated development processes (Takubo 2020, Hayashi *et al.* 2021).

IAA-Leu-Resistant1 (IRL1) and members of the Arabidopsis IRL1-like (ILL) family convert various IAAamino acid conjugates to IAA in vitro. IAA-Asp and IAA-Glu are reversible forms of storage for IAA which is converted back via IRL1/ILL enzymes (Hayashi *et al.* 2021).

Recent work has shown that IAA inactivation is regulated and coordinated by a GH3-IRL1-DAO pathway, where IAA is mainly inactivated by GH3 enzymes to form IAA-amino acid conjugates. IRL1/ILL enzymes can then revert IAA-Asp and IAA-Glu back to free IAA. IAA-amino acid conjugates are then irreversibly converted to oxIAA-amino acid conjugates (oxIAA-Asp & oxIAA-Glu) by DAO1.

26

The final form of inactive oxIAA is hydrolyzed from oxIAA-amino acids by IRL1, not from direct oxidation of IAA (Hayashi *et al.* 2021). High IAA accumulation in the *dao1-1* mutant is due to the release of IAA from IAA-Asp and IAA-Glu and that ILR1 and IAR3 primarily contribute to this conversion (Hayashi *et al.* 2021).

1.3.2 Ethylene and POLARIS

Ethylene is a gaseous hormone that plays a vital role in plant growth, fruit ripening and root development along with stress responses (Kieber *et al.* 1997). In the majority of plant tissues, ethylene causes a reduction in growth via inhibiting cell elongation, mainly though crosstalk with auxin (Vaseva *et al.* 2018, Vandenbussche *et al.* 2012). Exogenous application of ethylene leads to short, wide roots with long root hairs (Strader *et al.* 2010).

Ethylene has a strong interaction with the auxin pathway. Ethylene has been shown to increase the rate of auxin biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis* (Stepanova *et al.* 2007) whilst auxin mutants (*wei2*, *aux1*, *pin2*, *axr1* and *tir1*) show strong ACC insensitivity and ethylene mutants (*ein2*, *ein3* and *eil1*) are sensitive to exogenous auxin (Stepanova *et al.* 2007). Auxin and ethylene likely work in a reciprocal regulatory loop, with several levels of interaction (Vaseva *et al.* 2018)

The epidermis is the main site of ethylene control of plant growth in both roots and shoots and is where ethylene acts a central negative regulator of the feedback loop that controls cell elongation via restricting auxin (Vaseva *et al.* 2018).

Ethylene is perceived by five ethylene receptors, ETR1, ETR2 ERS1, ESR2 and EIN4. In absence of ethylene, ETR1 and CTR1 are activated. CTR1 phosphorylates EIN2, maintaining its ER localisation and inhibiting its function (Ju *et al.* 2012). As EIN2's carboxyl terminal end is unable to be cleaved and stabilize EIN3, EIN3 is targeted for degradation. If ethylene is present, ETR1 and CTR1 are inactive, therefore EIN2 is not phosphorylated. As a result, EIN2 has its C-terminal end cleaved and is translocated to the nucleus where it inhibits the degradation of EIN3. EIN3 is then able to directly activate the transcription of ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR (ERF1) leading to the promotion of the ethylene responsive transcription pathway and ethylene response (Solano *et al.* 1998).

POLARIS is a 36 amino acid peptide that acts as a negative regulator of ethylene responses (Casson *et al.* 2002, Chilley *et al.* 2006). It acts with both auxin and ethylene pathways with PLS transcription enhanced by auxin and repressed by ethylene (Casson *et al.* 2002). Plants with a *pls* mutation display normal levels of ethylene biosynthesis, however they display enhanced ethylene responses including short roots. The short-root phenotype *pls* mutant can be restored by inhibiting ethylene perception pharmacologically or crossing the *pls* mutant with gain-of-function ethylene resistant mutant *etr1-1*,

implying that PLS acts at the level of receptor (Chilley *et al.* 2006). PLS has been suggest to be critical in auxin-cytokinin homeostasis that modulates root growth and leaf patterning (Casson *et al.* 2002).

Ethylene receptor ETR1 and PLS interact directly with each other, co-localising to the endoplasmic reticulum (Mudge 2016). ETR1 requires a copper cofactor to bind to ethylene (Rodriguez *et al.* 1999) whilst PLS is able to bind to copper *in vitro* (Mudge 2016). PLS likely acts a negative regulator of ethylene signalling via regulating the ETR1 receptors interaction with its copper cofactor (Mudge *et al.* 2016).

There remains a number of key questions about the ethylene pathway and what role POLARIS plays. In particular how PLS interacts with other hormones that are key in development such as the cytokinin pathway.

1.3.3 Cytokinin

Cytokinin is an important regulator of meristem function and growth (Werner *et al.* 2001). Biosynthesis takes place in the root and is transported through the vasculature to other areas of the plant (Antoniadi *et al.* 2015). Plants that are deficient in cytokinin display increased root growth and larger root meristems, whereas increasing cytokinin leads to the opposite effects (Dello loio *et al.* 2007).

Cytokinin exerts control of root growth via altering meristematic cell differentiation (Dello loio *et la.* 2007, Dello loio *et al.* 2008) and altering cell division (Skoog *et al.* 1965, Schaller *et al.* 2014). Increasing levels of cytokinin lead to increased QC cell division (Zhang *et al.* 2013). Cytokinin triple receptor mutant displays severe phenotypes such as extreme reductions in root and shoot growth (Nishimura *et al.* 2004).

Auxin and cytokinin are thought to antagonistically interact with each other in a cell specific way, leading to control of root growth and meristem activity (Antoniadi *et al.* 2015, Schaller *et al.* 2015). In the TZ, auxin signalling repressor SHY2/IAA3 has been shown to be upregulated by various type-B ARR proteins. These are transcription factors that are produced downstream of cytokinin signalling (Dello loio *et al.* 2008, Moubayidin *et al.* 2010).

Cytokinin is perceived by histidine kinase receptors (AHK2, AHK3, AHK4) which auto-phosphorylate in the presence of cytokinin (Suzuki *et al.* 2001, Yamada *et al.* 2001). This leads to the transfer of the phosphoryl group to a member of the ARABIDOPSIS HIS PHOSPHOTRANSFER (AHP1-5) family, which activate type-A and B ARABIDOPSIS RESPONSE REGULATORS (ARR) by phosphorylation (Tanaka *et al.* 2004). Type-B ARRs that are activated function as transcription factors promoting cytokinin responsive gene expression (Mason *et al.* 2005). Type-A ARRs inhibit cytokinin signalling in a negative feedback loop (To *et al.* 2007). TCSn:GFP is a synthetic cytokinin reporter for that is useful for determining cytokinin patterning in the root tip (Liu and Müller 2017).

How cytokinin interacts with other hormones remains an area that requires more research. For example, cytokinins interaction with ethylene has received little attention (Iqbal *et al. 2017*). Previously it has been shown that *pls* roots are hyperresponsive to exogenous cytokinins, along with showing increased expression of cytokinin-inducible ARR5 when compared to WT. This indicates that cytokinin increases in levels under the enhanced ethylene response seen in the *pls* mutant (Casson *et al.* 2002).

1.3.4 Abscisic Acid (ABA)

Primarily associated with stress responses in plants, abscisic acid (ABA) accumulates rapidly during unfavourable conditions such as drought (Cutler *et al.* 2010, Rowe *et al.* 2016). ABA also plays a vital role in seed dormancy, germination, stomatal response, and root growth (Finkelstein *et al.* 2008, Finkelstein 2013, Harris *et al.* 2015). Although mainly synthesised in the shoots, ABA has a crucial role in the root maintaining quiescence in the stem cell niche along with helping to regulate cell differentiation and elongation (Zhang *et al.* 2010, Osakabe *et al.* 2014).

At high concentrations ABA will cause an inhibition of root growth (Sun *et al.* 2018). ABA has an effect on adaptive root development such as root gravitropism and lateral root development (Li *et al.* 2020). Higher levels of ABA inhibit lateral root development (Li *et al.* 2020). ABA exerts control of root hydraulic conductance, as an increase in ABA levels rapidly increases hydraulic conductivity (Rosales *et al.* 2019)

Exogenous application of ABA can have a complex biphasic on root growth (Li *et al.* 2017). In wellwatered conditions, high levels of exogenous ABA inhibit shoot and root growth (van der Weele 2000, Rowe *et al.* 2016). Application of low concentrations of ABA in well-watered conditions can increase root growth (Mulkey *et al.* 1983). There is a 'bell-shaped' dose-dependent response to ABA application, with an increase in primary and lateral root length at low ABA concentration and inhibition at the higher concentrations of ABA application (Rosales *et al.* 2019). Root hydraulics also have a bell-shaped dependency on ABA exogenous concentrations (Rosales *et al.* 2019).

As depicted in Figure 1.4, under stressful conditions ABA levels increase and it binds with the PYRABACTIN RESISTANCE1 (PYR)/PYRABACTIN RESISTANCE1-LIKE (PYL)/REGULATORY COMPONENT OF ABA RECEPTOR (RCAR) family of ABA receptors (now abbreviated as PYL). This triggers a

conformational change in PYLs that leads to interactions with clade A protein phosphatase 2C (PP2C). This interaction leads to PP2C activity being inhibited, reducing its interaction with protein kinases such as SUCROSE NON-FERMENTING 1 (SNF1)-RELATED PROTEIN KINASEs (SnRKs), GUARD CELL HYDROGEN PEROXIDE-RESISTANT1 (GHR1), CALCIUM-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASEs (CIPKs). This releases them to phosphorylate a range of downstream proteins that initiate ABA responses. This includes activating or inhibiting via phosphorylation a group of transcription factors called ABRE-BINDING proteins/ABRE-BINDING FACTORs (AREB/ABFs) along with membrane proteins including SLOW ANION CHANNEL-ASSOCIATED (SLAC1) (Sheard & Zheng 2009, Fujii *et al.* 2009).

There is also an associated novel protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) signalling pathway. Without ABA present, PYLs promote PP2A activity which counteracts the PINOID (PID)-mediated phosphorylation of PIN proteins. ABA binds to PYL, PP2A activity is inhibited thereby increasing phosphorylation of PIN proteins and inhibiting directional auxin transport (Li *et al.* 2020)



ABA in higher plants is synthesized via the mevalonic acid-independent pathway. The major source of ABA is β -carotene (C₄₀) which is cleaved via an oxidative reaction in plastids. The next step in the pathway is the conversion of zeaxanthin and antheraxanthin to all-*trans*-violaxanthin, which is catalysed by zeaxanthin epoxidase (ZEP) in the plastid. All-*trans*-violaxanthin is converted to 9-*cis*violaxanthin or 9'-*cis*-noexanthin by the 9-*cis*-epoxy carotenoid dioxygenase (NCED) which yields a C15 intermediate product called xanthoxin (Schwartz *et al.* 1997). The xanthoxin produced is then exported into the cytosol where it is converted into ABA. In this step there are two enzymatic reactions, first xanthoxin is converted to an ABA aldehyde by an enzyme called short-chain alcohol dehydrogenase/reductase (SDR). This is encoded by the *ABA2* gene in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The next and final step of ABA biosynthesis is oxidation of the abscisic aldehyde to ABA, catalysed by the abscisic aldehyde oxidase (AAO) (González-Guzmán *et al.* 2002, Seo *et al.* 2000, Mehrotra *et al.* 2014, Sah *et al.* 2016).

The movement of ABA between cells, tissue and organs is key to the whole plant response to stressful conditions. There are two major forms of ABA transport, passive and active. As ABA is a weak acid it is able to diffuse across plasma membranes in its protonated form (ABAH) (Kuromori *et al.* 2018). The local pH can have an impact on the levels of ABAH available therefore leading to a decline/increase in passive transport relative to pH levels. Due to the limitations of passive transport under pH, active transporter function is required for proper transportation of ABA, particularly under drought stress (Boursiac *et al.* 2013)

The ABC family of ATP-binding cassette transporter proteins are the primary transporters of ABA in *Arabidopsis* (Kang *et al.* 2010). There are eight sub-families reported, specifically the ABCG family play an important role in ABA movement. Both AtABCG25/WBC26 (half sized) and AtABCG40 (full sized) ABCG transporters play a key role in ABA movement (Kuromori *et al.* 2010). The half-sized transporter is expressed in the vascular tissues where it acts as an exporter of ABA along with a role in ABA biosynthesis (Kuromori *et al.* 2010). Full-sized transporter is needed for ABA importing and the movement of ABA into stomatal cells (Kang *et al.* 2010, Kuromori *et al.* 2010). The importance of full-sized transporter ABCG40 was shown whereby a reduced length mutant form showed reduced sensitivity to ABA and performed worse under osmotic stress conditions (Kang *et al.* 2010). Over expression of AtABCG25/WBC26 and AtABCG40 helped reduce water loss by promoting ABA accumulation in guard cells (Kuromori *et al.* 2010).

ABA-IMPORTING TRANSPORTER (AITI) is a secondary transporter of ABA. Previously identified as a nitrate transporter (NRT1.2), it belongs to the NRT1/PTR (Nitrate transporter1/Peptide transporter) family (Kanno *et al.* 2012). AITI plays an important role in ABA transport in vascular tissues of roots, stem and leaves. The loss of function of this transporter resulted in water loss during drought (Kanno *et al.* 2012).

Another secondary ABA transporter is DTX50 which belongs to DTX/MATE (Detoxification Efflux Carriers/Multidrug and Toxic Compound Extrusion) family. Expressed mainly in the vascular tissues and guard cells, it is strongly upregulated under exogenous ABA application (Zhang *et al.* 2014). *dtx50* mutant plants were found to be more sensitive to ABA in growth inhibition (Zhang *et al.* 2014).

32

ATDTX50 likely mediates ABA efflux from the cytosol of vascular and guard cells located in the plasma membrane (Zhang *et al.* 2014).

If stress signals have become diminished, ABA is then metabolized into inactive products. There are two major pathways in which the metabolism takes place: hydroxylation and conjugation (Nambara and Marion-Poll 2005). Hydroxylation takes place via the oxidation of three methyl groups (C-7', C-8' and C'9) on the ring of the ABA structure. C-8' is the most dominant catalytic pathway, where phaseic acid (PA) and dihydrophaseic acid (DPA) are the most abundant ABA catabolites (Okamoto *et al.* 2009, Nambara and Marion-Poll 2005).

ABA conjugation plays a key role in the regulation of ABA in both normal and stress conditions (Xu *et al.* 2012). Both ABA and its hydroxylated catabolite form can be conjugated to glucose. ABA can be synthesized into ABA glucosyl ester (ABA-GE) by glycosyltransferase within the cytosol, and then stored into vacuoles (Boursiac *et al.* 2013). Under stressful conditions, ABA glucosyl ester can then be converted back into ABA by enzyme-catalysed hydrolysis. ABA glucosyl ester (ABA-GE) can be transported by proton-driven gradient or ABC transporters (Xu *et al.* 2012, Burla *et al.* 2013).

PROLINE-RICH EXTENSIN-LIKE RECEPTOR KINASE 4 (PERK4) plays important role in ABA responses (Ma *et al.* 2019). PERK4 functions by perturbing calcium (Ca²⁺) homeostasis in response to ABA. Acting at an early stage of ABA signalling to modulate root cell elongation, mutants of PERK4 display attenuated sensitivity to ABA. ABA-induced increase in cytosolic Ca²⁺ in root cells is lower in perk4 mutants than in wild type. Recently PERK4 has been shown to be involved in ABA-stimulated ROS production, partially mediated by RBOHC. In both *perk4, rbohc* and *perk4/rbohc* mutants, ABA-induced ROS production is impaired (Ma *et al.* 2019). Upon ABA treatment, it is likely that PERK4 stimulates ROS accumulation through an interaction with RBOHC which in turn inhibits primary root growth. If PERK4 is not functioning, normal ROS accumulation does not occur, and ABA signalling is blocked (Ma *et al.* 2019).

1.4 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) including superoxide (O_2^{-}), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), hydroxyl radicals (OH*) and singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_2$) is necessary for many major biological processes (Zhou *et al.* 2020, Nadarajah 2021). Basal and localized ROS production is required for processes such cell polarity and expansion and events such as root hair growth, Casparian strip formation and pollen tube elongation. Most notably, ROS act as a signalling molecule in multiple systems including abiotic and biotic stress responses (Huang *et al.* 2016, Huang *et al.* 2019). However, the production of too much ROS can cause oxidative stress which leads to damage of DNA,

lipids, and proteins. At a certain point, this can lead to the inhibition of growth and cell death (Van Breusegem & Dat 2006). As a result, plants have developed rapid detoxification and scavenging systems that tightly regulated ROS levels (Sofo *et al.* 2015). The balance of ROS production and ROS quenching is vitally important (Apel and Hirt 2004).

ROS are often produced at a low level as a toxic by-product of electron leakage during energygenerating processes such as respiration and photosynthesis (Choudhury *et al.* 2017). This low level can quickly be elevated when growth conditions are not optimal (Fu *et al.* 2021). ROS production is often a response to external cues including abiotic stress such as temperature, drought, salinity, and excess light (Hasanuzzaman *et al.* 2020). Biotic stresses such as pathogen infection leads to enhanced ROS production, often resulting in cell death of plants cells in response (Qi *et al.* 2017).

ROS production quickly responds to stimuli leading to local and systemic signal transduction (Mittler *et al.* 2011). Tightly linked with calcium signalling, ROS production in response to stress is strictly coordinated and regulated in different subcellular compartments and regions of the plant (Mazars *et al.* 2010, Niu and Liao 2016, Marcec & Tanaka 2021). The specificity of ROS signalling is achieved in some way by the production of ROS in different subcellular compartments (Kohli *et al.* 2019, Janku *et al.* 2019).

Intracellular ROS accumulation is largely due to by-products of metabolic activities in chloroplasts and mitochondria (Waszczak *et al.* 2018, Li *et al.* 2022). Plastid-produced ROS are important signals within cells. *Arabidopsis* NAC domain-containing protein 17 (ANAC017) transcription factor is located upon the endoplasmic reticulum. Upon increasing levels of H_2O_2 within the cell, it is translocated to the nucleus where it alters nuclear gene expression (Ng *et al.* 2013). A large portion of chloroplast ROS-dependent retrograde signalling involves singlet oxygen, which is primarily generated by photosystem II as a waste product of photosynthesis (Kim 2020).

Apoplastic ROS is primarily produced by plasma membrane-localized NADPH oxidases knows as respiratory burst oxidase homologues (RBOHs) along with cell wall peroxidases (Huang *et al.* 2019). *Arabidopsis* possesses 10 RBOH isoforms which play key roles in developmental processes such as root hair formation and pollen tube growth (Torres and Dangl 2005, Morales *et al.* 2016). In response to endogenous signals, RBOH enzymes are induced into ROS production. For example, RBOH proteins are involved in pathogen defence, where pattern recognition receptor activation leads to apoplastic ROS production through RBOH and peroxidase activity (Kadota *et al.* 2015, Daudi *et al.* 2012).

Of the variety of ROS species that are produced, H₂O₂ is considered the key signalling molecule. This is due to its long half-life and its similar structure to H₂O. H₂O₂ has an ability to oxidize proteins and capacity to move across plasma membranes (Mhamdi and Van Breusegem 2018). After passing through transporters such as *Arabidopsis* plasma membrane intrinsic protein 1;4 (PIP1;4) and PIP2;1, extracellularly produced ROS can react with intracellular proteins or be detoxified by scavenging systems (Tian *et al.* 2016). Interestingly, RBOH proteins produce superoxide which is thought to either act in the extracellular space or be dismutated to H₂O₂ which then can pass through aquaporins (Waszczak *et al.* 2018, Bienert *et al.* 2014). There are likely hotspots of ROS providing signalling specificity within the cytosol and chloroplasts, however it is challenging to visualise distinct ROS with high resolution.

To prevent overaccumulation of ROS, plants have a well-developed antioxidative mechanism consisting of enzymatic and non-enzymatic components (Dumanovic *et al.* 2021). These processes balance ROS synthesis and scavenging along with preventing overaccumulation and the resulting cellular damage.

Antioxidant systems such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and peroxidases (POX) regulate ROS homeostasis within organisms (Kliebenstein *et al.* 1998, Mhamdi *et al.* 2010). These enzymes are involved in the reduction of O₂- to H₂O₂. Non-enzymatic components involved in the antioxidation mechanism are ascorbic acids, flavonoid, glutathione, carotenoids, lipids and phenolic compounds which help mitigate oxidative damage by reducing ROS activity or by working with enzymes. Glutathione peroxidases (GPXs) play an important role in scavenging ROS. The family comprising of 7 members are ubiquitously expressed and are regulated by abiotic stress through diverse signalling pathways (Hossain *et al.* 2015, Miao *et al.* 2006)

In certain cell types such lateral root primordia, root hair and xylem, ROS are produced by active mechanisms where they play a positive role in cell differentiation (Gapper and Dolan 2006, Mangano *et al.* 2016, Orman-Ligeza *et al.* 2016). ROS are required for the formation of specific cell type features such as the Casparian strip which is critical for selective nutrient uptake and pathogen defence in root systems (Fujita *et al.* 2020)

The specific temporal-spatial distribution of ROS has a significant impact on cellular process and root system development via interacting with hormone signalling processes. The QC and the RAM are associated with an oxidized environment whereas the elongation zone is more reduced (Dunand *et al.* 2007, Tsukagoshi *et al.* 2010). In *rml1* or *app1* mutants, where redox potential in the RAM is altered, the RAM is lost (Yu *et al.* 2016, del Pozo 2016, Vernoux *et al.* 2000). The elongation zone is also altered by redox status, and the *upb1* mutant has a larger RAM due to a more reduced redox

35
status in the elongation zone. Cell elongation is inhibited when the EZ is more oxidized, resulting in a shorter root (Tsukagoshi *et al.* 2010, Mabuchi *et al.* 2018).

ROOT MERISTEM GROWTH FACTOR1 (RGF1) plays a key role in meristem size via regulating ROS distribution along developmental zones. Changes in ROS distribution lead to altered stability of the PLETHORA (PLT) AP-2 transcription factors which function as regulators of stem cell maintenance and distal cell division (Aida *et al.* 2004, Licausi *et al.* 2013), acting independently of the auxin pathway (Yamada *et al.* 2020).

ROS signalling regulates MYB30, a key transcriptional regulator that controls root cell elongation (Mabuchi *et al.*2018). MYB30 has prominent expression induction by H_2O_2 in both meristematic and elongation zones (Mabuchi 2018), where it enhances the expression of lipid transfer proteins, LTPG1, LTPG2 and LTP5 (Mabuchi *et al.* 2018). ANAC032 is an upstream transcription factor of the MYB30 regulatory network, and plays an important role in abiotic stress response (Maki *et al.* 2019).

ROS plays a key role in the elongation zone, where cells stop proliferating and start to elongate along the longitudinal axis. This process requires cell wall loosening in which ROS is a critical player. ROS generated in the apoplast are involved in controlling cell wall rigidity (Karkonen and Kuchitsu 2015). Reactive oxygen radicals can enzyme-independently oxidize cell wall polysaccharides via electron transfer (Karkonen and Kuchitsu 2015). Apoplastic H_2O_2 and ROS scavengers can inhibit cell wall elongation (Somssich *et al.* 2016).

Numerous studies have identified the role of ROS as a rapid long-distance signal in the form of an auto-propagating ROS wave (Fichman and Mittler 2020). ROS wave can be induced by biotic and abiotic stimuli, passing a signal through the plant, and causing gene expression changes in distal tissues. ROS wave is seen as a key signal that alerts regions of the plant to stimuli along with acting as a whole-plant coordinator of abiotic and biotic signals. ROS wave works in coordination with Ca²⁺ and pH signalling as a key signal in stress response (Gilroy *et al.* 2016).

ROS wave propagation requires RBOH activity for the transmission of the signal. Apoplastic H_2O_2 leads to the activation of H_2O_2 -induced Ca^{2+} increases 1 (HPCA1) leading to an influx of Ca^{2+} into the cytosol (Wu *et al.* 2020). The binding of Ca^{2+} to calcium-dependent protein kinases (CPKs) and RBOH sites leads to an increase in apoplastic ROS production, which could then result in the propagation of the initial signal. High ROS scavenging capacity in the cytosol means it is unlikely intracellular ROS contribute directly to plasmodesmata directed cell-to-cell communication (Cheval *et al.* 2018)

ROS-propagation in addition to its production is required for systemic acquired acclimatization (SAA). SAA is a system-wide response that enables plants to survive upcoming changes to their

environment. This includes metabolic and transcriptomic changes in different parts of the plant essential for plant acclimation, along with physiological responses such as changes in stomatal aperture (Devireddy *et al.* 2020). RBOHD plays key a role in SAA response to light stress. Specific expression of RBOHD in the phloem or xylem parenchyma cells of a *rbohd* mutant restores ROS signalling and SAA to local treatment of light stress (Zandalinas *et al.* 2020). It is suggested that the integration of systemic signals of ROS, calcium, electrical and hydraulic signals in plants takes place in the vascular bundles (Zandalinas *et al.* 2020)

ROS production is also required for systemic acquired resistance (SAR), although the role of ROS wave is more complex. A two-peak reaction of ROS production has been described during pathogen triggered immunity (PTI) (Yuan *et al.* 2020). First is a rapid ROS burst largely controlled by RBOH's which participates in the formation of a ROS wave (Yuan *et al.* 2020). There is a later second effector-triggered immunity (ETI)- enhanced PTI-induced ROS burst that begins several hours after pathogen perception. RBOH activity appears to be required for a second PTI ROS burst. It is less clear if there is a biphasic ROS burst in response to abiotic stress and wounding (Yuan *et al.* 2020). There is a lot of similarity between the two where the accumulation of apoplastic ROS leads to changes in cytosolic Ca²⁺ leading to stress response.

ROS signals are likely perceived via redox modifications of proteins resulting in changes in structure, activity, localization, and protein-protein interactions. This is mainly through the oxidative modification of cysteines (Waszczak *et al.* 2015). ROS can be perceived in both the extracellular apoplastic space and within the cytosol after passing through aquaporins and anion channels. Both extra and intracellular perception of ROS can occur at the same time, perhaps leading to increased sensitivity of ROS perception (Kimura *et al.* 2017).

Apoplastic alkalization can have an important impact on ROS signalling specificity as cysteine residues are readily oxidized at higher pH levels. Biotic and abiotic stimuli can trigger the transient alkalization of the apoplast from a pH of 5 to pH 6-7 via the inhibition of plasma membrane H+-ATPase activity (Geilfus *et al.* 2017). H⁺-ATPase activity is altered by phosphorylation and the accumulation of cations in the apoplast (Geilfus *et al.* 2017). This increase in pH leads to increased reactivity of cysteines with ROS. The duration and magnitude of apoplastic alkalization can differ between stress signals, which suggest it may be a key component in ROS signalling specificity (Geilfus *et al.* 2017).

1.4.1 The Role of RBOH proteins

RBOHs play important roles in plant development by producing the highly reactive and unstable superoxide. Superoxide is dismutated either spontaneously or by the action of superoxide dismutase (SOD) to H_2O_2 (Waszczak 2018). The most highly expressed RBOH in *Arabidopsis* is RBOHD which is key for ROS production upon abiotic and biotic stimuli. RBOHF is also highly involved in abiotic stress responses, in particular the regulation of stomatal closure (Kadota *et al.* 2015). RBOH activity is considered to lead to H_2O_2 , and as a result RBOH activity is often assessed by measuring H_2O_2 levels post dismutation. As a result, the role of extracellular superoxide as a signalling molecule is underexplored (Castro *et al.* 2021).

RBOHs appear to be spatiotemporally regulated, appearing in tissue specific patterns along with the capacity to be induced under stress stimulus (Hu *et al.* 2020, Morales *et al.* 2016). RBOH enzyme activity is regulated at the post-transcriptional level by the phosphorylation of the N-terminal region at conserved residues. The N-terminal region of RBOHs is a key hub for a number of kinases that induce ROS production. *Botrytis*-induced kinase 1 (BIK1), MAP4K serine/threonine-protein kinase 1 (SIK1) both phosphorylate N terminus leading to RBOH activation (Kadota *et al.* 2014, Li *et al.* 2014, Zhang *et al.* 2018).

The ability for multiple kinases to act on specific and convergent sites enables flexibility in the activation of RBOH enzymes to independent stimuli and developmental stages. Target protein C-terminus is also an important site for RBOH regulation, in particular limiting ROS production. Multiple kinases converge to achieve selective control of RBOH activity (Castro *et al.* 2021). The ubiquitination of RBOH enzymes is also a key factor in their regulation and control of ROS production.

1.5 Rho of plant (ROP) proteins

Unique to the plant kingdom, Rho of plant (ROP) proteins are a subfamily of Rho small GTP-binding proteins (also known as small G proteins) (Feiguelman *et al.* 2018, Eliáš and Klimeš 2012). ROPs act as molecular switches due their ability to change conformation upon GTP-binding and hydrolysis (Feiguelman *et al.* 2018).

Small G protein function has two major characteristics. As GTP hydrolysis can be inefficient, small G proteins can remain in the GTP-bound active form for long periods of time. GDP has a low dissociation coefficient therefore its release is inefficient and requires enzymatic activity (Vetter and Wittinghofer 2001). Due to these features, small G proteins cycles of GTP/GDP dependent

activation/inactivation are regulated by time and space by GDP/GTP Exchange Factors (GEFs) that facilitate the release of GDP and GTPase-Activating Proteins (GAP) that increase GTP hydrolysis (Berken and Wittinghofer 2008). Rho GDP Dissociation Inhibitors (RhoGDIs) play an important role in maintaining ROPs in distinct plasma membrane domains (Garcia-Mata *et al.* 2011)

Altering between the GTP and GDP-bound states enables ROP proteins to interact with effector and regulatory proteins that result in the periodic activation/inactivation cycles of signalling cascades. Their spatial regulation is important as ROPs can act as switches that convert intracellular and extracellular stimuli resulting in localized regulation of intracellular responses (Figure 1.5) (Feiguelman *et al.* 2018).



Figure 1.5. Rho of plant (ROP) proteins act as two-state molecular switches. When in GTP-bound confirmation, they are turned "ON", and are capable of binding and activating various effector molecules leading to specific cellular responses. The hydrolysis of the bound GTP results in the ROP protein turning "OFF", where effectors are released and/or inactive. The exchange of GDP to GTP can result in the protein reverting back into "ON" state. Guanine nucleiotide factors (GEFs) exchange factors (GEFs) enhance the GDP-to-GTP exchange, switching the ROP protein "ON". GTPase accelerating proteins (GAPs) promote GTP-hydrolysis that switches the protein "OFF". Guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) stabilize the "OFF" state. (Figure taken from Feher and Lajko 2015).

ROPs have a vast range of functions including regulating cell organization, growth, and shape via altering actin and the microtubule cytoskeleton (Hashimoto 2015, Takatsuka and Ito 2020). They regulate the activation of RBOHs and intracellular kinase cascades along with having a role in the regulation of ROS, ABA and auxin signalling and transport (Wu *et al.* 2011, Feiguelman *et al.* 2018).

ROPs play a key role in biotic and abiotic signalling. There is a large amount of evidence suggesting that ROPs and the ABA pathway form a negative feedback loop where ABA signalling supresses ROP

activation, and ROP signalling supresses ABA responses (Li and Liu 2012, Yu *et al* 2012). ROP10 and ROP11 inhibit ABA signalling by their physical interaction with ABA negative regulators ABI1 and ABI2 PP2C phosphatases. ROP interaction prevents ABI1/2 ABA-dependent inactivation by PYR/PIL ABA receptors (Li and Liu 2012, Yu *et al.* 2012). ABA inhibits ROP activation by promoting the degradation of several ROPGEFs. ROPGEF1 interacts with ABI1 in yeast and in vitro and is degraded in response to ABA (Li *et al.* 2016)

ROP2 is a key regulator in root hair growth and initiation (Jones *et al.* 2002) along with being involved in stress responses such as light-induced stomatal opening (Hong *et al.* 2015). ROP2 inactivation via ABA was found to critical for timely stomatal closure. The constitutively active form of ROP2 (CA-rop2) in *Arabidopsis* acts to reduce and slow stomatal closure in response to abscisic acid (ABA). Knockout of ROP2 lead to promotion of ABA-induced stomatal closure (Hwang *et al.* 2011).

ROP6 is required for auxin signalling (Platre *et al.* 2019). ROP6-mediated PIN targeting is vital for root gravitropic response (Platre *et al.* 2019). Furthermore, ROP6 has been shown to be master regulator of osmotically induced ROS accumulation, where osmotic stress stimulates ROP6 nanodomain formation within minutes. The *rop6.2* mutant has totally abolished osmotically induced ROS production (Smokvarska *et al.* 2020). These nanodomains are required for a correct spatial ROS accumulation in cells via interactions with RBOHD and RBOHF. *Rop6.2* loss of function mutant has longer primary and lateral roots in osmotic stress (Smokvarska *et al.* 2020). ROP6 nanoclusters formed after auxin or osmotic stimulation can be different in their formation, and therefore could encode signal specificity. Loss of function of ROP6 results in a reduction in osmotically induced lignin deposition in roots. The polymerisation of lignin requires cellular ROS, produced by NAPDH oxidases such as RBOHF. It is likely osmotically induced lignin to protect cells from deformation, along with mineral and water leakage is mediated by ROP6/RBOHs nandomains (Smokvaska *et al.* 2020). ROP6 likely acts immediately after cell osmotic perception, as nanoformation is only minutes after osmotic stimulation (Smokvaska *et al.* 2020).

1.6 Crosstalk between ABA, Auxin and ROS

Hormones interact with each other in a complex way, and they also interact with ROS. Each crosstalk interaction can alter the functions of each hormone. It is a challenge to summarise all hormones (such as cytokinin, ethylene and brassinosteroids (BRs)) and the interactions between them. As a result, the more hormones included the greater the complexity is. The crosstalk between ABA, auxin and ROS is the focus of my project as they play a critical role in plant development in response to abiotic stress.

1.6.1 ABA and ROS Interaction

Both critically involved in stress response, ROS and ABA have an intricate relationship with each other, regulating plant development and signalling. ROS have often been considered as amplifiers of the ABA signal, acting downstream as second messengers during process such as stomatal closure (Sierla *et al.* 2016, Rajab *et al.* 2019). This has been revealed by the study of ABA and ROS interactions in stomatal guard cell signalling (Postiglione and Muday 2020). Comparatively there has been a small amount research on how these two pathways interact in the roots and in long term development.

There are a large number of key areas where ABA and ROS interact, but they cannot all be described in detail here. There are a number of reviews which better detail their interaction (Mittler and Blumwald 2015, Postiglione and Muday 2020).

ABA induced ROS-accumulation has been repeatedly shown by a number of studies, with some reporting that takes places within minutes (Pei *et al.* 2000, Watkins *et al.* 2017). ROS has been proposed to enhance ABA biosynthesis or inhibit ABA degradation, leading to elevation in free ABA levels (Huang *et al.* 2012, Song *et al.* 2014, Mittler & Blumwalk 2015). Enhanced ROS levels could therefore result in enhanced ABA accumulation, creating a positive feedback loop resulting in stress response (Mittler and Blumwald 2015).

The roles of RBOHD and RBOHF in ABA signalling have been characterised. Gene disruption of both impairs ABA signalling, leading to reduced ABA-induced stomatal signalling and a reduction in ABA inhibition of root elongation (Kwak *et al.* 2003). Exogenous application of H_2O_2 rescues stomatal closing and Ca²⁺ channel activation. These results indicate that ROS act as rate-limiting second messengers in ABA signalling (Kwak *et al.* 2003).

ABA-induced H₂O₂ production requires the activation of Ser/Thr protein kinase OST1/SnRK2.6, which plays a positive role in the ABA guard cell response. Although ABA-induced ROS production is absent

from *ost1* mutant plants, *ost1* stomata are still able to close in response to H_2O_2 . This indicates that H_2O_2 is likely a signal molecule involved in the regulation of ABA-induced stomatal closure (Mustilli *et al.* 2002, Assmann 2003). OST1/SnRK2.6 phosphorylates transcription factors, anion channels and RBOHF which leads to regulation of ABA-induced stomatal closure (Sirichandra *et al.* 2009, Grondin *et al.* 2015).

PP2C phosphatases ABI1 and ABI2 are important proteins in ABA and ROS signalling (Meinhard *et al.* 2002). Plants defective in ABI1 and ABI2 are insensitive to ABA (Gosti *et al.* 1999). Treatment with ABA did not lead to the production of H₂O₂ in *abi1* mutants, whereas this response was not impaired in *abi2-1*. This suggests that ABI1 might function upstream of ABA and ROS signalling, whereas ABI2 might function downstream (Miao *et al.* 2006). ABI1 and ABI2 have been identified as negative regulators of ABA signalling, and repressors of H₂O₂ responses (Yoshida *et al.* 2006, Umezawa *et al.* 2009, Acharya *et al.* 2013). ABI1 is involved in ROS production in ABA-induced stomatal closure via sulfate treatment. ABA-triggered RBOH ROS production depends on ABI1 but not ABI2, and *ab2-1* mutants are still capable of accumulating ROS under sulphate treatment (Murata *et al.* 2001, Batool *et al.* 2018). The ABI1-OST1/SnRK2.6 phosphorylation relay is essential for the activation of RBOH ROS production, which is vital for stomatal closure under sulphate treatment (Rajab *et al.* 2019).

Glutathione peroxidases (GPXs) are key enzymes that are involved in H_2O_2 homeostasis (Miao *et al.* 2006). ATGPX3 functions both in ABA and ROS pathways. *atgpx3* mutation has high sensitivity to H_2O_2 in seedling development and enhanced production of H_2O_2 in guard cells. The *atgpx3* mutation reduces the expression of ABA and stress-responsive genes, along with disrupting ABA-induced Ca²⁺ channels. ATGPX3 interacts with ABI2, which are both regulated by H_2O_2 . ABI2 phosphatase activity was reduced five-fold by the addition of oxidized ATGPX3. The reduced form of ABI2 was converted to the oxidized form by the addition of oxidized ATGPX3 in vitro, which might mediate ABA and ROS signalling (Miao *et al.* 2006). Potentially, mutation of ATGPX3 interrupts H_2O_2 and ABA signalling, thereby blocking the activation of Ca²⁺ channels in response to abiotic stress. It has been suggested that ATGPX3 senses and transduces H_2O_2 signal to downstream components via ABI2, leading to osmotic stress response (Miao *et al.* 2006).

In *Arabidopsis* it has been found that ABA triggers hydrogen sulphide (H₂S) accumulation leading to the persulphidation of RBOHD, enhancing the production of ROS. Persulphidation acts as a specific and reversible redox-based post-translational modification. If it is abolished this leads to reduced ROS production following ABA treatment (Shen *et al.* 2020).

42

A large amount of research on ROS and ABA interactions has been focused on stomatal response. However, there has been recent other research studying the role of both pathways in root development.

MYB30 controls root elongation through ROS production under ABA-signalling in *Arabidopsis* (Mabuchi *et al.* 2018, Sakaoka *et al.* 2018). Upregulated by ROS, MYB30 targets genes to reduce cell elongation. ABA regulates the MYB30 gene network for root elongation, as MYB30 expression is induced by ABA in the root (Sakaoka *et al.* 2018). The *myb30* mutant shows significant insensitivity to root growth inhibition following ABA treatment (Sakaoka *et al.* 2018). MYB30 protein levels are stabilized by a SUMO E3 ligase, SIZ1, and this stabilization is important in regulating expression of certain ABA response genes (Miura *et al.* 2009). ROS accumulation patterns after ABA treatment were comparable between wild type and *myb30* mutants. This indicates that insensitivity to ABA treatment in the *myb30* mutant was caused by a deficiency in the MYB30 gene regulatory network that was upregulated by the ROS produced by ABA (Sakaoka 2018). This research suggests that MYB30 is likely acting independently of auxin and cytokinin, in a role as a hub between ROS and ABA signalling to regulate root cell elongation.

ROS plays a key role in ABA-mediated inhibition of root growth. RBOHD and RBOHF, sites of apoplastic ROS production in *Arabidopsis* are markedly upregulated in expression by ABA treatment in root systems (Jiao *et al.* 2013). Mutations in *rbohd* and *rbohf* significantly reduced the impact of ABA on root elongation along with reducing the increase in H₂O₂ levels in roots following ABA treatment (Jiao *et al.* 2013). As a result, RBOHD and RBOHF have been suggested to be essential for ABA-promoted ROS production in roots. This ROS production then activates Ca²⁺ signalling and reduces auxin sensitivity in the roots, leading to ABA-inhibition of primary root growth (Jiao *et al.* 2013)

PERK4 plays an important role in ROS production under ABA response. The *perk4* mutants display attenuated sensitivity to the ABA inhibition of root growth. This is due to lack of ROS accumulation in the primary root in response to ABA treatment as PERK4 deficiency prohibits ABA-induction of RBOHC (Ma *et al.* 2019). This indicates that PERK4 and RBOHC are involved in pathway of ABA and ROS interaction influencing root growth.

The presence of ROS is required for the ABA-induced increase in hydraulic activity and aquaporin abundance. Treatment of barley plants with antioxidants reduced the impact of ABA on increasing flow rate of xylem and root hydraulic activity (Sharipova *et al.* 2021).

43

1.6.2 ABA and Auxin interaction

The effect of auxin and ABA on numerous growth processes has been well-documented. High levels of exogenous auxin and abscisic acid both inhibit root elongation (Fendrych *et al.* 2018, Takatsuka and Umeda 2014, Takatsuka and Umeda 2019). Depending on region/tissue, auxin tends to act downstream of ABA to regulated growth processes (Emenecker & Strader 2020).

ABA reduces growth such as hypocotyl elongation by decreasing the level of auxin (Lorrai *et al.* 2018). Exogenous ABA application reduces the expression of auxin biosynthetic genes, *YUC3*, *YUC5* and *YUC6* (Lorrai *et al.* 2018). An intact auxin signalling, and transport system is required for full responsiveness to ABA's impact on root elongation (Emenecker & Strader 2020). Disruption of auxin transport (*aux1, pin2*) and auxin signalling (*tir1, ibr5, axr1*) leads to resistance to ABA in primary root elongation (Thole *et al.* 2014). Auxin influx mutants (*aux1-7, aux1-T*) and an auxin-insensitive mutant (*iaa7/axr2-1*) were all insensitive to the inhibitory effect of high ABA concentrations (Li *et al.* 2017) Gain of function mutation that stabilizes Aux/IAA protein IAA16 lead to reduction in root responsiveness to ABA (Rinaldi *et al.* 2012).

Auxin is required for both the stimulatory effects of low concentration ABA and inhibitory effects of high ABA on root elongation (Li *et al.* 2017). It appears both auxin influx and efflux are required for the inhibitory effects of high ABA, whereas only auxin efflux is needed for stimulatory effects (Li *et al.* 2017). ABA has been found to have a key role in reducing root growth under osmotic stress via modulating PIN1 levels, leading to a reduction of auxin at the root tip (Rowe *et al.* 2016)

AUXIN RESPONSE FACTOR 2 (ARF2) expression is induced by ABA, *arf2* mutants are more sensitive to the impact of ABA on seed germination and primary root growth, whereas ARF2 overexpression leads to ABA resistance (Wang *et al.* 2011). ABA treatment was found to reduce cell division and alter auxin distribution more in the *arf2* mutant. This indicates that ARF2 is a novel regulator in the ABA pathway, which has crosstalk with auxin in the mediation of cell division in root tips (Wang *et al.* 2011).

Auxin-mediated inhibition of root elongation appears to be independent of ABA signalling. ABA signalling mutants (*abi1-1, abi2-1 and abi3-1*) display wild-type response to synthetic auxin 2,4-D (Thole *et al.* 2014). As a result, it is likely auxin acts downstream of ABA in regulation of root elongation.

The plasma membrane *Arabidopsis* H⁺-ATPase 2 (AHA2) regulates apoplastic pH by pumping protons into extracellular space (Hoffmann *et al.* 2019) which is required for cell wall loosening and in turn cell elongation (Emenecker & Strader 2020). AHA2 activity is regulated by phosphoactivation, which

levels are controlled by auxin and ABA (Takahashi *et al.* 2012, Spartz *et al.* 2014). It is hypothesized ABA and auxin likely converge on AHA activity (Emenecker & Strader 2020).

1.6.3 ROS and Auxin interaction

Auxin and ROS interact in a complex way to regulate the development of plant root systems. The connection between both auxin and ROS needs to be further investigated if we are to reach a more complete understanding (Mase and Tsukagoshi 2021).

Primary growth rate of roots decreases when exposed to H_2O_2 . If H_2O_2 concentration exceeds 3mM, H_2O_2 levels become toxic and leads to complete arrest of root growth (Orman- Ligeza *et al.* 2016). Upon H_2O_2 treatment, the RAM remains functional and early differentiation in the primary meristem is promoted (Orman-Ligeza *et al.* 2016).

Exogenous application of IAA increases ROS levels in the root tissues with a maximum at the root tip, indicating a possible link between ROS and auxin controlling root growth (Peer *et al.* 2013, Zwiewka *et al.* 2019). IAA induction of ROS is lowered in the *rbohd* mutant, indicating the role RBOHD has a link between auxin and ROS (Peer *et al.* 2013). In both high exogenous IAA and H_2O_2 treatment, roots adapt via accumulation ox-IAA, leading to decreasing cell division and reducing the size of the meristem. This indicates that there is interplay between ROS and auxin in the regulation of cell cycle progression during RAM adaptation to H_2O_2 (Peer *et al.* 2013)

Application of H₂O₂ after three days leads to increased expression of auxin reporters DR5:GUS and R2D2, indicating increased accumulation of auxin in the root cap, columella and meristem vasculature (Zwiewka *et al.* 2019). The application of exogenous H₂O₂ leads to the rapid accumulation of auxin at the root apical meristem, along with a decrease in the abundance of PIN auxin efflux carriers (Zwiewka *et al.* 2019). Within a short period of time, H₂O₂ interrupts actin dynamics, thus modulating ARF-GEF-dependent intracellular trafficking of PIN2, leading to a decrease in PIN2 protein levels in the PM of root epidermal cells. This leads to a decrease in cell division and root meristem size by altering the auxin maxima (Zwiewka *et al.* 2019). H₂O₂ reduces the levels of PIN1, PIN2, PIN3 and PIN7 in the RAM in a dose-dependent effect (Zwiewka *et al.* 2019). Expression of YFP-tagged AUX1 protein in the root was not affected. Lower levels of PINs and the decrease of shootward auxin transport driven by PIN2 could explain the observed accumulation of auxin in the stele of stressed roots (Zwiewka *et al.* 2019).

The application of H_2O_2 restores root bending to vertical roots pre-treated with NPA. The application of ROS scavenging antioxidants also inhibits root gravitropism. These results indicate that ROS may function downstream of auxin mediated signal transduction (Hee Joo *et al.* 2001)

ROS accumulation during abiotic stress leads to depolymerization of either microtubules and actin filaments as well as oxidative modifications of tubulin and actin proteins (Livanos *et al.* 2014). Misbalance of ROS homeostasis such as that caused by osmotic stress can interfere with function of tubulin cytoskeleton therefore altering PIN distribution (Livanos *et al.* 2014)

Changes in H_2O_2 levels can also lead to alteration in peroxidases which catalyse the oxidation degradation of IAA (Kawano 2003, Tognetti *et al.* 2012). It is not only H_2O_2 that alters auxin levels, as several sources of ROS such as RBOH enzymes, apoplastic peroxidaes, acyl-CoA oxidases and mitochondrial electron transport are also involved in IAA regulatory networks (Mase and Tsukagoshi *et al.* 2021)

1.6.4 Sites of crosstalk between ABA, Auxin and ROS

ABA, auxin and ROS pathways have been detailed in key areas involving root growth, development, and stress response. It is likely there are numerous areas where all three interact to control root development. These notable regions where all three pathways connect will be listed, these could act as key centres of their regulation.

PINOID (PID) kinase, member of the ACG kinase family, regulates PIN localization on the cellular membrane, and as a result regulates polar auxin transport (PAT) (Kleine-Vehn *et al.* 2009). PID levels are upregulated by auxin and salicylic acid (SA), in pathway involving protein kinase CK2 (Armengot *et al.* 2016). Along with role is auxin transport, PIDs also act in stress signalling as a region for crosstalk between ROS, ABA and auxin (Garcia *et al.* 2012). Ectopic PID expression resulted in a disruption in hormone balance, leading to the accumulation of auxin and increased ROS production (Saini *et al.* 2017). Wide range of cellular redox processes are affected in the PID-OE lines. PID-OE has elevated ROS levels that can be explained by increased RBOH activity (Peer *et al.*2013).

Critically, PID overexpression leads to increases in ABA-induced carotenoid dioxygenase (NCED3) and ABA responsive elements-binding factors (AREB1/ABF2, AREB2/ABF4, and ABF3), and ABA insensitive (ABI1 and ABI2) along with increases in RD29B (Saini *et al.* 2017). Elevated PID levels show increased RBOH activity and an increase in antioxidants such as flavonoids. Despite the increase in auxin and antioxidants, PID overexpression did not result in drought tolerance/improvement. PID overexpression leads to increased IAA levels which already induces stress conditions. The addition of osmotic stress is likely additive, leading to higher lethality (Saini *et al.* 2017).

ABA alters auxin distribution and PLT protein stability through the production of ROS in the mitochondria of root tips (Yang *et al.*2014). The *aba-overly sensitive-8-1* (*abo8-1*) mutant has an

incomplete mitochondrial electron transport chain of complex I. As a result, it accumulates an excessive amount of ROS. *abo8-1* displays a phenotype of reduced growth and hypersensitivity to ABA. The high accumulation of ROS generated in *abo8-1* reduces the expression of PLT and activity in the root meristem, resulting in altered auxin distribution (Yang *et al.*2014). This indicates that ROS homeostasis in the mitochondria is critical for root growth and SCN maintenance via auxin distribution. It also suggests the existence of crosstalk between ROS-ABA-auxin for the regulation of root meristem size.

Jiao *et al.* (2013) found that all three pathways connected around RBOHD and RBOHF playing a role in ABA-inhibited primary root growth. Double mutants *atrbohD1/F1* and *atrbohD2/F2* are less sensitive to ABA suppression of root elongation, showing reduced ROS generation, cytosolic Ca²⁺ and activation of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ permeable channels compared with WT. Application of direct PIN transport inhibitor N-1-napthylpthalamic acid (NPA) enhanced the ABA inhibition of root growth in the mutants relative to WT. The ABA-induced decreases in auxin in the root tips were more pronounced in WT than in *atrbohD1/F1*. This study indicated that RBOHD and RBOHF are required for ABA-promoted ROS production in roots, from which the ROS activate Ca²⁺ signalling and reduce auxin in roots, therefore increasing ABA-inhibited primary root growth in Arabidopsis (Jiao *et al.* 2013)

Flavonoids, secondary metabolites induced by biotic and abiotic stresses, may influence ROS-auxin-ABA interaction (Brunetti *et al.* 2018). Produced under osmotic stress, flavonoids act as prominent ROS scavengers, leading to enhanced oxidative and drought tolerance (Nakabayashi *et al.* 2013). At lower concentrations they may act as regulators of root growth and differentiation, due to their ability to inhibit the activity of protein kinases (Brunetti *et al.* 2018). Flavonoids alter auxin transport by modifying vesicular trafficking and PIN cycling, by altering the activity of PAT regulators and by regulating PP2A (Kuhn *et al.* 2017, Saini *et al.* 2017). Flavonoids have also been found to promote auxin accumulation in a tissue-specific manner (Buer *et al.* 2013). Auxin promotes flavonoid accumulation, potentially to quench the ROS signal generated during auxin catabolism (Peer and Murphy 2007, Saini *et al.* 2017). Flavonoids may alter ABA-induced stomatal closure by the inhibition of MAPK activity or by quenching H₂O₂ which acts as a second messenger of ABA (Danquah *et al.* 2014, Brunetti *et al.* 2018). ABA has been found to promote the biosynthesis of flavonoids (Berli *et al.* 2010). The relationship between ABA-flavonoids requires more research (Brunetti *et al.* 2018)

1.7 Osmotic Stress

1.7.1 What is Osmotic Stress?

Water constitutes almost 70-80% of the fresh mass of plants (Zhou *et al.* 2021). A lack of water will greatly alter plant growth and development, as water is critical for maintaining turgor pressure, which gives plants rigidity and structure along with driving cell expansion and opening/closing of stomata (Pritchard 2001).

In the field, the availability of water is often non-uniform and can change quickly from threatening conditions to bountiful or vice versa (Ritchie 1981). The lack of water is often caused by a reduction in rainfall causing a decrease in water availability. Drought can also cause an increased soil hardness which can have a negative impact on plant growth (Whitmore and Whalley 2009)

In this thesis, osmotic stress is defined as the stress imposed by reduced water availability. Soil and plant water status is typically described by using in terms of "water potential". Water potential is derived from the free energy status of water compared to pure water at a reference state. Water potential is the sum of osmotic potential and the hydrostatic pressure, measured in MPa (Ψ = Ψ s + Ψ p). Water potentials of 0 to -0.3 (MPa) are typical of well-watered plants whereas water potentials of -1.5 to -2.0 MPa lead to a permanent loss of turgor and severe stress in *Arabidopsis* and most crop species (Boyer and Kramer 1995)

Water potentials that cause osmotic stress can be achieved in laboratory conditions by increasing solute concentration in the substrate on which the seedlings grow (Haswell and Verslues 2015, Osmolovskaya 2018). In order to replicate osmotic stress conditions in the lab, scientists have used NaCl or sugar derivatives such as mannitol and sorbitol (Verslues *et al.* 2006, Huan *et al.* 2017). Some of these solutes are able to enter the cytoplasm and can be toxic to plant cells (Haswell and Verslues 2015).

Mannitol and sorbitol have small molecular structures which are able to enter the area between protoplast and cell wall. This can cause plasmolysis, where the protoplast shrinks away from the cell wall. Cytorrhysis, the shrinking of both protoplast and cell wall is what occurs under a lack of water and soil drying (Haswell and Verslues 2015). Plasmolysis is not typical of what occurs to plant cells in drought field conditions and is perceived by different mechanisms and leads to different downstream responses to that of cytorrhysis. Root growth rate has been found to be much higher under cytorrhytic treatment when compared to plasmolytic treatments of the same MPa (Verslues *et al.* 2006). Cytorrhysis and plasmolysis may have different effects of plasma membrane-cell wall connections which could elicit different downstream signals (Haswell and Verslues 2015). To achieve osmotic stress levels, we use polyethylene glycol (PEG) (molecular weight 8000) infused agar plates. PEG is a useful solute for osmotic stress as it is non-toxic and excluded by plant cells due to its large open structure (Handa *et al.* 1982, Rowe *et al.* 2016). At high concentrations a PEG-infused medium will cause cytorrhysis rather than plasmolysis (Osmolovskaya 2018).

1.7.2 The phenotypic response to osmotic stress

There are a number of potential strategies in a plant's response to drought. Some species manage to escape and complete their life cycle before the full onset of drought (lqbal *et.* al 2020). Others attempt to avoid drought damage by modifying their root architecture and reducing water loss via stomatal conductance (Basu *et al.*2021). Plants can also attempt to tolerate drought by lowering water potentials by maintaining a level of osmolytes and molecular weight proteins (Bacelar *et al.* 2012).

When first exposed to a deficit in water plants respond by a rapid regulation of stomatal aperture together with rapid changes in root hydraulic conductivity (Bacelar *et al.* 2012, Rosales *et al.* 2019). The closing of the stomata leads to reduced transpiration which further increases the plants overall temperature. This increase in temperature can lead to denaturation of enzymes and proteins that can alter important physiological processes like photosynthesis, nitrogen metabolism and mineral uptake (Bhargava and Swant 2013). Closing stomata also limits gaseous exchange therefore increasing the levels of carbon dioxide. This accumulation of CO₂ can ultimately lead to the production of reactive oxygen species (Das and Roychoudhury 2014, Singh *et al.* 2021). Declining photosynthetic rate in plants due to drought affect photosynthetic reaction centres, oxygen-evolving complexes and xanthophyll cycle activity (Bhargava and Sawant 2013).

Over the longer term, plants alter both shoot and root growth (Koevoets *et al.* 2016). Mild water deficit can significantly promote shoot and root development, whereas severe osmotic stress results in significant reduction in both root and shoot growth (Rowe *et al.* 2016, Rosales *et al.* 2019, Smolko *et al.* 2021). The reduction in growth and development in the root and shoot is caused by the interruption of processes such as cell differentiation, division, and elongation. These processes are negatively altered by the loss of turgor pressure, the decline in enzyme activity and the loss in uptake of minerals and nutrients required for the process of photosynthesis (Ali *et al.* 2020, Singh *et al.* 2021)

Leaves and roots display different response to osmotic stress. Changes in the ratio between root and shoot length is often seen in field experiments, however sometimes there is no change (Rosales *et*

al. 2019). Above the soil we see a reduction in the number and size of leaves, total leaf area and the number of stomata. We also see a promotion in the formation of tube leaves, cell wall thickening and cutinisation (Mafakheri *et al.* 2010, Nezhadahmadi *et al.* 2015, Tenhaken 2015, Xue *et al.* 2017). There is also a reduction in photosynthetic rate by a smaller leaf surface area which increases the resistance for gaseous exchange and leaf senescence (Nezhadahmadi *et al.* 2013).

1.7.3 Root response to osmotic stress

Low levels of osmotic stress can promote primary root length and biomass and lateral root number and length (van der Weele 2000, Rosales *et al.* 2019). However, this is not always the case as some researchers have found that mild increases in osmotic stress reduce *Arabidopsis* growth (Rowe *et al.* 2016). Upon a large increase in osmotic stress levels there is a clear and sharp reduction in root growth along with a reduction in lateral root number (van der Weele *et al.* 2000, Rowe *et al.* 2016, Rosales *et al.* 2019, Yuan *et al.* 2021).

Behind this reduction in growth is a decline in RAM size due to a decrease in the number of cells divisions and cell size. (Rowe *et al.* 2016, Cajero Sanchez 2019, Yuan *et al.* 2021). Despite this reduction in root growth, the morphology of the SCN is unaltered by osmotic stress. This maintained functionality may allow plants to restore growth once returned to favourable conditions (Cajero Sanchez *et al.* 2019) (Figure 1.6).

Direct exposure of roots to water stress results in the inhibition of hydraulic activity and aquaporin activity at the root system and cellular level. (Sutka *et al.* 2011, Hachez *et al.* 2013). Turgor pressure, which is critical for rigidity and cell structure in plants, is reduced under osmotic stress (Pritchard *et al.* 2001)



Under osmotic stress we see the accumulation of low molecular weight osmolytes such as proline in the root tip (Chun *et al.* 2018). Proline confers tolerance to osmotic stress by aiding cellular osmotic adjustment along with stabilizing proteins, membranes, and subcellular structures (Kishor *et al.* 2005). Proline accumulation also helps in the scavenging of ROS that can damage the cell when at high concentrations. As discussed above, proline may act as a signalling molecule (Zhang and Becker 2015, Kovacs *et al.* 2019).

There is also an increase in suberization of the root under osmotic stress. Increased suberin levels in the cell walls of the root, leading to a decrease in the hydraulic conductivity. Sealing the apoplast with suberin results in a reduced backflow of water from the root to the soil medium (Kreszies *et al.* 2019)

1.7.4 Primary sensing mechanisms

Despite a high level of interest, uncovering the mechanisms of how osmotic stress is perceived by plants is challenge. It remains an area of little understanding with few clear candidates for perception. Osmotic stress likely causes an osmotic imbalance across the plasma membrane and/or causes changes in membrane tension and integrity. This could then trigger downstream signalling leading to osmotic stress response (Haswell and Verslues 2015).

One of the first major potential osmotic sensors was identified as REDUCED HYPEROSMOLALITY-INDUCED [Ca²⁺] INCREASE1, OSCA1 (Yuan *et al.* 2014). The mutant *osca1* resulted in a deficiency in Ca²⁺ accumulation when exposed to sorbitol but not in response to H_2O_2 or ABA. There also was a visible increased sensitivity to osmotic stress, represented by a reduction in primary root length when exposed to osmotic stress (Yuan *et al.* 2014).

OSCA1 is a hyperosmolality-gated calcium channel which is located at the plasma membrane (Yuan *et al.* 2014). High osmotic potential or plasma membrane tension caused by a water deficit potentially triggers the opening of the pore and allows Ca²⁺ influx within seconds after the stress condition is perceived (Liu *et al.* 2018). The differences between growth conditions under osmotic stress was subtle between *osca1* mutants. This indicates that it is likely there are multiple redundant osmosensors present in plants. Arabidopsis has 15 homologs of OSCA1 indicating that osmotic stress sensing could be mediated by a family of redundant calcium channels (Liu *et al.* 2018).

CALCIUM PERMEABLE STRESS-GATED CATION CHANNEL1.2 (AtOSCA1.2) has been identified as a calcium channel that is induced by osmotic stress (Hou *et al.* 2014). With a high sequence similarity to OSCA1, both may have a similar function. Despite its interesting structure, the function and subcellular location of OSCA1.2 in plants is currently unknown (Lamers *et al.* 2020).

AHK1 has been identified as a two-component phosphorelay system (TCS), similar to those acting as an osmotic pressure sensing system in bacteria (Yuan *et al.* 2017). AHK1 does appear to play a role in the transcriptional regulation response to drought, and the *ahk1* mutant displays reduced survival under drought stress (Tran *et al.* 2007). However, no direct phosphorylation activity of AHK1 has been found in response to osmotic stress, as well as no reduction in ABA levels or stomatal closure were observed in the *ahk1* mutant (Yuan *et al.* 2017, Sussmilch *et al.* 2017). This suggests that AHK1 might have some role in osmotic stress, but it is unlikely that AHK1 acts as a direct osmosensor (Lamers *et al.* 2020).

Several receptor-like kinases (RLKs) that are found on the plasma membrane measure the integrity of the cell wall. Dissociation of the plasma membrane from the cell wall during osmotic stress could

lead to increased phosphorylation of downstream target proteins (Feng *et al.* 2016). FERONIA (FER), a RLK, sees its activity increased under salt stress and the plasmolysis that follows (Feng *et al.* 2018). FER could act as an osmotic sensor, but it is more likely it is a sensor of cell wall integrity via measuring distorted pectin filament organization rather than a specific osmotic sensor (Lamers *et al.* 2020).

The action of osmotic stress sensing is still not well understood despite some key breakthroughs with OSCA1/OSCA1.2. Potentially there is some strong overlap in the mechanisms of perception of other abiotic stresses such as salt, temperature, cold etc. (Lamers *et al.* 2020).

1.7.5 Short-term signalling

Once osmotic stress has been detected, there is a flurry of short-term (within minutes) downstream signalling that leads to a developmental response. Downstream signalling has received a great deal more attention than the initial perception of osmotic stress (Haswell and Verslues 2015). In a process sometimes called Systemic Acquired Acclimation (SAA), a signal can quickly propagate through the whole plant leading to an acclimation where tissues are able to withstand stress even if they did not sense or experience it (Zandalinas *et al.* 2019)

Systemic signals such as ROS, calcium, electrical and hydraulic waves are, within minutes, able to propagate from a local tissue to the entire plant (Kollist *et al.* 2019). There are also seen rapid changes in hormones such as abscisic acid, auxin, ethylene and different metabolites (Choudhury *et al.* 2018). These efficient and coordinated signals lead to whole-plant system changes that enables tissues to withstand stresses and developmental changes (Suzuki *et al.* 2013, Devireddy *et al.* 2018). For example, stomata are able to close or open in response to light stress or pathogen infection within minutes (Kollist *et al.* 2019).

It is not known how hydraulic waves are linked to electric, Ca²⁺ or ROS waves. It is suggested that the members of the MECHANOSENSITIVE CHANNELS OF SMALL-CONDUCTANCE-LIKE (MSL) family, which are permeable to Ca²⁺ and/or other cations and anions, could perceive systemic hydraulic waves at tissues distant from the stress locations and translate them into Ca²⁺ signals (Fichman and Mittler 2021).

Ca²⁺ signals are able to alter ROS through the action of many specific Ca²⁺ binding proteins and Ca²⁺ dependent kinase/phosphatase switches. For example, Ca²⁺ can directly bind to the EF-binding domains of the RBOHD protein (Dubiella *et al.* 2013). OSCA1 and OSCA1.2 are likely involved in the calcium signalling that takes place immediately following osmotic stress perception (Yuan *et al.* 2014, Liu *et al.* 2018). Apoplastic alkalization occurs in tandem with calcium influx in the first

minutes after exposure of roots to salt (Choi *et al.* 2014). This likely triggers a number of responses including ROS production.

ROS accumulates within minutes of osmotic stress treatment contributed by the production of RBOHD and RBOHF, as well as independently of RBOH enzymes (Martiniere *et al.* 2019). Apoplastic ROS generated via RBOHD and other enzymes can be quickly transported via aquaporins such as PMintrinsic protein channels (PIPs). These can transport H_2O_2 across the PM from the apoplast to the cytosol (Rodrigues *et al.* 2017, Qiu *et al.* 2020). This translocation of H_2O_2 into the cytosol can leads to changes in redox-dependent reactions, kinase and phosphatase molecular switches along with Ca^{2+} permeable channels. Further driving local and SAA pathways (Miller *et al.* 2009, Rodrigues *et al.* 2017, Fichman and Mittler 2021).

ROS signalling molecules such as H_2O_2 can travel though the continuous apoplastic space. Once produced in one space, ROS can enter neighbouring plant cells and trigger reactions within them. This leads to the activation of ROS production within the neighbouring cells and a chain of cell-to-cell transmission known as ROS wave developing (Suzuki *et al.* 2013, Fichman *et al.* 2021). RBOHD is required for ROS generation and ROS wave propagation under high light stress, along with proteins localized to plasmodesmata (Fichman *et al.* 2021). The RBOH pathway is key for PIP2;1 internalization which occurs rapidly within the minutes of osmotic stress treatment (Martiniere 2019). The function of RBOHD is also required for the propagation of electric signals in response to stress (Suzuki *et al.* 2013).

It has been suggested that the specificity of the signal created by ROS is due to the localized production (by RBOHs) and the ROS microenvironment they create in their vicinity, not due to the species of ROS produced (Martiniere *et al.* 2019).

ROP6 shows rapid changes in localisation within minutes of osmotic stress stimulation that subsequently generate ROS and lead to signalling changes. Due to the speed of this change, it is likely ROP6 is acting right after cell osmotic perception to trigger downstream responses (Smokvarska *et al.* 2020)

These rapid signals can trigger changes in gene expression, leading to changes in protein and/or metabolite levels (Kollist *et al.* 2019). Pre-existing mRNA with polysomes could be altered, resulting in the rapid synthesis of new proteins (Sablok *et al.* 2017). The ubiquitination of proteins and other post-translational modification could also easily be affected by rapid stress signalling (de Vega *et al.* 2018) Large changes in protein concentrations could be taking place rapidly, for example under 5 minutes of salt treatment PIN2 protein concentrations were found to reduce (Smolko *et al.* 2021).

1.7.6 Long-Term Osmotic Signalling

Following the rapid change in signalling under osmotic stress perception, we see an acclimatization to the stressful conditions. After this process takes place, we witness a longer-term change in hormonal signalling where clear patterns emerge over 24-hours and beyond leading to developmental changes in the plant. There has been more focus on this area of osmotic stress signalling (Rowe *et al.* 2016), however there still remain large areas that required study. In this section I will focus on longer term (24 hours +) changes that have been described.

This thesis will focus on auxin, ABA and ROS pathways. There are a number of other hormones that have a critical role in osmotic stress response including gibberellins etc (Colebrook *et al.* 2014, Khan *et al.* 2015). Epigenetic regulation, including DNA methylation, histone modifications and nucleosome assembly by chaperons, also play critical roles in osmotic-stress response and are summarized in a number of reviews (Ueda *et al.* 2019, Bulgakov *et al.* 2019).

1.7.6.1 The role of auxin during osmotic stress

In addition to regulating root growth under optimal conditions, it is clear that auxin plays a direct role in mediating osmotic stress response in the root (Naser & Shani 2016). Auxin response is down-regulated in wild-type roots under osmotic stress leading to auxin-responsive genes being expressed differently (Yuan *et al.* 2021, Huang *et al.* 2008, Ha *et al.* 2013).

Application of low concentration of auxin (1 nM IAA) was found to rescue root growth under mild osmotic stress, and partially rescue root growth under severe stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016). The *axr3-1* mutant, highly sensitive to auxin, displays an exaggerated reduction in root growth and meristem size under osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016)

There is a significant reduction in levels of endogenous IAA in leaves and roots under water deficit conditions (Liu *et al.* 2015). In both osmotic and salt stress there is a reduction in levels of DR5:GFP at the root tip indicating a reduction in auxin levels (Smolko *et al.* 2021). This is created via an alteration of polar auxin transport, biosynthesis, and homeostasis under osmotic stress (Smolko *et al.* 2021, Rowe *et al.* 2016). Interestingly in longer term (13 days) osmotic stress study we see a tendency for IAA levels to increase (Smolko *et al.* 2021).

Osmotic stress alters auxin transporter levels and localization, leading to reduction in root auxin concentrations (Rowe *et al.* 2016). PIN1 levels are reduced via an ABA-dependent manner, overriding the effects of ethylene (Rowe *et al.* 2016). Interestingly, PIN2 expression levels increase under osmotic stress. It appears there are tissue-specific effects of osmotic stress leading to

differential expression of auxin transporters (Rowe *et al.* 2016). Osmotic treatment of root meristem cells with mannitol resulted in the immediate internalization of PIN1 and PIN2, as well as the decrease recycling of internalized PINs to the plasma membrane (Zwiewka *et al.* 2015). Changes in PIN1 and PIN2 expression and localization work together to reduce auxin concentrations at the root tip (Rowe *et al.* 2016).

PIN3 and PIN4 transcriptional levels decrease under osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016, Yuan *et al.* 2021, Smolko *et al.* 2021). HOMEODOMAIN ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA2 (HAT2), HAT2 belongs to the Class II HD-ZIP transcription factor family which plays an important role in plant development and environmental response. Members of this family can act as repressors which bind to their target gene promoters. HAT2 regulates auxin activity by directly repressing PIN3 transcription (Yuan *et al.* 2021). Under osmotic stress we see an increase in HAT2 repression of PIN3. In the *hat2* loss-of-function mutant under the same osmotic stress conditions, we see the alleviation of PIN repression, an increase in auxin and a reduction in osmotic stress inhibition of root growth. HAT2 expression was not significantly increased after ABA, BRs or ethylene treatment (Yuan *et al.* 2021).

AUX1 expression is reduced under osmotic stress along with decreased protein fusion fluorescence. It is implied that ABA biosynthesis plays a key role in *AUX1* expression (Rowe *et al.* 2016). ARF-GEF cycle, responsible for polar-recycling of PINS, is likely altered by abiotic stress which leads to changes in intracellular trafficking in the RAM (Tognetti *et al.* 2017). Despite numerous studies, the role of polar auxin transport in response to osmotic stress at the molecular level is poorly understood (Yuan *et al.* 2021). More work is needed in order to understand how auxin patterning is formed.

The inhibition/reduction of auxin biosynthesis is likely to play a role in osmotic stress. IAA content in leaves and roots much lower under salt stress and water deficit conditions (Du *et al.* 2013, Shi *et al.* 2014, Liu *et al.* 2015,), although is some studies that has not proven to be the case (Smolko *et al.* 2021). Changes in transcripts of *YUC*, *GH3* and *UGT* under salt and osmotic stress suggest the disruption of auxin biosynthesis and the processes of amide and ester conjugation (Smolko *et al.* 2021). IAA biosynthesis genes (YUCCAs) were found to be significantly downregulated under osmotic stress in both *Arabidopsis* and rice, along with an increase in IAA conjugation genes (Du *et al.* 2013, Shi *et al.* 2014). Overexpression of YUCCA7, a gene involved in the auxin biosynthesis pathway, leads to increase resistance to drought stress in *Arabidopsis* (Lee *et al.* 2012).

Plants with auxin over-production (iaaM-OX) exhibited enhanced drought resistance (Shi *et al.* 2014), whilst those with reduced production *yuc1/yuc2/yuc6* triple mutants showed decreased drought resistance (Shi *et al.* 2014). Exogenous and endogenous auxin positively modulated abiotic stress

genes (RD29B, DREB2A etc) and positively affected ROS metabolism and antioxidant activities (Shi *et al.* 2014).

IAA hydrolysis is a rapid process releasing free IAA from IAA sugar or amino acid conjugates. IAR3 hydrolyses IAA-alanine and releases bioactive IAA. It has been shown that high osmotic stress reduces miR167a levels, thereby increasing the mRNA levels of the direct target IAR3. *iar3* mutants has a reduced level of free IAA and have shown reduced osmotic stress-induced root architecture (Kinoshita *et al.* 2012).

There appears to be some fluctuation in auxin response depending on the time period studied (Naser & Shani 2016). Smolko *et al.* (2021) has indicated in long-term stress (13-day assay) that there was an increase in the stability of the auxin metabolome and an increase in IAA, particularly during salt stress, whereas under short term stress (3-hour assay) we see a decrease in IAA levels. Further study is required to understand auxin homeostasis during osmotic stress (Naser and Shani 2016).

1.7.6.2 The role of ABA during osmotic stress

ABA plays a key role in osmotic stress. (Nakashima *et al.* 2014, Rosales *et al.* 2019). Under osmotic stress we see a rapid accumulation of ABA, inducing stomatal closure to reduce water loss (Wu *et al.* 2018, Wilkinson *et al.* 2012) and a subsequent inhibition of plant growth (Rowe *et al.* 2016, Rosales *et al.* 2019). ABA was found to override the positive effects of ethylene on *PIN1* expression, leading to a decrease in auxin transport and a reduction in root tip growth (Rowe *et al.* 2016). This is characterised by an increase in *RD29B* expression, a highly ABA-responsive gene (Rowe *et al.* 2016).

Recently several independent studies have identified different families of Raf-like protein kinases, operating upstream of ABA-dependent and independent signalling pathways in Arabidopsis under osmotic stress (Takahashi *et al.* 2020, Lin *et al.* 2020, Soma *et al.* 2020, Katsuta *et al.* 2020). All show that Raf-like MAPKK-kinases (M3Ks) are activated in response to osmotic stress and function upstream of SnRK2 kinases in *Arabidopsis* (Fabregas *et al.* 2020). These MAPK signalling cascades play important roles in plant growth, development, and stress response (Fabregas *et al.* 2020).

The B2/B3 family of Raf-like M3Ks have been found to regulate the osmotic stress ABA-signalling pathway by phosphorylation of the ABA-responsive SnRK2s from subclass III, whereas B4 Raf-like kinases regulate the ABA-independent signalling pathway by phosphorylating subclass I SnRK2s (Takahashi *et al.* 2020, Soma *et al.* 2020, Lin *et al.* 2020). These subclass III SnRK2s require both dissociation from PP2Cs in response to ABA and activation by B2/B3 Raf-like kinases for full activation. Interestingly, subclass I SnRK2s may be fully activated by B4 Raf-like kinases before the accumulation of ABA (Fabregas 2020).

B2, B3 and B4 RAF Kinases (RAFs) are critical for early osmotic stress and ABA signalling. This group is rapidly activated by osmotic stress and are required for the phosphorylation and activation of SnRK2 leading to downstream ABA response (Lin *et al.* 2020). B3 Raf-like M3Ks, RAF3, RAF4, RAF5 and RAF6 were shown to be the upstream kinases that phosphorylate and activate ABA-responsive SnRK2 in response to ABA and osmotic stress (Takahashi 2020). B4-Raf-like M3Ks, RAF18, RAF20 and RAF24 were shown to regulate SnRK2-VARICOSE signalling pathway under osmotic stress but not ABA-responsive SnRK2s (Soma 2020). The component that detects osmotic stress and leads to the activation of RAFs and SnRK2s has not yet been identified. Importantly, it has been shown to be independent of OSCA-mediated Ca²⁺ signalling (Lin *et al.* 2020, Fabregas *et al.* 2020).

In the absence of stress, PYLs promote PP2A activity, resulting in a reduction in PINOID (PID)mediated phosphorylation of PIN-FORMED (PIN) proteins. Under osmotic stress conditions, ABA binds to PYLs thus inhibiting PP2A activity, leading to increased PIN phosphorylation and consequently modulating auxin transport and root architecture, particularly root gravitropic response and lateral root development (Rosales *et al.* 2019).

NINE-CIS-EXPOXYCAROTENOID DIOXYGENASE 3 (NCED3) is a vital enzyme in the accumulation of ABA under drought stress. Highly induced in the vascular tissues, NCED3 mutants displayed drought stress phenotypes and revealed decreased ABA accumulation under drought stress (Endo *et al.* 2008, Sato *et al.* 2018). NGTHA1 (NGA1) positively regulates ABA accumulation under osmotic stress by transcriptionally activating NCED3 (Sato 2018). NGA1 was found to be degraded under non-stress conditions, whereas under osmotic stress NGA accumulation was enhanced even in ABA-deficient mutants, indicating the role of ABA-independent pathway (Sato *et al.* 2018). Small peptide CLAVATA3/EMRYO-SURROUNDING REGION-RELATED 25 (CLE25) has been shown to induce NCED3 expression during drought stress (Takahashi *et al.* 2018), although how this activates NCED3 has not yet been elucidated.

Mutants in ABA biosynthesis (*aba2-1*) and signalling (*snrk2.2, snrk2.3, hab1-1, abi1-2*) display an altered response to osmotic stress. All mutant lines lose the stimulatory effects of mild osmotic stress. Under severe stress, *hab1-1* and *abi1-2* show a higher reduction in growth up to 50% in comparison with wild-type. Both *aba2-1* and *snrk2.2 snrk2.3* were not significantly altered in comparison to wild type. In both *hab1-1* and *abi1-2* mutants, lateral root elongation was dramatically repressed under severe osmotic stress when compared with wild-type (Rosales *et al.* 2019). The application of ABA biosynthesis inhibitor fluridone resulted in rescuing osmotic stress phenotype under mild osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016).

58

ABA is involved in the stimulation of root growth and hydraulic conductivity by mild osmotic stress. The mild osmotic stress stimulation is thought to be controlled by ABA stimulatory effect on aquaporin function (Rosales *et al.* 2019). Interestingly, the same paper suggests that under severely high osmotic stress, reduction in root growth and hydraulic conductivity is largely ABA independent and instead governed by local signals (Rosales *et al.* 2019). The molecular basis of these ABAindependent root growth reduction is yet to be identified.

Under drought, ABA regulates a large number of transcription factors that are thought to play crucial roles in stress response. ABA regulates most of the target genes through ABA-responsive elements (ABRE) binding protein/ABRE binding factor (AREB/ABF) transcription factors. Drought-responsive genes are also regulated by ABA-independent mechanisms. The network of the transcriptional regulation of drought response is complex and too large to be summarised in this section, there are many reviews that cover the subject in more detail (Singh and Laxmi 2015, Yao *et al.* 2021).

ABA-independent stress responses through DREB2B were shown to increase under osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016). DREB2B encodes for a transcription factor that bind to Drought Responsive Elements (DRE) in promoters to enhance expression of dehydration responsive genes (Nakashima *et al.* 2000). Transcriptional analysis has shown that ABA-independent differentially expressed genes were enriched in response to jasmonic acid (JA), salicylic acid (SA) and gibberellin (GA) stimuli (Liu *et al.* 2018). There is significant overlap and crosstalk between ABA-dependent and ABA-independent signalling. For example, DELLA, a key component in GA signalling likely mediates the interaction between ABA and GA pathways. Both ABA-dependent and ABA-independent signalling converge at the SnRK2s, as well as in their upstream and downstream factors (Fabregas *et al.* 2020).

1.7.6.3 The role of ROS during osmotic stress

In unstressed conditions, ROS production within cells is at low levels. Once subjected to abiotic stresses, ROS levels are elevated, which then activates stress pathways within plant cells (Mittler *et al.* 2004, Shabala *et al.* 2015, Baxter *et al.* 2014).

ROS is accumulated within minutes under osmotic stress (Martiniere *et al.* 2019). Performing a number of functions including acting as secondary messengers, regulating cell endocytosis and root water conductivity and the intracellular accumulation of osmolytes such as proline (Boursiac *et al* 2008, Ben Rejeb *et al.* 2015). ROS produced under osmotic stress, likely acts in a ROS wave, triggering stomatal closing. H_2O_2 has been shown to mediate stomatal closure by activating plasma membrane Ca^{2+} channels (Murata *et al.* 2001).

There appear to be two major processes generating ROS under osmotic stress signalling. Plasma membrane localized NADPH oxidases, RBOHD and RBOHF catalyse the production of superoxide free radicals by transferring one electron to oxygen from the cytoplasmic NADPH. RBOHD and RBOHF both contribute to osmotically induced ROS accumulation in a nonadditive manner (Martiniere *et al.* 2019). There is non-enzymatic action via the Haber-Weiss reaction where reduced transition metals transfer one electron to dioxygen. Limiting the level of free apoplastic Fe²⁺ results in a significant reduction of ROS accumulation upon sorbitol treatment (Martiniere *et al.* 2019). These pathways are RBOH and Fe/ASc are activated under a wide range of mild to high osmotic stresses (Martiniere *et al.* 2019).

Increased ROS levels can have a negative impact on the plant system due to the toxic nature of oxidative stress. In response to elevated ROS levels, antioxidative systems such as ROS-scavenging catalase, glutathione etc. are upregulated to achieve homeostasis (Gill & Tuteja 2010). Previous research has shown that increasing levels of glutathione (GSH) led to improved *Arabidopsis* root systems and tolerance to drought and salt stresses (Chen *et al.* 2012). Wildtype plants treated with GSH demonstrated more tolerance to drought and salt stresses (Chen *et al.* 2012).

Despite a large amount of evidence of the involvement of ROS under osmotic stress, there is a lack of research into how ROS signalling is affected by osmotic stress in the root tip, and what role ROS plays in osmotic stress induced root growth inhibition.

1.7.6.4 Crosstalk under osmotic stress

ABA, ROS and auxin all interact with each other in a complex way under osmotic stress. There are likely numerous areas where potential pathway interactions take place both in rapid and long-term signalling. We shall attempt to detail a few key areas that these interactions could be taking place.

Auxin and ROS have both been shown to interact with each other under osmotic stress conditions. Both *iaaM-OX* transgenic lines and exogenous IAA pre-treated WT plants displayed lower levels of H_2O_2 and O_2^- along with performing better under osmotic stress conditions. The *yuc1/yuc2/yuc6* triple mutants displayed higher levels of H_2O_2 and O_2^- in comparison to wild-type plants and performed worse under osmotic stress conditions (Shi *et al.* 2014). *iaaM-OX* transgenic lines and plants pre-treated with exogenous IAA exhibited higher activities of antioxidant enzymes under drought stress conditions, whereas *yuc1/yuc2/yuc6* mutants displayed lower activities of these enzymes compared to wild-type (Shi *et al.* 2014) This experimentation suggests that auxin can promote drought stress resistance by modulating root architecture, ABA-responsive gene expression and ROS metabolism (Shi *et al.* 2014).

60

YUC6 appears to be a play an interesting role, where is its overexpression is found to improve drought stress tolerance. Although involved in auxin biosynthesis pathway, the improvement to osmotic stress is not due to IAA overproduction but due to the novel thiol-reductase activity of YUC6 (Cha *et al.* 2016). YUC6 has both FAD and NADPH-dependent sulfide oxidoreductase activity and is tightly regulated as it can result in H₂O₂ production (Dai *et al.* 2013). YUC6 is endowed with NADPHdependent TR activity which requires Cys-85. The TR activity of YUC6 conveys ROS production and stress tolerance independently of its activity in auxin biosynthesis (Cha *et al.* 2016). YUC6 could act as a crosstalk point between auxin and ROS pathways under osmotic stress. TR activity of YUC6 could function in activating redox systems to scavenge ROS produced under water deficit. It may be that other YUC proteins have TR activity as well (Cha *et al.* 2016).

Glutathione peroxidase, encoded by *ATGPX3*, likely plays a key role in H₂O₂ and ABA interaction, but also how they relate under osmotic stress conditions. *atgpx3* mutation leads to high sensitivity to osmotic stress and increased water loss (Miao *et al.* 2006, Miao *et al.* 2007) ATGPX3 expression is upregulated under osmotic stress where it is thought to sense and transduce H₂O₂ signal, leading to ABA and drought stress response (Miao *et al.* 2007). Other members of the GPX family may also have key roles in osmotic stress response due to their role in regulating abiotic plant responses (Bela *et al.* 2018).

Other proteins involved in ROS-ABA stomatal closure have been identified. CHYR1, a ubiquitin E3 ligase play a role in ABA-induced stomatal closure, along with ROS production and plant drought tolerance. Regulated by OTS1/SnRK2.6 which is strongly activated by osmotic stress, CHYR1 promotes ABA-induced stomatal closure in response to drought (Ding *et al.* 2015).

Heat shock transcription factors HSFA6a and HSFA6b may regulate ROS homeostasis leading to ABA and osmotic stress insensitivity (Wenjing *et al.* 2020) ABA-responsive element binding factor (ABRE), a key regulator in ABA-signalling pathway has been shown to be involved in the transcriptional regulation of HSFA6a (Hwang *et al.* 2014). Plants overexpressing HSFA6a exhibit hypersensitivity toward ABA and tolerance to drought stress (Hwang *et al.* 2014). HSFA6a is known to be involved in ABA-mediated stress responses (Hwang *et al.* 2014) HSFA6a has been indicated to be a transcriptional activator of stress-responsive genes via the ABA-dependent pathway, HSFA6b acts as a downstream regulator of the ABA-mediated stress response (Hwang *et al.* 2014, Huang *et al.* 2016). Acting in functional redundancy with each other, the *hsfa6a/hsfa6b* double mutant is resistant to exogenous ABA and osmotic stress compared to WT. HSFA6a and HSFA6b act as positive regulators of ABA and drought stress response. *Hsfa6a/hsfa6b* double mutant has reduced ROS accumulation upon ABA treatment (Wenjing *et al.* 2020), indicating HSFA6a and HSFA6b may act as a link between ABA and ROS signalling under osmotic stress response.

PERK4 could a key area in ABA and ROS regulation of osmotic stress response. PERK4 plays a key role in ABA-regulated inhibition of root growth, stimulating ROS accumulation via RBOHC. *perk4* and *rbohc* display attenuated sensitivity to ABA root inhibition along with reduced ROS accumulation. PERK4 deficiency prohibits the ABA-induced expression of RBOH genes. (Ma *et al.* 2019). With ABA playing a key role in osmotic stress response, potentially the PERK4/RBOHC pathway is an area in which ABA exerts control over root growth under osmotic stress.

ROPs could also be a site of ROS, ABA and auxin interaction under osmotic stress. ROP6 has recently been shown to be a master regulator of osmotic stress induced ROS production, where osmotic stress stimulates ROP6 nanodomain formation within minutes (Smokvaska *et al.* 2020). ROP6 has also been shown to be required for auxin signalling, in particular gravitropic response (Lin *et al.* 2012). ROP2 has been identified to have a role in stress responses, especially in the role of ABAinduced stomatal closure (Hwang *et al.* 2011). How ROP2 and ROP6 are involved in osmotic stress, in particular if they contribute to ROS production leading to ABA and auxin signalling has not been elucidated and requires study.

The crosstalk between hormones is very complex, with each pathway containing multiple sites where they interact with other pathways. One change in one signalling component can lead to changes in other signalling components. In order to make sense of this complexity, using systems approach to understand the patterning of hormones is a viable strategy (Liu *et al.* 2010, Rowe *et al.* 2016).

To quantitatively link a mutant gene with root development/size, all changes in the relevant hormones must be quantitatively analysed. Previously a network detailing the interactions between auxin, ethylene, cytokinin and PLS was developed revealing a circuit of crosstalk that regulates root growth (Liu *et al.* 2010).

Rowe *et al.* (2016) were able to successfully include the action of osmotic stress along with the action of ABA and auxin transport (PIN1, PIN2, PIN4, AUX1) into the network. The network revealed that ABA regulates root growth under osmotic stress conditions via its interactions with auxin, cytokinin and ethylene. ABA overrides ethylene and cytokinin regulation of osmotic stress. ABA effect is tissue specific, PIN1 in stele decreases whilst PIN2 in epidermis/cortex increases. These changes in PIN levels reduces auxin concentrations in the root tip. PLS expression is reduced as auxin

promotes and ethylene inhibits expression of the peptide (Figure 1.7). It appears in that cytokinin signalling is downstream of ABA regulation of root growth under osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016).



Figure 1.7. A simplified hormonal crosstalk network for the regulation of root growth under osmotic stress conditions. This network takes place in a vascular cell expressing PIN1. The network demonstrates that the responses of auxin transporters, hormones and signalling components to osmotic stress are nonlinear and complex. Abbreviations: DR5p, *DR5* regulated yellow fluorescent protein; DIIp, DII-VENUS protein; PLSp, POLARIS peptide; PIN1, PIN1 auxin efflux transporter protein; AUX1, AUX1 auxin influx transporter protein; ET, ethylene; X, the unknown factor that regulates auxin transport from the aerial tissues; EIN2, EIN2 ethylene signalling protein; ERF1m, ERF1 mRNA transcript; ABA, abscisic acid; RD29Bm, *RD29B* mRNA transcript; CK, active cytokinin; ARR5m, *ARR5* mRNA transcript; TCS, cytokinin response reporter; osmotic stress, the osmotic stress imposed by the growth medium. Red boxes group related activities. Taken from Rowe *et al.* (2016).

This previous work did not factor ROS into the study of osmotic stress in root development, nor did it look at the speed at which key signals take place. As indicated previously, ROS have strong interactions with both auxin and ABA pathways. In order to understand osmotic stress response further, we need to study ROS response to osmotic stress and how this interacts with the auxin and ABA in both short and long-term. In order to better understand how changes in auxin levels are achieved, both PIN3 and PIN7 require studying under osmotic stress. These transporters play key roles in response to other stimuli such as gravitropism, therefore they could play a key role in osmotic stress response.

1.8 Project Aims and Objectives

It is critically important to understand how plants respond to osmotic stress as this can help us improve crop development under drought conditions. How quickly plants are able to respond to osmotic stress and develop signal crosstalk could have significant ramifications to the performance of crops under stress conditions. It is particularly important to see how key signals such as auxin, ABA and ROS interact with each other within a short time frame, leading to osmotic stress response, and how critical are these signals for each other's development.

My research focused on signalling in a much shorter time period (within minutes) in combination with a longer time period (24hrs). Previous work has focused on longer time periods such as 12 or 24 hrs, and if shorter time periods were studied this was looking at above-ground regions such as leaf tissue and stomata (Qi *et al.* 2018, Yuan *et al.* 2021). Studying how rapidly stress signals appear in root systems is critical if we are to understand this aspect of plant development. It might be expected that ABA, ROS and auxin all show rapid signalling changes within minutes of osmotic stress stimuli.

Previous work has elucidated the important role PLS has in plant development as an auxinresponsive negative regulator of ethylene responses (Casson *et al.* 2002, Rowe *et al.* 2016). There remain gaps in our understanding of PLS's role in plant development, in particular it has not been fully studied how PLS affects cytokinin distribution. The first section of my thesis tests the role of POLARIS (PLS) in plant development via loss-of-function mutants, and then determines how cytokinin levels are affected, using a TCSn:GFP cytokinin reporter.

The second section of my thesis describes a further study of the role of auxin under osmotic stress. Auxin has been shown to play a key role in plant development under osmotic stress in combination with other hormones. However there has not been a detailed study on how quickly auxin patterns develop and influence plant development during osmotic stress. Short-term auxin response to osmotic stress has yet to be studied. This chapter focuses on studies using loss-of-function mutants (such as *pin3* and *pin7*) and fluorescent reporters to reveal the requirement for auxin during osmotic stress response.

The third section of my thesis focuses on the speed and temporal distribution of response of the critical stress hormone ABA under osmotic stress, in particular using the ABAleonSD1-3L21 reporter. How quickly ABA appears and how it could alter other hormones in this stress response is critical if we are to understand plant response to stress. I also study how ABA interacts with other signals via studying ABA response (using RT-qPCR) in ROS production mutants.

The fourth section of my thesis investigates the role of ROS in signalling and plant development under osmotic stress. ROS response in roots to osmotic stress is not well understood when compared to other signals, despite its key roles in stress signalling in stomata (Divreddy *et al.* 2020). Using loss-of-function mutants along with fluorescent reporters, key areas such as ROS production via RBOHs were analysed for their role osmotic stress response and plant development.

ROPs play a key role in plant development acting as switches that can convert stimuli into intracellular responses. There are number of questions remaining around how ROPs influence root development and hormonal crosstalk under osmotic stress. This could be a critical area which could reveal important new findings in abiotic stress response in plants. In the fifth section of my thesis, I study the role of ROPs in osmotic stress response using loss-of-function mutants and qRT-PCR to reveal how ROPs alter plant development and stress response.

Chapter 2. Methods and Materials

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Chemical Suppliers

All chemicals were supplied by Sigma Aldrich or Fisher Scientific unless otherwise stated.

2.1.2 Plant material

Seed stocks were obtained from the Keith Lindsey laboratory or from the Nottingham Arabidopsis Stock Centre (NASC) (Table 2.1). All mutant and reporter lines are in the Col-O background unless otherwise stated. T-DNA insertional mutants (SALK mutants) were checked for T-DNA insertion via PCR using primers including T-DNA Left-border (LB) and the target gene sequence (right primer, RP, and left primer, LP), only mutants with homozygous T-DNA insert were used.

Seed Line	Notes	Location
rbohd - SALK_074825C	rbohd mutant in Col background	NASC
<i>rbohf</i> - SALK_129025C	rbohf mutant in Col background	NASC
<i>rbohd/rbohf</i> (atrbohD/F)	rbohd/rbohf double mutant in	Courtesy of Alistair
	Col background	Hetherington (University of
		Bristol)
rbohc SALK_071801C	rbohc mutant in Col background	NASC
rbohi SALK_031831	rbohi mutant in Col background	NASC
perk4-1 SALK_034666C	perk4 mutant in Col background	NASC
rop6 SALK_091737C	rop6 mutant in Col background	NASC
rop2 SALK_055328C	rop2 mutant in Col background	NASC
upb1-2 SALK_133978C	upb1-2 mutant in Col background	NASC
upb1-1 SALK_115536	upb1-1 mutant in Col background	NASC
pin3	pin3 mutant in Col background	Keith Lindsey Lab
pin7	pin7 mutant in Col background	Keith Lindsey lab
pin3/pin7	<i>pin3/pin7</i> mutant in Col	Keith Lindsey lab
	background	
ABAleonSD1-3L21	ABA reporter in Col background	Courtesy of Karin
		Schumacher (Heidelberg
		University)
roGFP2-Orp1 cytosolic	Monitor of Oxidation in Col	Courtesy of Marcus
	background	Schwarzländer (University of
		Münster)
proPIN3:PIN3:GFP	Reporter of PIN3 in Col	Keith Lindsey Lab
	background	
proPIN7:PIN7:GFP	Reporter of PIN3 in Col	Keith Lindsey Lab
	background	
R2D2	Ratiometric auxin reporter in Col	NASC
	background	
TCSn:GFP	Synthetic Cytokinin Reporter in	NASC
	Col background	

Table 2.1 Seed stocks used in thesis

2.2 Plant tissue culture

2.2.1 Seed sterilisation

To ensure contamination-free experiments, seeds were surface sterilised. Seeds were placed in 1.5ml Eppendorf tube and washed with 70% v/v ethanol for 1 minute. Ethanol solution was replaced with bleach solution (20% v/v) and left for 15 minutes. Bleach solution was removed, and seeds were washed with sterile distilled water (sdH₂O) four times. Following washing, seed were stratified in 1ml of sdH₂O for 4-7 days in the dark at 4C°. This was to ensure synchronous germination.

2.2.2 Growth conditions

Seedlings were grown on 10cm square plates of agar media containing 1/2 MS Salts (Sigma, 2.2 g/l), MES buffer (Sigma, 6mM, 1.2 g/l) and high gel strength agar (Melford 5g/l) sealed with micropore tape. Seedlings were grown in SANYO growth cabinets (22C°, 18hr photoperiod).

Seven days after germination (DAG) seedlings were transferred to polyethylene glycol (PEG) infused $\frac{1}{2}$ MS agar plates with water potential of (ψ w) -0.14, -0.37 or -1.2 MPa, adapted from Rowe (2016) and Verslues *et al.* (2006). Plates were sealed with micropore tape and placed in growth room for 24hrs or 1 week depending on the form of experimentation (22°C, 18 hr photoperiod).

Rank and age play an important role in root growth response to water deficit conditions and ABA response (Rosales *et al.* 2019); as a result, seedling age was kept the same at 7 days.

2.3 Preparation of osmotic treatment

Polyethylene glycol (PEG) breaks down under high temperatures so cannot be autoclaved. As a result, ½ MS agar media (5g/L) was poured and left to dry. Once dried, an overlay solution containing PEG was poured over the media. 24 hours was then given for PEG to diffuse into the agar media.

Both agar media and overlay solution contained ½ MS salts and MES buffer and were adjusted to 5.7 pH. Once autoclaved, PEG-8000 was added to overlay solution.

40 ml of agar solution was poured into 10 cm square plates and allowed to dry. Following this, 60 ml of PEG overlay solution was poured on top. Plates were sealed with parafilm and given 24 hours to equilibrate. After 24 hours, overlay solution was removed, and seedlings were transferred to the PEG-infused media plates.

Desired osmotic pressure of the plates was achieved by adding certain level of PEG to overlay solution following protocol from Rowe *et al.* (2016) (Table 2.2).

Predicted final media water potential	PEG added to overlay
(ψ _w) of agar media (MPa)	solution (g/l)
-0.15 to -0.25 (Control)	0
-0.3 to -0.5 (Mild Stress)	250
-1.2 to -1.5 (High Stress)	550

Table 2.2 The mass of PEG required in 1 litre of overlay solution to achieve desired osmoticpressure (Verslues et al. 2006)

For confocal microscopy, 10% (w/v) PEG solution was created via dissolving PEG-8000 into imaging buffer (1g to 10ml). All other hormone treatment was created via adding stock solution to imaging buffer solution. Previous papers have used 5-20% (w/v) PEG solution to cause a decrease in water potential (Osmolovskaya *et al.* 2018). 10% (w/v) PEG solution was chosen as it is a comparable level of osmotic stress and MPa to that of the High Stress PEG agar plate (-1.2 to 1-5 MPa) (Michel 1983).

2.4 Hormone & chemical treatments

Chemical	Notes	Method of Preparation
Diphenylene iodonium (DPI)	An inhibitor of NADPH oxidase	Dissolve 31.5 mg DPI in 10 ml
	and other flavin-containing	DMSO
	enzymes	
N-1-naphthylphthalamic acid	An inhibitor of PIN-mediated	Dissolve 27.3 mg NPA in 10 ml
(NPA)	auxin transport	DMSO
Fluridone	An inhibitor of carotenoid	32.9 mg of fluridone was
	biosynthesis, a key ABA	dissolved in 10 ml of methanol
	biosynthesis pathway	and filter sterilised
Hydrogen Peroxide (H ₂ O ₂)	A key reactive oxygen species	4% (w/w) Hydrogen Peroxide
		diluted in water
Sorbitol	A sugar alcohol used for	Dissolved into water at desired
	osmotic stress treatment	concentration

Table 2.3. Hormone and chemical treatments at 10mM stocks

Hormones were made as 10 mM stocks and stored for a maximum of 6 weeks at 4°C.

For preparation of chemical treatment agar plates, media was melted and allowed to cool to around 40°C. Under a laminar flow hood, the cooled media was poured into 50ml falcon tubes where stock solutions were added to the required concentration. Falcon tube was gently inverted to allow for even distribution of chemical within media.

For chemical treatment in laser scanning microscopy, stocks solutions were added to imaging buffer solutions at room temperature.

2.5 DNA Extraction and Preparation

For genotyping and sequencing, crude genomic DNA extraction was used. A 1.5ml Eppendorf tube was used to pinch out a disc into the tube from a young leaf. Using a small, sterilized pestle, leaf material was ground in the bottom of the tube. Following this, 400ul of Extraction buffer (200 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 250 mM NaCl, 25 mM EDTA, and 0.5% SDS) was added. After debris was pelleted by centrifuge, 300ul of the supernatant was transferred into a fresh 1.5ml Eppendorf tube. 300µl of isopropanol was added to the supernatant and the solution was left for two minutes. The sample was then spun in a centrifuge for five minutes to pellet the DNA. The supernatant was removed, and the pellet was left to gently dry. 100µl of TE Buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8) and 1 mM EDTA) was added and the DNA pellet was dissolved. gDNA sample was then stored at -20C° until required.

2.6 RNA Extraction & cDNA Synthesis

20 mg of plant tissue was placed in a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. These samples are stored at -80C° until required. Plant tissue was ground using an autoclaved pestle.

mRNA was extracted from ground plant tissue using Dynabeads mRNA Purification Kit (Thermofisher). Kit specifically captures and purifies mRNA molecules from total RNA preparations. Ribosomal RNA and small RNA molecules do not bind to the beads and are discarded. Extracted RNA was analysed using a Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer.

cDNA is synthesised from mRNA directly off the Dynabeads using the SuperScript IV First Stand Synthesis System with Reverse Transcriptase (RT). cDNA samples were tested for genomic DNA contamination via PCR amplification using ACT2 primers designed over an intron (see Primer sequence elsewhere). cDNA samples were then diluted by 5 times with autoclaved MilliQ water to be used for qPCR.

2.7 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

2.7.1 Primers

Primers were designed using Primer-BLAST or taken from previous papers (Wang *et al.* 2015, Rowe *et al.* 2016) (<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast/</u>). Full list of primers is found in Table S1 in the appendix.
2.7.2 Standard PCR reaction

The following reaction used 2x PCRBIO Taq Mix Red to a 20 μ l Reaction (Table 2.4). The 2x mix contains PCRBIO Taq DNA Polymerase, 6 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM dNTPs, enhances, stabilizers and a red dye for tracking during agarose electrophoresis.

2x PCRBIO Taq Mix Red	10 µl
Forward primer (10 μM)	1 μl
Reverse primer (10 μM)	1 µl
Template DNA Sample	2 μl
PCR grade dH ₂ O	5 μl

Table 2.4. Reaction mixes for 1x PCR Reaction

A Pro-Flex PCR Applied Bio Systems (Thermofisher Scientific) machine was used with the following program (Table 2.5). Specific annealing temperature was chosen for each primer.

Step	Temperature (C°)	Time	Number of Cycles
Initial Denaturation	95	1 min	1
Denaturation	95	15 s	40
Anneal	55 to 65 depending on	15 s	
	primer pair		
Extension	72	1 to 90 s (15 s per	
		kb)	

Table 2.5. Programme used for PCR, run using a Pro-Flex PCR Machine

2.7.3 Gel electrophoresis

Following completion of the PCR reaction, DNA samples were visualised by size using gel electrophoresis. 1% w/v gels were created via dissolving Agarose into 1xTAE buffer (diluted 1 in 50 from 50X TAE Buffer: 242g Tris (50 mM), 37.2g, Na₂EDTA.2H₂O (2 M), 57.1 ml glacial acetic acid (1 M), in 1 L).

Ethidium bromide was added to a concentration of 0.5 μ g/ml. 2xPCR Bio contains mixed in loading buffer. Hyperladder of appropriate length was loaded into gel to help with visualisation. Gels were run for around 40 mins then imaged using a BioRad Gel-Doc 1000 (BioRad).

2.7.4 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)

qPCRBIO SyGreen Blue Mix Lo-ROX (PCR Biosystems) was used with a Qiagen Rotor-Gene Q for all qRT-PCR analyses.

Reaction mix for one reaction (20µl total) (Table 2.6):

2x qPCRBIO SyGreen Blue Mix	10 µl
Forward primer (10 μM)	0.8 μl
Reverse primer (10 µM)	0.8 μl
cDNA Sample	5 µl
PCR grade dH₂O	3.4 μl

Step	Temperature (C°)	Time	Number of Cycles
Polymerase activation	95	2 mins	1
Denaturation	95	5s	40 Data captured on
			FAM channel
Anneal/Extension	60-65 (depending on	20-30s	
	primer pair)		
Melt analysis	50-90	3 mins at 50°C,	
		then increase	
		10C° every 5 s	

Table 2.6. Reaction mix for 1x qPCR reaction

Table 2.7. Programme used for qRT-PCR, run using a Rotor-Gene Q Machine

Samples from three or four biological replicates were amplified, with each reaction having three technical replicate reactions. Amplification specificity was checked using the analysis of melt curves in the Rotor-Gene Q series software v1.7. Using a method outlined by Taylor *et al.* (2019), normalized relative expression was calculated from the three technical repeats relative to the amplification of a reference gene in Microsoft Excel. Outliers were removed.

AT5G15710 was selected as a reference gene. This is due to the stability of its expression patterns under osmotic stress, hormone application and at various developmental stages (Czechowski *et al.* 2005).

2.8 Primary seedling growth length analysis

Seedling were plated on sterilized nylon mesh material. Seedlings were transferred to treatment plates after one week post germination via mesh material. On the bottom of each plate, the site of the primary root tip was marked with a permanent marker on every seedling. From this mark the distance of primary root growth was measured. Scans of plates were taken following one week's growth on treatment plates. These images were then analysed via ImageJ. Once an accurate scale was set, length was measured via segmented line. Number of lateral roots on each seedling was also counted.

2.9 Microscopy

2.9.1 Laser Confocal Scanning Microscopy (LCSM)

Seedlings were examined using a Zeiss LCSM 800 or LCSM 880 (https://www.zeiss.com/microscopy/int/home.html). Roots were imaged using either a x10 or x20 air objective lens. Z-stacks were taken of each seedling to gain the maximum information possible. Settings such as gain, line, Zstep, averaging etc. were altered between each fluorescent reporter to optimise image quality and consistency. These settings were kept the same between individual seedlings of a reporter line to ensure fair comparison.

2.9.2 Steady state imaging

After 7 days growth on agar medium, seedlings were either transferred with forceps to a 10-minute solution treatment or a 24-hour agar plate treatment. For the 10-minute treatment, seedlings were immersed to either a control imaging solution (10 mM MES–Tris base (pH 5.8), 10 mM CaCl₂, 5 mM KCl) or an imaging solution containing PEG/Sorbitol etc. Following 10 minutes of immersion in control/treatment, seedlings were transferred to a slide. The longer 24-hour treatment, seedlings were transferred to a control agar plate or a plate with a treatment. Following 24-hours of treatment, seedlings were transferred to a slide and imaged immediately.

On the slide, seedlings were suspended in imaging solution before the placement of a cover slip (22x22, 0.13-0.16mm thick). To prevent damage of the seedling by compression of the lens on the coverslip, two additional thinner cover slips (22x22, 0.13-0.16mm thick) were placed either side of the root before placement of the top cover slip. Cover slips were sealed and secured with nail polish.

Excitation of fluorophores was performed as follows

Fluorophore/Dye	Excitation/Laser	
	Line (nm)	
Calcofluor White	405	
YFP/Venus	488 or 514	
GFP	488	
tdTomato	543	
Propidium Iodide	543	
mTurqouoise	458	
cpVenus173	458	
roGFP2-Orp1	405/458	

Table 2.8. Excitation of fluorophores and dyes for LCSM

2.9.3 Preparation of fixed samples using ClearSee

Following 24hr treatment, instead of immediately imaging on that day; TCSn:GFP, *pls-3/*TCSn:GFP, R2D2, proPIN3:PIN3:GFP and proPIN7:PIN7:GFP seedlings were fixed using the ClearSee method previously described by Kurihara *et al.* (2015). The ClearSee protocol enables rapid fixing and clearing of plant tissues whilst retaining the activity of fluorescent proteins and is compatible with various fluorescent dyes (Ursache *et al.* 2018)

To prepare 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde (PFA) solution for the fixing procedure. In a fume hood, 4g of PFA powder is added to 1L of 1x phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) solution on a magnetic stirrer and heated to around 6OC°. To ensure the PFA powder is dissolved, the pH is raised using a 1M KOH solution until the solution is clear. The pH is then adjusted to 6.9 with 1M HCL solution. The solution is cooled and filtered before use. The PFA solution was used fresh or kept a 4C° and used within a week.

Seedlings were transferred with forceps to the 4% (w/v) PFA solution where they were fixed under vacuum for 30 mins. Following fixation, seedlings were washed in 1X PBS solution twice before the addition of ClearSee solution, where they were again placed under vacuum for 30 mins.

ClearSee solution was prepared via mixing together xyltiol (10% w/v), sodium deoxycholate (15% w/v) and urea (25% w/v) and H_2O in a solution for 30 mins. Fixed seedlings were left in ClearSee solution at room temperature for at least a week with the ClearSee replaced every few days. Following clearing, seedlings were stained and imaged.

To visualise cell structure and organisation under LCSM, cleared seedlings were submerged in 0.1% (w/v) Calcoflour White in ClearSee solution for 30 minutes. Following staining, Calcolfuor White solution was replaced by ClearSee and seedlings were washed for another 30 minutes. For LCSM, fixed seedlings were mounted on sides in ClearSee solution using coverslip placement previously described.

2.10 Analysis of confocal images

Images were opened and analysed in FIJI (FIJI is Just Image J). Analysis was conducted as follows. Ratiometric reporters were calculated using Image Calculator

(https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/docs/menus/process.html#calculator) which using arithmetic and logical operations is able to create a ratio between two channels. The polygon tool was used to select regions on the root for analysis. Mean grey value was used as a measurement of the fluorescent ratio.

2.10.1 Analysis of R2D2 reporter lines

R2D2 (Ratio-metric version of 2 D2s) is a combination of RPS5A-driven DII fused to n3xVenus and RPS5A-driven mDII fused to ntdTomato on a single transgene (Liao *et al.* 2015). Auxin is measured as the as the change in ratio of fluorescence between the two channels. An auxin increase is measured by a reduction of the Venus signal relative to the steady dTomato signal.

The ratio between Venus and dTomato signals was calculated via the Image Calculator function of ImageJ. The dTomato channel SUM-STACK image was divided by the Venus SUM-STACK image, resulting in an image that was analysed to calculate a ratio.

2.10.2 Analysis of proPIN3::PIN3:GFP, proPIN7::PIN7:GFP, TCSn:GFP and *pls*-*3*/TCSn:GFP

The polygon tool in ImageJ was used to select regions and fluorescence (mean grey area) was measured. To calculate internalisation, mean green channel intensity was measured at the cell membrane and in the intracellular region of the cell to find a ratio of fluorescence between cell membrane and cytoplasm.

2.10.3 Analysis of ABAleonSD1-3L21 and roGFP2-Orp1

ABAleon uses PYR1 fused to a truncated ABI1 as a sensory domain linked to mTurquoise (FRET donor) and circularly permutated Venus (cpVenus, FRET acceptor), these are modulated upon ABA binding, triggering changes in fluorescence emission (Isoda *et al.* 2021).

Without ABA, ABAleon is able to have FRET to occur between mTurquoise to cpVenus. ABA triggers an increase in the distance between probes, resulting reduced FRET efficiency (Waadt *et al.* 2014). Increase in ABA increases mTurquoise and decreases cpVenus173 emission, resulting in a decrease in emission ratios. Low ratios indicate high ABA concentrations and high ratios indicate low ABA concentrations (Waadt *et al.* 2014). ABAleonSD1-3L21 is an improved version of ABAleon, with a faster response to ABA than that of ABACUS1-2u (Isoda *et al.*2021), thought its presence might alter ABA signalling to some effect (Waadt *et al.* 2020). ABAleonSD1-3L21 was excited at 458nm, mTurquoise emission was recorded at 465-505nm and cpVenus173 emission was recorded at 520-550nm. Emission ratio was then calculated by cpVenus173 divided by mTurquoise emission.

ROS sensors such as Hyper are pH sensitive and therefore unreliable in certain situations (Schwarzlander *et al.* 2008). roGFP2-Orp1 was used as it displays insensitivity to pH changes and displays rapid intracellular oxidation changes. Cytosolic roGFP2-Orp1 was excited at 405 and 488nm and emission was recorded at 510-530nm, with the pinhole set to 0.7AU. Cytosolic oxidation state was measured by calculating the ratio between 405/488 laser emission in ImageJ. Autofluorescence was collected at 430-470 nm and removed via ImageJ. An increase in the 405/488 ratio represented an increase in oxidation. Dynamic monitoring of specifically of H₂O₂ is only possible under the assumption that reduction rate remains constant. Potentially changes in oxidation may not be H₂O₂ induced but rather the changes in cytosolic antioxidant capacity. As a result, roGFP2-Orp1 cannot be used as a direct H₂O₂ sensor in cytosol but will give us a representation of oxidation levels (Nietzel *et al.* 2019). roGFP2-Orp1 was tested via treatment of 20mM DTT (reducing) and 100mM H₂O₂ (oxidising) to check if the reporter was working.

2.11 CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing of POLARIS (gPLS; At4g39403)

This work was performed in collaboration with Dr Johan T.M. Kroon, Department of Biosciences, Durham University.

2.11.1 Molecular construction of CRISPR/Cas9 plant vector with 2 *POLARIS (PLS)* guide RNAs

For CRISPR/Cas9-mediated generation of *pls* mutants, two gRNA spacer sequences on the - strand were chosen as Cas9 targets: for *pls*; target 1 (5'- CCATTGAtcaccctatcatttt -3') and target 2 (5'- CCATTCTCCATGTTATATATCA -3') were chosen.

Target specificities were evaluated with CAS-OFFINDER, using an algorithm for potential off target sites of Cas9 RNA-guided endonucleases (Bae *et al.* 2014). The *PLS* expression module, was constructed via PCR using pCBC-DT1T2 as a template according to Xing *et al.* (2014) and Golden Gate assembled into the custom vector pJK PMCEE401E (*to be published*) allowing egg cell-specific EC1.2en:EC1.1 promoter-controlled expression of 3× FLAG-NLS573 zCas9-NLS46.

PCR primers incorporating the target sequences and a Type IIS restriction enzyme sequence (*Bsa*I) were combined with the plasmid pCBC-DT1T2-PCR0 as a template to generate a 626 bp PCR product producing a gene expression module for two pls gRNAs decorated with a U6-26tail for the target 1 gRNA and a U6-29promoter for target 2 gRNA (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1B

Figure 2.1A Genomic DNA sequence of the POLARIS (PLS), At4g39403. Translational Start/Stop domain highlighted in Blue. Exon in green CAPITAL letters. UTR in red lowercase letters. The PAM domains are highlighted green, and the two chosen gRNA spacer sequences are highlighted in yellow. **Figure 2.1B**. Sequence of gene expression module two *pls* gRNAs decorated with a U6-26tail for the target 1 gRNA and a U6-29promoter for target 2 gRNA in *Arabidopsis*

This product was then purified and in turn incorporated into pJK_PMCEE401E vector (provided by Dr. Johan Kroon, Durham University) using a Golden Gate reaction. The pJK PMCEE401E vector will allow selection of positively transformed plants via fluorescence microscopy screening for red fluorescent seeds (dried) instead of using more time consuming and expensive antibiotic screening of seedlings in tissue culture.

E.coli cells were transformed with the ligation product, and recombinants were selected colony PCR and validated through DNA sequencing.

The *PLS*-CRISPR/Cas9 construct was transformed into *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain GV3101/pMP90 via electroporation and used in floral dip plant transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 WT plants, synthetic cytokinin reporter line plants, (TCSn:GFP) and ratiometric auxin-reporter line (R2D2) plants in order to generate single *pls* -CRISPR knock-out mutants.

T1 seed was obtained and screened for positive independent transformants via fluorescence microscopy screening of dried seeds for red fluorescence

Genomic DNA was extracted from T1, T2 and T3 transgenic plants grown in soil. To analyse CRISPR/Cas9 generated genomic editing events, fragments surrounding the target sites were amplified by PCR using gene-specific primers *gPLS CRISPR F* and *gPLS CRISPR R*. Products were submitted for amplicon sequencing using nested primers (*gPLS CRISPR seq F* or *gPLS CRISPR seq R*) to identify the nature and genetic status of mutations. The sequences of the primers used are provided in Table 2.9. DNA sequencing was performed by Durham University Biosciences Genomics

As one *pls* mutant is already isolated (Casson *et al.* 2002), the new CRISPR/Cas9 mutants are called *pls-2* and *pls-3/*TCSn:GFP, representing independent CRISPR/Cas9 editing events.

Primer Name	Sequence	Description
gPLS DT1 F	ATATATGGTCTCGATTGaaaatgatag	Golden gate cloning of gPLS-DT1DT2
	ggtgaTCAAGTTTTAGAGCTAGAAA	gRNA expression module into
	TAGC	pJK_PMCEE401E
gPLS DT2 R	ATTATTGGTCTCGAAACTTTCTCCA	Golden gate cloning of gPLS-DT1DT2
	TGTTATATATCCAATCTCTTAGTCG	gRNA expression module into
	ACTCTAC	pJK_PMCEE401E
gPLS CRISPR F	gttccacttaatatattagtattgg	Genotyping of gPLS CRISPR-Cas9 targets
		1 and 2
gPLS CRISPR R	ctatatacttattactgatgaaattgaacc	Genotyping of gPLS CRISPR-Cas9 targets
		1 and 2
gPLS CRISPR seq F	gaagagcacgtgaggcacacg	Sequencing of gPLS CRISPR-Cas9 targets
		1 and 2
gPLS CRISPR seq R	gaaaatgatagggtgaTCAATGG	Sequencing of gPLS CRISPR-Cas9 targets
		1 and 2

Table 2.9. Sequences of Primers used in CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing of PLS

2.12 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis and plotting were carried out in R Studio. The statistical tests used are detailed on the figures. 0.05 level of significance was used.

Chapter 3. The role of PLS in root development

3.1 Introduction

POLARIS (PLS) is a small peptide that acts as a negative regulator of ethylene responses. PLS likely regulates the interaction of ethylene receptor ETR1 and its copper cofactor. Previously a *pls* mutant was developed and found to display normal level of ethylene biosynthesis but have a short root enhanced ethylene phenotype. PLS has been shown to act as a molecular site of crosstalk between auxin, cytokinin and ethylene responses (Chilley *et al.* 2006, Liu *et al.* 2014).

PLS expression was shown to decrease under osmotic stress conditions (Rowe *et al.* 2016), thought to be caused by lowering auxin and increased ethylene levels. Lowered PLS expression likely decreases promotion of auxin in the root tip and enhances the ethylene pathway (Rowe *et al.* 2016, Chilley *et al.* 2006). This previous study uses a *pls-1* mutant that was developed in the C24 *Arabidopsis* background, which has been shown to display tolerance to abiotic stresses (Bechtold *et al.* 2018). As a result, a new *pls* mutant was developed in the Col-0 background via targeting using CRISPR-Cas9 genome targeting and was called *pls-2*. This was developed in order to analyse the role of PLS in the Col-0 background under osmotic stress. Unfortunately, not enough time was available to study the how *pls-2* performs under osmotic stress conditions.

There remain large gaps of knowledge of how ethylene and cytokinin interact with each other (Iqbal *et al.* 2017). It is important to study how cytokinin is altered by the absence of PLS, a key negative regulator of ethylene response. As a result, the *pls-3* mutant was developed in the synthetic cytokinin reporter TCSn:GFP (Liu and Muller 2017) via CRISPR Cas9 genome targeting (*pls-3*/TCSn:GFP). This enables study of cytokinin levels within the *pls* mutant.

In order to understand the role of PLS in root development, I aimed to analyse the primary root growth in *pls-2* mutant seedlings in the dark. To reveal the role PLS plays in cytokinin distribution, TCSn:GFP distribution in *pls-3* mutant will be studied via LCSM.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Loss of PLS alters seedling growth in the dark

Figure (3.1) shows that the *pls-2* mutant has significantly shorter shoots and roots when compared to Col-0 after 1 week's growth in the dark following germination (p<0.05). When studying shoot length and root length against each other, the *pls-2* mutant has significantly larger shoot:root ratio when compared to Col-0 after growth in the dark (p<0.05). These observations are consistent with an enhanced ethylene response expected for the *pls* mutant (Chilley *et al.* 2006).



not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001).

3.2.2 PLS influences TCSn:GFP distribution

TCSn:GFP is a synthetic cytokinin reporter that allows the visualization of cytokinin in plant roots without the need for tissue processing steps (Liu and Muller 2017). By removing PLS function via

CRISPR-Cas9 genome targeting in TCSn:GFP, it was possible to visualise how the presence/absence of PLS alters cytokinin distribution in TCSn:GFP. Results show that *pls-3*/TCSn:GFP has an increased fluorescence in both the entire root (non-significant) and in the QC (t-test, near p=0.05) indicating that cytokinin levels rise if the *pls* mutant is absent (Figure 3.2, 3.3).







3.3 Summary

PLS appears to play a key role in root development, with the *pls-2* mutant demonstrating significantly smaller roots and shoots when compared with Col-0.

PLS function has a significant impact on cytokinin distribution as the *pls-3* mutant displays higher levels of TCSn:GFP distribution when compared to the control.

Chapter 4. The role of auxin and its distribution under osmotic stress

4.1 Introduction

The role of auxin is critical in root development. Maintaining high auxin concentration in the root QC and stem cell nice is critical for the coordination and establishment of growth (Clark *et al.* 2014). Previous work has identified that auxin levels reduce under osmotic stress condition, likely due to the modulation of auxin transporter levels/distribution, which contributes to a reduction in root growth. PIN1 levels were found to reduce under osmotic stress in an ABA-dependent manner (Rowe *et al.* 2016).

There remain a number of questions of how auxin levels change under osmotic stress, in particular the response within minutes to osmotic stress. Using auxin reporter R2D2 it was possible to study the response of auxin to osmotic stress in detail. The roles of PIN3 and PIN7 have yet to be analysed in their role in root development under osmotic stress. How the process of auxin oxidation alters osmotic stress response has also not been studied in detail.

How ROS alter auxin response to osmotic stress has not received much attention. ROS have previously been shown to have an important impact on auxin, as result auxin response was studied in the *rbohc* mutant. It is also important to see whether key cellular signalling components ROP2 plays a role in the decrease in auxin under osmotic stress.

In order to understand how roots are altered by osmotic stress, seven days after germination (DAG) seedlings were transferred to ½ MS agar containing high molecular weight polyethylene glycol (PEG). This gives us the opportunity to study the impact of osmotic stress independently of other stresses that salt/mechanical etc that can result from dry soil. A similar protocol of Rowe *et al.* (2016) was followed, with two osmotic stress treatments – a moderate stress (-0.37 MPa) and a severe stress (-1.2 MPa). Control plates with no PEG were found to have an osmotic pressure of -0.14MPA.

Using osmotic stress media, primary seedling root length and number of lateral roots were analysed in Col-0 seedlings to determine my own study and reinforce previous results (Rowe *et al.* 2016)

In order to understand auxin level response to osmotic stress in both short term (10 mins) and after 24hrs were assessed using fluorescent reporter R2D2 via LCSM. The PIN-transporter inhibitor NPA was used to assess the role of PIN transport under osmotic stress, and to determine whether its inhibition has an impact on auxin levels.

To understand how auxin transport via PIN3 and PIN7 distribution was altered by osmotic stress, proPIN3:PIN3:GFP and proPIN7:PIN7:GFP were studied under osmotic stress. *PIN3* and *PIN7* expression was studied under osmotic stress conditions via qRT-PCR.

The primary root growth of auxin mutants *pin3*, *pin7*, *pin3/pin7* and *dao1* mutants was assessed under osmotic stress conditions, to determine how critical auxin transport and oxidation is for osmotic stress response.

Both the role of RBOHC and ROP2 in auxin response to osmotic stress was assessed via qRT-PCR of auxin-responsive gene *IAA2* in *rbohc* and *rop2* mutants. This aimed to determine whether the presence of these proteins is critical for the decrease in *IAA2* levels that has previously been observed (Rowe *et al.* 2016).

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Osmotic stress results in a reduction of primary root growth and the number of lateral roots





Under mild and high osmotic stress, we see a significant reduction in length of primary root growth after 1 week, when compared to control conditions (Figure 4.1) (p<0.05). There is also a reduction in the number of lateral roots under both mild and high osmotic stress conditions when compared to control conditions (Figure 4.2) (p<0.05). This indicates that osmotic stress has a strong negative

impact on root development, especially under high stress conditions.

4.2.2 R2D2 response under osmotic stress

R2D2 (Ratiometric version of 2 D2s) is a useful auxin reporter which contains a combination of RPS5a-driven DII fused to 3xVenus and RSP5-driven mDII fused to ntdTomato on a single transgene (Liao *et al.* 2015). It is possible to visualise auxin accumulation via the reduction of the Venus signal relative to the dTomato signal. Changes in auxin levels are possible to be measured via the change in the ratio of fluorescence between the two channels.

Using the R2D2 reporter it was possible to study the response of auxin within minutes of osmotic stress stimuli, in the form of 10% PEG solution in which the seedlings were placed. Within the 10 - minute osmotic stress treatment, there is a significant increase in the mDII-ndTomato/DII-n3xVenus ratio in R2D2 when compared to control (Figure 4.3) (p<0.01). This indicates a significant increase in auxin levels in the short term in response to osmotic stress.







Figure 4.6

Figure 4.3. The change in R2D2 mDII-ndTomato/DII-n3xVenus ratio after 10 minutes of control and 10% PEG treatment. Figure 4.4 & 4.4. The levels of R2D2 mDII-ndTomato/DII-n3xVenus ratio after 24hrs or control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions. In combination with control (DMSO) or 50nM NPA treatment.
Figure 4.5. 20x Confocal images of R2D2 under 24hr (A) control and (B) high osmotic stress conditions (Red = mDII-ndTomato, Green = DII-n3xVenus, Blue = Calc W staining). For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), dark circle within the box represents the mean, a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Stars and brackets indicate significance from t-test of treatment compared to control (NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001). Anova performed with significance detailed.

Under 24 hours of high osmotic stress treatment, when compared to the control we see a significant decrease in the mDII-ndTomato/DII-n3xVenus ratio, indicating a decrease in auxin levels under longer term osmotic stress (Figure 4.4) (p<0.05). Mild osmotic stress treatment appears to have little impact on auxin levels after 24hrs, represented by little change in R2D2 levels.

Treatment with direct PIN-transport inhibitor N-1-napthylphtalalmic acid NPA (50nM) has a significant reduction on the mDII-ndTomato/DII-n3xVenus ratio in R2D2, in control, mild and high stress osmotic conditions when compared with their respective control (DMSO) treatments (Figure 4.5) (p<0.01, p<0.01, p<0.01). This indicates that treatment with NPA leads to a significant reduction in auxin at the root tip.

In 50 nM NPA-treated plants, the root tip experiences little change in the Tomato/Venus fluorescence ratio after 24 hr mild and high osmotic stress conditions when compared to the control. This indicates that osmotic stress has little impact on auxin levels within NPA treated roots as auxin levels are already heavily reduced.

4.2.3 proPIN3:PIN3:GFP and proPIN7:PIN7:GFP analysis under osmotic stress





proPIN7:PIN7:GFP under control (A) and high (B) osmotic stress conditions, roots were stained with propidium iodide prior to imaging. Figure 4.9 PIN3:GFP and PIN7:GFP whole root fluorescence (assessed via mean grey value on ImageJ) under 24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions. Figure 4.10 Level of polarisation (represented by membrane/cytosol ratio) in PIN3:GFP and PIN7:GFP in the quiescent centre (QC) of the root tip under 24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions. For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), dark circle within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Stars indicate significance from t-test of treatment compared to control (NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001).

The role of PIN3 and PIN7 in auxin transport under osmotic stress has not previously been studied. Seedlings expressing *proPIN3:PIN3:GFP* and *proPIN7:PIN7:GFP* were analysed under 24 hr osmotic stress conditions using confocal microscopy, to determine whether PIN3 or PIN7 levels or distribution changes to facilitate the reduction in auxin levels. PIN3:GFP showed little change in total fluorescence in the root tip under osmotic stress, indicating PIN3 levels may remain constant under osmotic stress (Figure 4.9). To examine whether PIN3 may be shifted from the cytosol to the plasma membrane, fluorescence was measured in both the plasma membrane and the cytosol in regions of the root tip. The mean level of membrane fluorescence was divided by mean cytosol fluorescence to achieve a membrane/cytosol ratio, which represents the level of PIN polarisation. In the quiescent centre (QC) of the root tip, PIN3:GFP distribution see a significant increase in membrane polarisation under high osmotic stress conditions when compared to the control (Figure 4.10) (p<0.01). Under mild stress we see an increase in polarisation, but it is not statistically significant.

Under 24 hour high osmotic stress, we see a significant decrease in total PIN7:GFP fluorescence levels in the root tip when compared to control conditions (Figure 4.9) (p<0.05). This indicates that PIN7 expression in the root tip decreases under 24 hrs of high osmotic stress. Under mild osmotic stress conditions we do not see a significant change in PIN7:GFP levels. There is no significant change in PIN7 polarisation in the QC under osmotic stress conditions, indicating that there is little shift in PIN7 from cytosol to plasma membrane (Figure 4.10).



4.2.4 PIN3 and PIN7 expression under osmotic stress

To further understand the role of PIN3 and PIN7 under osmotic stress conditions, quantitative RT-PCR was conducted studying the transcript levels of both under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions. We see a significant decrease in *PIN3* expression under high osmotic stress conditions when compared to the control (p<0.05), and a non-significant decrease under mild stress. *PIN7* shows a decrease in expression under mild and high osmotic stress although it was not significant when compared to the control (Figure 4.11).

4.2.5 *pin3, pin7, pin3/pin7 and dao1* mutants primary root growth under osmotic stress







The primary root length of auxin transport mutants was analysed under osmotic stress conditions and compared against the performance of Col-0 (WT). Root systems were imaged 1 week after transfer to treatment plates. When compared to Col-0 WT, the *pin3* mutant performs significantly worse in root growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 4.12A) (p<0.05). Osmotic stress appears to have no impact on the *pin3* mutant, with root growth remaining constant between all three conditions (Figure 4.12B). The *pin7* mutant does not appear to play a strong role in osmotic stress response as there is little difference when compared to the WT in all stress conditions (Figure 4.12A). The *pin7* mutant shares a similar response to osmotic stress as the WT, with high osmotic stress have a significant impact on root growth (Figure 4.12B) (p<0.001). The *pin3/pin7* double mutant appears to have little difference in root length after one week under osmotic stress when compared to WT (Figure 4.12A). This is a surprising result as the individual *pin3* mutant performs significantly worse. Interestingly the *pin3/pin7* double mutant has limited response to osmotic stress, with little difference between control, mild and high osmotic stress (Figure 4.12B). DAO1 plays a key role in the irreversible oxidation of IAA-amino acids conjugates. The auxin oxidation mutant *dao1-1* performs significantly better under control and high osmotic stress conditions when compared to Col-0 WT (Figure 4.12A) (p<0.05). Interestingly at mild osmotic stress, the *dao1-1* mutant performs significantly worse than the WT (p<0.05). The *dao1-1* mutant is significantly altered by mild osmotic stress (p<0.05), but under high osmotic stress shows no difference from the mutant under control conditions (Figure 4.12B).

4.2.6 The role of RBOHC and ROP2 in auxin response to osmotic stress

Comparing the expression of auxin-responsive gene *IAA2* in Col-0, *rbohc* and *rop2* mutants it appears there is little difference between them. This indicates that under control conditions, both RBOHC and ROP2 play little role in maintaining auxin levels (Figure 4.13).

In the WT (Col-0) there is a significant decrease in auxin-responsive gene *IAA2* expression under high osmotic stress when compared to control conditions, indicating that auxin levels are decreasing (Figure 4.14) (p<0.05). Mild stress has a near significant negative impact on *IAA2* expression levels.

In the *rbohc* mutant we see a non-significant increase in *IAA2* in response to mild and high osmotic stress. This indicates that RBOHC may play a key role in the reduction we see in *IAA2* in the wildtype under osmotic conditions as this is a significant shift in performance (Figure 4.14).

In the *rop2* mutant, we see a significant increase in *IAA2* expression levels under high osmotic stress when compared to control conditions (Figure 4.14) (p<0.05). Under mild stress we also see an increase in expression, although not significant. This is a large change from the reduction of auxin we see in the wildtype (Col-0). ROP2 may play a key role in the reduction of auxin under osmotic stress, without its presence auxin levels appear to increase.



Figure (4.13) Normalized fold expression of auxin-responsive gene *IAA2* when compared to Col-0 (WT) in *rbohc* and *rop2* loss-of-function mutants under control conditions. Expression levels were normalized using reference gene AT5G15710, relative fold expression was then calculated via $\Delta\Delta$ CT transformation, comparing expression to the relative control sample. **Figure (4.14)** Normalized fold expression of auxin-responsive gene *IAA2* under 24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress treatment in Col-0 (WT), *rbohc* and *rop2* loss-of-function mutants. Expression levels were normalized using reference gene AT5G15710, relative fold expression was then calculated via $\Delta\Delta$ CT transformation, comparing expression to the relative control sample. For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), dark circle within the box represents the geometric mean, a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Brackets indicate significance from t-test of treatment compared to control (NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001)

4.2.7 Summary

In both one week mild and high osmotic stress conditions there is a significant reduction in primary root growth and lateral root number (Figure 4.1, Figure 4.2), indicating that both mild and high osmotic stress have a negative impact on root development.

Within 10 mins of high osmotic stress treatment, there is a significant increase in the ndTomato/n3xVenus ratio in R2D2, indicating a significant increase in auxin levels in the short-term response to osmotic stress (Figure 4.3).

Following 24 hours of high osmotic stress there is seen a significant decrease in the ndTomato/n3xVenus ratio in R2D2 indicating a reduction in auxin in the root tip. Mild osmotic stress has a limited impact on R2D2 levels, suggesting auxin levels are not altered by mild osmotic stress (Figure 4.4).

Treatment with PIN-transport inhibitor NPA leads to a significant reduction in ndTomato/n3xVenus ratio in R2D2 in both control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions when compared to their control (DMSO) treatments. In the NPA-treated roots, there is little change in the ndTomato/n3xVenus ratio in 24 hr mild and osmotic stress conditions when compared to the NPA-treated control. These results indicate that the application of NPA leads to a significant reduction in auxin at the root tip in all conditions, furthermore, when roots have been treated with NPA there is little change under osmotic stress conditions as the auxin levels are already heavily reduced (Figure 4.4, Figure 4.5).

proPIN3:PIN3:GFP plants display a significant increase in PIN3 membrane/cytosol fluorescence ratio indicating a significant increase in polarisation under high osmotic stress conditions. Under mild stress there is an increase in polarisation but it is not statistically significant (Figure 4.10). There is a significant decrease in proPIN7:PIN7:GFP expression levels under high osmotic stress, indicating a reduction in PIN7-mediated auxin transport (Figure 4.9). *PIN3* expression is significantly reduced under high osmotic stress conditions when compared to the control. Under mild osmotic stress there is a reduction in *PIN3*, but it is not significant. There is also a non-significant reduction in *PIN7* expression under mild and high osmotic stress (Figure 4.11). Both these results indicate there is a reduction in PIN3 and PIN7 auxin transport under osmotic stress.

Auxin transport protein PIN3 appears to have a significant impact in on root development in normal conditions and under osmotic stress, as the *pin3* mutant performs significantly worse in root growth under one week control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions when compared to Col-0. Osmotic stress appears to have no impact on *pin3* mutants root growth, as under all conditions the root length remained constant (Figure 4.12).

PIN7 does not appear to have a significant role in root development or in the root response to osmotic stress. The *pin7* mutant in all conditions shares similar primary root length to the Col-0 control after one week (Figure 4.12).

The *pin3/pin7* double mutant performance under control, mild and osmotic stress conditions is similar to that of the Col-0 WT. The double mutant does have a more limited response to osmotic stress conditions as mild and high osmotic stress does not have a significant impact when compared to the control (Figure 4.12).

The role of auxin oxidation appears to be critical in root development in control conditions and under osmotic stress conditions. The *dao1-1* mutant has significantly greater primary root growth under control and high stress conditions compared to the Col-0 WT. The *dao1-1* mutant is unaltered in root growth by high osmotic stress but under mild osmotic stress displays significantly reduced root growth compared to the control (Figure 4.12).

In Col-0 WT, the auxin-responsive gene *IAA2* is significantly reduced under high osmotic stress, indicating that auxin levels are decreasing. In *rbohc* and *rop2* mutants we see a non-significant and significant increase respectively in *IAA2* levels under high osmotic stress. This indicates that RBOHC and ROP2 have an important role in the reduction of auxin seen under osmotic stress (Figure 4.14).

Chapter 5. The response of ABA under osmotic stress

5.1 Introduction

ABA has shown to play a crucial role in abiotic stress response, in particular in root development under osmotic stress. ABA levels were found to increase under osmotic stress, leading to a reduction in PIN1 levels in the root tip, overriding the effects of ethylene (Rowe *et al.* 2016). Despite this work, there remain a number of areas that require more study if we are to have a better understanding of osmotic stress response. It is important to study how quickly ABA response develops in the roots; to confirm whether the increase that we see within 24 hrs is a process that take place rapidly or a slow increase. It is important to assess how other signals such as ROS or the absence of ROPs alters ABA response to osmotic stress.

In order to understand how quickly ABA response develops in *Arabidopsis* roots, ABAleonSD1-3L21 was studied at 10 minutes under osmotic stress conditions, and after the application of H_2O_2 . To further elucidate ABA response to osmotic stress and ROS, ABAleonSD1 was also studied after 24hrs of osmotic stress, 10mM H2O2 application, and after treatment with RBOH-inhibiting diphenylene iodonium (DPI).

To determine the system-wide ABA response to osmotic stress, and the influence of ROS production and ROP function in this response, ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* was studied in Col-0 (WT) and in *rbohc, rbohi* and *rop2* mutants after 24 hrs of mild and high osmotic stress treatment.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 ABAleonSD1-3L21 response to osmotic stress

Without ABA present, ABAleon is capable of FRET occurring between mTurquoise to cpVenus. ABA triggers an increase in the distance between probes, resulting reduced FRET efficiency (Waadt *et al.* 2014). An increase in ABA leads to an increase in mTurquoise and a decrease in cpVenus173 emission, resulting in a decrease in emission ratio (Waadt *et al.* 2014). Low ratios indicate high ABA concentrations and high ratios indicate low ABA concentrations (Waadt *et al.* 2014).

There is a small non-significant decrease in ABAleonSD1-3L21 levels, representing a small increase in ABA levels, within 10 minutes under osmotic stress (10% PEG solution), indicating that ABA levels are increasing but not by a large margin. Exogenous H_2O_2 treatment (10mM) leads to a significant decrease in ABAleonSD1 therefore a clear increase in ABA within 10 minutes (Figure 5.1 A) (p<0.05)

Under 24hrs of osmotic stress and 10mM H_2O_2 treatment, there is a significant decrease in emission ratio of ABAleonSD1-3L21 when compared to the control (Figure 5.1 B) (p<0.05). This indicates that there is a significant increase in ABA levels under 24hr high osmotic stress and 10mM H_2O_2 treatment in the root tip.

The decrease in ABAleonSD1-3L21 ratio (representing ABA increase) that is seen under osmotic stress in 24hrs is not seen under RBOH inhibitor Diphenylene Iodonium (DPI) treatment (10 μ M DPI). In fact, under 10 μ M DPI we see a much lower level of ABAleonSD1-3L21 ratio in the non-osmotic treatment when compared to the control (DMSO) (p<0.05) and a slight increase the ratio following osmotic stress treatment (Figure 5.1 C). This suggests that DPI treatment causes an increase in ABA levels. It appears that osmotic stress is unable to alter ABA levels in DPI treated roots, in fact causes a small non-significant decrease in ABA.



Figure 5.1 Analysis of ABAleonSD1-3L21 in the root tip under osmotic stress conditions. The level of ABA is calculated by ratio mTurquoise/cpVenus173 emission ratio. Low ratios indicate high ABA concentrations and high ratios indicate low ABA concentrations. **(A)** ABAleonSD1-3L21 levels under short term response under 10 minutes of 10% PEG and 10mM H₂O₂ treatment. **(B)** ABAleonSD1-3L21 response under 24hr High PEG and 10mM H₂O₂ treatment. **(C)** ABAleonSD1-3L21 levels following 24 hours Control, High PEG, 10µM DPI and High PEG + 10µM DPI treatment). **Figure 5.2** ABAleonSD1-3L21 Confocal Images at 20x. 24hr Control conditions **(A)** and High PEG **(B)**. Excited at 458 nm, ratio was calculated between cpVenus173 (Yellow, 520-550nm) divided by mTurquoise (Blue, 465-505nm). Decrease in cpVenus (Yellow)/mTurquoise (Blue) ratio indicates increase in ABA.
For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Stars indicate significance of t-test of treatment compared to Control (NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001)

5.2.2 ABA-Responsive gene RD29B under osmotic stress

Comparing the expression of ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* in Col-0 (WT), *rbohc, rbohi* and *rop2* mutants under control conditions, it appears there is little difference between the Col-0 and the loss-of-function mutants. This suggests that RBOHC, RBOHI and ROP2 do not have a significant impact on ABA signalling under control conditions (Figure 5.3).





Figure 5.4

Figure 5.3 Normalized fold expression of ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* when compared to Col-0 in *rbohc, rbohi* and *rop2* loss-of-function mutants under control conditions. Expression levels were normalized using reference gene AT5G15710, relative fold expression was then calculated via $\Delta\Delta$ CT transformation, comparing expression to the relative control sample. **Figure (5.4)** Normalized fold expression of ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* under 24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress treatment in Col-0 (WT), *rbohc, rbohi* loss-of-function mutants. Expression levels were normalized using reference gene AT5G15710, relative fold expression was then calculated via $\Delta\Delta$ CT transformation, comparing expression levels were normalized using reference gene AT5G15710, relative fold expression was then calculated via $\Delta\Delta$ CT transformation, comparing expression to the relative control sample. For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), dark circle within the box represents the geometric mean, a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Brackets indicate significance from t-test of treatment compared to control (Significant = p<0.05)

In Col-0 WT, there is a significant upregulation of ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* under 24hr mild (near 10-fold) and high (near 100-fold) osmotic stress compared to the control (Figure 5.4) (p<0.05). There is also a significant upregulation in *RD29B* when comparing between mild and high osmotic stress (p<0.05). This indicates that ABA responses are increased under mild and high osmotic stress, and that there is an even greater response under high stress.

In the *rbohc* mutant, there is a highly significant increase in *RD29B* expression under high osmotic stress (over 600-fold) increase. Although we see an increase in *RD29B* under mild osmotic stress (20-fold), it is not significant (Figure 5.4). There is a significant difference in *RD29B* between mild and

high osmotic stress in the *rbohc* mutant, indicating a large relative increase in ABA after 24 hrs of high osmotic stress.

In *rbohi* loss-of-function mutant there is a significant increase in *RD29B* under mild osmotic stress (p<0.05) and a large near-significant increase under high osmotic stress (over 200-fold) when compared to control conditions (Figure 5.4). Both *rbohl* and *rbohc* mutants appear to have increased ABA response to 24hr osmotic stress, suggesting that ABA response may be enhanced by reduced ROS production.

The *rop2* mutant appears to have a non-significant increase in *RD29B* expression under mild and high osmotic stress conditions when compared to control conditions (Figure 5.4). In the *rop2* mutant, *RD29B* expression increases 20-fold in response to high osmotic stress when compared to the control. This indicates a reduced ABA response to osmotic stress, as a 20-fold increase is low when compared to the near 100-fold increase in the WT. This indicates the ABA pathway may not be fully functioning without ROP2's presence.

5.3 Summary

After 10 mins of osmotic stress treatment, there is a small non-significant decrease in ABAleonSD1 ratio, indicating a potentially rapid small increase in ABA. Following 10 minutes of exogenous H_2O_2 treatment there is a significant decrease in ABAleon ratio, indicating exogenous ROS application leads to a rapid ABA increase (Figure 5.1A).

Following 24 hrs of both high osmotic stress treatment and 10mM H2O2, there is a significant decrease in the emission ratio of ABAleonSD1 when compared to control conditions (Figure 5.1B). This indicates that there is a significant increase in ABA levels after osmotic stress treatment and following the application of exogenous ROS.

Under control conditions, 24hr treatment with 10µM RBOH-inhibitor DPI led to a decrease in ABAleonSD1 ratio, indicating that DPI treatment results in an increase in ABA levels (Figure 5.1C). The decrease in ABAleonSD1 ratio seen under osmotic stress in control seedlings does not take place when 10µM DPI is applied, indicating that ABA levels do no longer increase under osmotic stress in DPI-treated seedlings (Figure 5.1C). These results suggest that DPI treatment leads to an increase in ABA levels, and that osmotic stress is unable to alter ABA levels in DPI treated roots.

The ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* expression does not significantly change in *rbohc, rbohi* and *rop2* mutants when compared to the expression in Col-0 (WT) (Figure 5.3). This indicates that RBOHC, RBOHI and ROP2 do not have a significant impact on ABA levels in control conditions.

In Col-0 (WT) seedlings, there is a significant upregulation in the ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* after 24hr mild and high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 5.4). In the *rbohc* mutant, there is non-significant increase in *RD29B* under mild osmotic stress, and a significant increase in *RD29B* expression under high osmotic stress (Figure 5.4). The *rbohi* loss-of-function mutant displays a significant increase in *RD29B* under mild osmotic stress conditions, and a large non-significant increase under high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 5.4). Both the *rbohc* and *rbohi* mutant have larger fold increases in *RD29B* expression under high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 5.4). Both the *rbohc* and *rbohi* mutant have larger fold increases in *RD29B* expression under high osmotic stress, indicating that ABA response could be enhanced under reduced ROS production.

Expression of *RD29B* in the *rop2* mutant displays a non-significant increase under mild and high osmotic stress when compared to control conditions (Figure 5.4). When compared to the large 100-fold increase in *RD29B* seen under high osmotic stress in Col-0 (WT), it appears the ABA pathway may not be functioning properly without the presence of ROP2.

Chapter 6. The role of ROS in osmotic stress response in the root system

6.1 Introduction

ROS play a critical role in rapid abiotic stress response, where they are rapidly upregulated in a form of ROS wave, acting as a signal that spreads throughout the plant system (Huang *et al.* 2016, 2019). ROS also play a key role in development, controlling processes such as cell polarity and expansion. The temporal-spatial distribution of ROS has significant impact on key development areas such as the QC and RAM (Tsukagoshi *et al.* 2016).

The role of ROS in the root response to osmotic stress has received little attention, both at the short time frame of stress signalling and how ROS alters root development over a longer period. A variety of techniques including microscopy, qRT-PCR and loss-of-function mutant analysis were used to study ROS under osmotic stress.

In order to understand how rapidly ROS signals can develop under osmotic stress, the ROS sensor roGFP2-Orp1 was studied under 10 minutes of osmotic stress (PEG solution and sorbitol treatment). The application of RBOH-inhibitor DPI and ABA-biosynthesis inhibitor fluridone along with the osmotic stress treatment was used to investigate the role RBOH proteins and the ABA pathway might have in the rapid ROS response.

roGFP2-Orp1 was also studied under 24 hr osmotic stress treatment in combination with DPI and fluridone treatment. This can help determine how ROS patterning can develop in the root system over a longer period of osmotic stress, and the role of RBOH proteins and the ABA pathway in this response.

The expression levels of key proteins in the ROS production pathway, namely *PERK4, RBOHC* and *RBOHI* were assessed under osmotic stress conditions via qRT-PCR. This aimed to determine what regions of ROS production may be upregulated under osmotic stress.

The primary root growth of loss-of-function mutants *rbohd, rbohf, rbohd/rbohf, rbohc, perk4-1, upb1.1* and *upb1.2* was assessed under control, mild osmotic stress, and high osmotic stress conditions. These proteins play key roles in ROS production, as a result this loss-of-function study can help determine the role of ROS production in root development and during osmotic stress response.

Col-0 (WT) seedlings primary root length was analysed under osmotic stress in combination with the exogenous application of H_2O_2 and different concentrations of DPI. Using these two treatments we can determine how either enhancing the level of ROS (via H_2O_2 application) or restricting ROS production (via DPI application) can lead to alterations in root development under osmotic stress. The application of both H_2O_2 and DPI together under control and osmotic stress conditions can help

reveal whether exogenous ROS application can rescue the root system phenotype displayed under RBOH-inhibition via DPI application.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 roGFP2-Orp1 response to osmotic stress

After 10 mins of osmotic stress treatments (10% PEG and 300 mM sorbitol) there is a significant increase in oxidation levels in roGFP2-Orp1 when compared to the control (Figure 6.1) (p<0.05). The application of fluridone appears to have an impact on the oxidation increase we see under 10% PEG treatment, as the combination of both leads to a similar value to that of the control. The 10-min independent application of fluridone does not lead to any changes in the level of oxidation under osmotic stress in roGFP2Orp1. The application of DPI at both 1 μ M and 20 μ M concentrations leads to a significant increase in oxidation under 10 mins, when compared to the control (Figure 6.1) (p<0.05). The application of DPI (1 uM and 20 uM) does not reduce the increased level of oxidation under osmotic stress. In fact, treatment with DPI leads to a non-significant increase in osmotic stress induced oxidation.







distal root tip oxidation values) in the root tip via reporter roGFP2-Orp1 under 10-minute treatments. The 10-minute treatments that took place ranging from Control, 10% PEG, 300mM Sorbitol, 1µM Fluridone, 10% PEG + 1µM Fluridone, 1 µM DPI, 10% PEG + 1µM DPI, 20 µM DPI and 10% PEG + 20 µM DPI. Increase in ratio represents the distribution of oxidation shifting down to the root tip. A decrease represents a shift in distribution away from the root tip towards the proximal area of the root. **Figure 6.3** Levels of oxidation in the root tip via Log10 of the 405nm/488nm ratio reporter roGFP2-Orp1 upon a variety of 24-hour treatments. The increase in ratio represents an increase in oxidation levels. A variety of 24hr treatments took place ranging from Control, High PEG, 300mM Sorbitol, 1 µM Fluridone, High PEG + 1 µM Fluridone, 20µM DPI and High PEG + 20µM DPI. **Figure 6.4** The distribution of oxidation (via a ratio between proximal and distal root tip oxidation values) in the root tip via reporter roGFP2-Orp1 under 24-hour treatments. Treatments include Control, High PEG, 300mM Sorbitol, 1 µM Fluridone, High PEG + 20µM DPI. **Figure 6.5** 20x Confocal images of roGFP2-Orp1 24hr Control (**A**) and High PEG (**B**). Level of oxidation calculated via ratio between 405nm (Blue) Excitation / 488nm (Green) Excitation. Increase in Blue/Green ratio represents increase in oxidation levels in the root tip. (**C**) Diagram depicting how roGFP2-Orp1 distribution was analysed as a ratio between Proximal and Distal levels of fluorescence.

For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Stars indicate significance difference via t-test of treatment compared to Control (WT)(NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001)

10 minute treatment with 10% PEG, 300 mM Sorbitol, 1 μ M Fluridone, 1 μ M DPI, 10% PEG + 1 μ M DPI and 20 μ M DPI did not lead to a shift in proximal/distal distribution of the level of oxidation in roGFP2-Orp1. Only the combined treatment of 10% PEG + 20 μ M DPI led to a significant shift in distribution towards the distal region of the root when compared to the control (Figure 6.2) (p<0.05).

The 24 hr High PEG treatment led to a significant increase in oxidation when compared to the control (Figure 6.3) (p<0.05). Interestingly the treatment of 300 mM Sorbitol did not lead to a similar increase. 24 hr 1 μ M Fluridone treatment led to a significant increase in the level of oxidation of the root tip when compared to the control conditions (p<0.05). The 1 μ M Fluridone treatment did not alter the significant increase in the level of oxidation generated under 24 hr High PEG osmotic treatment. 20 μ M DPI treatment independently and in combination with High PEG led to significant increases in oxidation when compared to the control (p<0.05). 20 μ M DPI treatment did not have an impact on oxidation levels under High PEG treatment.

24 hr high PEG treatment led to a significant shift in the distribution of oxidation towards the distal region of the root tip when compared to the control (Figure 6.4) (p<0.05). Osmotic treatment with 300 mM Sorbitol did not lead to a shift in distribution. The application of 1 μ M Fluridone also did not lead to a shift in distribution. The application of 1 μ M Fluridone also did not lead to a shift in distribution when compared to the control, nor did it lead to a change in oxidation levels under High PEG treatment. 24 hr 20 μ M DPI treatment led to a significant shift in the distribution of oxidation down to the root tip (p<0.05). The application of 20 μ M DPI in combination

with High PEG treatment led to an even greater shift in oxidation distribution towards the root tip when compared to High PEG treatment (p<0.05).

6.2.2 Expression of PERK4, RBOHC, RBOHI under osmotic stress

In Col-0 (WT) there is a significant increase in PERK4 expression under mild osmotic stress conditions and a near-significant increase under high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 6.6). It appears PERK4 expression is both affect by mild and high osmotic stress. RBOHC expression levels do not appear to increase under mild or high osmotic stress conditions. We see a significant increase in RBOHI expression (over 2-fold) under high osmotic stress compared to control. Mild osmotic stress treatment appears to have no impact on RBOHI levels.



Figure 6.6

Figure 6.6. Normalized fold expression of PERK4, RBOHC and RBOHI under 24hr control, mild and high osmotic stress treatment in Col-0 (WT). Expression levels were normalized using reference gene AT5G15710, relative fold expression was then calculated via $\Delta\Delta$ CT transformation, comparing expression to the relative control sample. For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), dark circle within the box represents the geometric mean, a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Brackets indicate significance from t-test of treatment compared to control (NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001)

6.2.3 The role of ROS in primary root length under osmotic stress

The *rbohd* mutant primary root length is significantly smaller than Col-0 under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 6.7) (p<0.05). Osmotic stress does appear to have a significant impact on the *rbohd* mutant, with high osmotic stress having a significant impact on primary root growth when compared to the control (Figure 6.7). *rbohf* root growth is also significantly worse than Col-0 under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions (p<0.05). The *rbohf* mutant performs significantly better under mild osmotic stress compared to control (p<0.05). High osmotic stress does not have a significant impact on root growth (Figure 6.7).





The *rbohd/rbohf* double mutant has significantly shorter primary roots than Col-O under control, mild and high osmotic stress (Figure 6.7) (p<0.05). The double mutant performs significantly better under mild stress conditions when compared to the performance under control conditions (p<0.05). Under high osmotic stress there is little difference between control condition performance.

The *rbohc* mutant has significantly longer primary roots than Col-0 under mild stress (Figure 6.7) (p<0.05). Under control and high stress conditions, the *rbohc* mutant has a similar performance to that of Col-0. The *rbohc* mutant has significantly reduced root growth performance under high stress conditions when compared to the control (Figure 6.8).

The *rbohi* mutant has significantly longer primary roots under control, mild and high stress conditions when compared to Col-0 (Figure 6.7) (p<0.05). High osmotic stress has a significant impact on root growth in the *rbohi* mutant when compared to control conditions (Figure 6.8) (p<0.05).

The *perk4-1* has significantly lower primary root length than Col-0 in both control and mild stress conditions. Interestingly *perk4-1* also has significantly longer roots under high osmotic stress (Figure 6.7) (p<0.05). *perk4-1* shows no response in root growth to mild or high osmotic stress when compared to control conditions (Figure 6.8).

Under control, mild stress and high osmotic stress conditions, there is little difference in root growth between the *upb1.1* mutant and Col-0 (Figure 6.7). The *upb1.1* mutant does see an increase in root growth under mild stress, but it is not significant when compared to control conditions.

The *upb1.2* mutant has a significantly longer root system than Col-0 under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 6.7) (p<0.05). Under mild stress, the *upb1.2* mutant has significantly longer roots compared to control (p<0.05). Whereas under high osmotic stress, the mutant's roots are significantly shorter compared to the control (Figure 6.7) (p<0.05)

6.2.4 The impact of H_2O_2 and DPI treatment on primary root length under osmotic stress

Exogenous application of 1 mM H_2O_2 had a significantly negative impact on primary root length in Col-0 in all conditions when compared the control (Figure 6.9) (p<-0.05). All forms of exogenous DPI treatment (5 μ M DPI, 10 μ M DPI, 20 μ M DPI) also had a significantly negative impact on root growth when compared to Col-0 under all conditions (p<0.05). The combination of 1 mM H_2O_2 treatment combined with 20 μ M DPI treatment also led to significantly reduced root growth in all conditions when compared to Col-0 (p<0.05) (Figure 6.9).

Seedlings treated with 1 mM H_2O_2 were still responsive to osmotic stress, with mild and high osmotic stress significantly reducing root growth when compared to control conditions (Figure 6.10) (p<0.05). Treatment with 5 μ M DPI, 10 μ M DPI, 20 μ M DPI and 1 mM H_2O_2 + 20 μ M DPI all led to a similar response in which root growth saw a small but significant improvement under mild osmotic stress conditions when compared to control (p<0.05). High osmotic stress in these treatments saw no impact on root growth when compared to the control (Figure 6.10).



Figure 6.9 Col-0 (WT) root growth for one week under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions with treatments of 1mM H_2O_2 , 1mM H_2O_2 + 20µM DPI, 5µM DPI, 10µM DPI and 20µM DPI compared to control conditions. **Figure 6.10** Col-0 (WT) primary root growth after 1 weeks growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions, separated by chemical treatments of 1mM H_2O_2 , 1mM H_2O_2 , 1mM H_2O_2 + 20µM DPI, 5µM DPI, 5µM DPI, 10µM DPI and 20µM DPI. For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Stars indicate significance from t-test of treatment compared to Col-0 (WT)(NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001).

6.3 Summary

ROS patterns can develop quickly under osmotic stress as following 10 minutes of osmotic stress (10% PEG and 300 mM sorbitol) there is a significant increase in oxidation levels in roGFP2-Orp1 when compared to control conditions (Figure 6.1). The combination of ABA-biosynthesis inhibitor fluridone application with osmotic stress leads to a similar level of oxidation as the control, indicating that the oxidation spike seen under 10% PEG is limited by fluridone. The sole application of fluridone for 10 mins leads to no change in oxidation level in roGFP2-Orp1. The application of RBOH-inhibitor DPI at both 1 μ M and 20 μ M concentrations leads to a significant increase in oxidation compared to the control. The application of DPI (1 μ M and 20 μ M) leads to a non-significant increase in the level of oxidation seen under osmotic stress.

It appears that spatial patterns of oxidation are not formed quickly under osmotic stress or exogenous chemical treatment, as the 10 min treatment of 10% PEG, 300 mM sorbitol, 1 μ M Fluridone, 1 μ M DPI, 20 μ M DPI and the combination of 10% PEG with 1 μ M DPI do not lead to a shift in the distribution of oxidation. Only the combined treatment of 10% PEG and 1 μ M DPI led to a significant shift in the proximal/distal distribution ratio when compared to the control (Figure 6.2).

The longer 24 hr treatment of osmotic stress (High PEG) led to a significant increase in the level of oxidation in roGFP2-Orp1, whereas the 24 hr treatment of 300 mM Sorbitol did not. The application of 1 μ M fluridone in combination with High PEG treatment resulted in an increase level of oxidation compared to the control, indicating fluridone has little impact on the effects of High PEG. Interestingly, the sole application of 24 hr 1 μ M fluridone treatment led to a significant increase in oxidation. 24 hr 20 μ M DPI application led to a significant increase in oxidation. The combination of 24 hr 20 μ M DPI application and High PEG leads to a significant increase in oxidation when compared to control conditions (Figure 6.3)

Following 24 hr High PEG treatment there is a significant shift in the spatial distribution of oxidation levels towards the distal region of the root tip. Application of 1 μ M Fluridone treatment in combination with High PEG treatment also led to a significant shift to the distal region when compared to control conditions. 24 hr 300 mM Sorbitol treatment did not lead to this shift in

oxidation distribution or did the sole application of 24hr 1uM Fluridone. 24 hr 20 μ M DPI application led to a significant shift in distribution of oxidation down the root tip. Combining 24 hr 20 μ M DPI treatment with High PEG treatment led to an even greater shift in oxidation to the root tip (Figure 6.4).

It an attempt to determine where this increase in ROS production could originate, it was revealed that in Col-0 (WT) the expression of ROS-production linked *PERK4* increases significantly under mild osmotic stress and a near-significant increase under high osmotic stress. ROS-producing *RBOHI* expression significantly increases under high osmotic stress but sees no change under mild osmotic stress. *RBOHC* expression do not change under either mild or high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 6.6).

Via a loss-of-function mutant study it was possible to determine that ROS-production enzymes *rbohd, rbohf* and the *rbohd/rbohf* double mutant have significantly smaller primary root growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions. The *rbohc* mutant has a similar performance to that of Col-0 (WT) under control and high osmotic stress conditions, whereas under mild conditions the primary root growth is significantly greater than Col-0. Interestingly, the *rbohi* mutant has significantly longer primary roots under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions than Col-0 (WT) (Figure 6.7).

The *perk4-1* mutants primary root length is significantly smaller that Col-0 under both control and mild stress conditions. Under high osmotic stress, *perk4-1* has significantly longer roots compared the control. The *perk4-1* mutant is somewhat unresponsive to osmotic stress, displaying similar root lengths under all three control, mild stress, and high stress conditions. The *upb1.2* has significantly longer roots compared to Col-0 (WT) under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions. *upb1.2* is also responsive to both mild and high osmotic stress, with the former resulting in significantly longer roots that control conditions, and the latter leading to significantly shorter roots (Figure 6.7).

To understand the role of ROS in root development, the exogenous application of key ROS signal H_2O_2 and RBOH-inhibitor DPI was studied under osmotic stress conditions. 1 mM H_2O_2 application had a significantly negative impact on primary root length in Col-0 under all conditions. The application of DPI (5 μ M, 10 μ M and 20 μ M) under all conditions also had a significant negative impact on primary root f 1 mM H_2O_2 and 20 μ M DPI also led to significantly reduced root growth under all conditions compared to Col-0 (WT) (Figure 6.9).

Roots treated with 1 mM H₂O₂ remained responsive to osmotic stress, under both mild and high osmotic stress seedlings were significantly smaller compared to control conditions. Treatment with

124

DPI (5 μ MI, 10 μ M and 20 μ M) independently and in combination (1 mM H₂O₂ + 20 μ M DPI) all led to similar unresponsive phenotype under osmotic stress. Mild stress leads to small but significant improvement in root length, and high osmotic stress has no impact on root growth compared to control conditions (Figure 6.10).

Chapter 7. The role of ROPs in the osmotic stress response

7.1 Introduction

Rho of plant (ROP) proteins perform a vast range of functions, including acting as switches to convert intracellular and extracellular stimuli leading to localized regulation of intracellular responses (Feiguelman *et al.* 2018). ROPs have been shown to regulate the activation of RBOHs and the signalling of ROS, ABA and auxin (Wu *et al.* 2011, Liao *et al.* 2017).

The role of ROPs in osmotic stress response in the root has not received much attention despite their key role in regulating stress signalling. As a result, both ROP2 and ROP6's role in osmotic stress response in the root was investigated. To determine their role in root development under osmotic stress, the primary root length of both *rop2* and *rop6* loss-of-function mutants were studied under osmotic stress. The expression of *ROP2* was assessed via qRT-PCR to determine whether it is upregulated in osmotic stress response.

7.2 Results

7.2.1 ROP2 and ROP6 role in root development under osmotic stress

The *rop2* loss-of-function mutant has significantly longer primary roots under control, mild stress and high stress conditions when compared Col-0 (Figure 7.1) (t-tests, p<0.05). Mild and high osmotic stress has little impact on *rop2* root growth when compared to control conditions (Figure 7.2).

The *rop6* mutant has significantly longer roots than Col-0 under high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 7.1) (t-test, p<0.05). Under control and mild stress conditions, *rop6* has a similar performance to that of Col-0. *rop6* has little change in root growth under mild and high osmotic stress conditions when compared to control conditions (Figure 7.2).



Figure 7.1 *rop2 and rop6* loss-of-function mutants primary root length after one week's growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions compared against Col-0 (WT). Seedlings were transferred to osmotic treatment plates and measured after1 week. **Figure 7.2** *rop2* and *rop6* mutants primary root length after one week's growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions compared against control conditions. For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Stars indicate significance from t-test of treatment compared to Col-0 (WT)(NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001). Anova performed with significance detailed.

7.2.2 ROP2 expression under osmotic stress

In Col-0 (WT) we see a non-significant increase in *ROP2* expression under osmotic stress (Figure 7.3). Although on average, it was an over 8-fold increase in *ROP2* expression, the data was highly variable. This indicates that *ROP2* expression may not change under osmotic stress.



0 (WT). Expression levels were normalized using reference gene AT5G15710, relative fold expression was then calculated via $\Delta\Delta$ CT transformation, comparing expression to the relative control sample. For boxplots, upper and lower boundaries of the box indicate the interquartile range (IQE), dark circle within the box represents the geometric mean, a line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the min and max excluding outliers. Small circles represent outliers. Brackets indicate significance from t-test of treatment compared to control (NS = not significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001)

7.3 Summary

In an attempt to determine the role of ROP2 and ROP6 in root development under osmotic stress. It appears the *rop2* mutant has significantly longer roots under all conditions compared to Col-0. The

loss-of-function mutant is unresponsive to osmotic stress, with mild and high stress having little impact on *rop2* root growth. The *rop6* mutant's primary root length is significantly greater under only high osmotic stress conditions and is similar to *rop2* in appearing unresponsive to osmotic stress.

There is no significant increase in *ROP2* expression under osmotic stress, although there is a small increase, indicating it does not change in expression.

Chapter 8. Discussion

8.1 The role of POLARIS in plant development

POLARIS (PLS) acts an inhibitor of ethylene response, where it colocalises to the same location as ETR1 in the endoplasmic reticulum, where there is evidence of direct interaction (Mudge 2016). PLS is able to bind to copper (Cu) *in vitro*. Copper is required for ETR1 as a co-factor so that it is able to bind to ethylene (Mudge 2016, Rodriguez *et al.* 1999). Flooding *pls* mutants plants with copper can rescue short root phenotype indicating its inhibition of ETR1 involves the limiting of the copper co-factor (Mudge 2016).

Previously, the study of PLS under osmotic stress has focused on a mutant in the background of C24. The C24 mutant has been shown to be more tolerant to abiotic stress conditions (Bechtold *et al.* 2018). In order to remove this factor from the study of PLS, a mutant was developed in the Col-0 background via CRISPR-Cas9 and named *pls-2*.

The *pls* CRISPR mutant (*pls-2*) exhibits an enhanced ethylene response via the reduction of root and shoot growth during growth in the dark (Figure 3.1). This has been previously shown in Chilley *et al.* (2006) which revealed the role of PLS in ethylene signalling and auxin transport. This work is important to confirm previous research into the role PLS plays in plant development.

Unfortunately, due to time-constraints it was not possible to study the *pls-2* mutant response to osmotic stress. However, this *pls-2* mutant will be a key tool in the future when developing an understanding of how PLS influences plant development. Using *pls-2* we could determine the role of PLS in root development under osmotic stress via studying the phenotypic response and performing qRT-PCR of critical responsive genes in the ABA, ROS and Auxin pathways,

Recently work has shown that PLS regulates the expression levels of various ethylene-responsive genes and plays an important role in ethylene signalling (Figure 8.1). The PLS peptide has also been shown to be essential for ethylene-induced auxin biosynthesis in the *Arabidopsis* root tip (Shen 2019). Since ethylene interplays with other hormones such as auxin and cytokinin, PLS is also important for hormonal crosstalk to regulate root development.



Studying both TCSn:GFP and *pls-3*/TCSn:GFP, we can see that there is a significant increase in levels of TCSn:GFP fluorescence in the QC of the *pls-3*/TCSn:GFP mutant (Figure 3.2). This indicates that if PLS is no longer functioning, there is a significant increase in cytokinin levels in the QC. This data correlates with previous research that indicates that in the *pls* mutant we see an increase in expression of cytokinin-inducible gene ARR5 (Chilley *et al.* 2006).

From these data, we can suggest that PLS plays a key role in inhibiting cytokinin levels in auxincytokinin homeostasis, through ethylene signalling crosstalk. This reduction of cytokinin when in PLS present is likely due to the inhibitory impact of PLS on ethylene response, which has been shown to promote cytokinin levels (Chilley *et al.* 2006).

8.2 The phenotypic response to osmotic stress

Under mild and high osmotic stress, we see a reduction in primary root growth and a reduction in the number of lateral roots (Figure 4.1). This correlates with previous research that under osmotic stress there is a decline in RAM size, due to a reduction in cell division and cell size, leading to a reduction in root growth (Rowe *et al.* 2016, Cajero Sanchez *et al.* 2019, Yuan *et al.* 2021). Under osmotic stress, the anatomy of the SCN is unaltered, enabling plants to restore once osmotic stress is removed (Cajero Sanchez *et al.* 2019).

8.3 The role of auxin and its transporters under osmotic stress

8.3.1 Rapid spike in auxin levels within minutes of osmotic stress

Despite its key role in plant development, there has been little study of the auxin response within minutes of abiotic stress application. Given that auxin has been shown to act as a rapid non-transcriptional signal, causing changes in plasma membrane potential and triggering cytosolic Ca²⁺ spikes and a rise of apoplastic pH (Dubey *et al.* 2021), auxin could potentially act as a rapid systemic signal triggering a stress response similar to that of a ROS wave.

Interestingly, a significant increase in mDII-ndTomato/DII-n3xVenus ratio in R2D2 is seen after 10 mins of osmotic stress treatment (Figure 4.3). This suggests that within the first few minutes of osmotic stress there is a rapid spike in auxin levels. The increase in auxin could be acting as a rapid osmotic stress signal as this significant increase in a short period of time could trigger a variety of responses. For example, an increase in auxin levels could lead to a spike in ROS production, triggering further stress responses as exogenous IAA has been found to increase ROS levels in root tissues (Zwiekwa *et al.* 2019). Previously ROS has been found to function downstream of auxin mediated signal transduction in gravitropism (Hee Joo *et al.* 2001). Auxin can promote PINOID kinase levels, leading to increased RBOH activity and ROS production. An increase in auxin could also promote flavonoid accumulation, which play a variety of roles in osmotic stress (Peer and Murphy 2007, Saini *et al.* 2007).

An increase in auxin can cause very rapid changes in membrane potential, for example IAA has been shown to rapidly induce plasma membrane depolarization (Dindas *et al.* 2018, Serre *et al.* 2021). This is likely through auxin transport processes, active signalling responses and a higher concentration of weak acids (IAA). Membrane depolarization has been shown to be tightly correlated with rapid root growth inhibition and AFB1 auxin receptor function (Serre *et al.* 2021). It is possible that membrane depolarization could act as an immediate signal to inhibit root growth in response to osmotic stress.

Root apoplastic pH could be a key factor in this early signalling phase. Auxin regulates the phosphoactivation of AHA2, a plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase which controls apoplastic pH (Takahashi *et al.* 2012). Potentially changes in pH can lead to the promotion of RBOH production which leads to ROS wave. Apoplastic alkalization can have an important impact on ROS signalling specificity as cysteine residues are readily oxidized at higher pH levels. An increase in pH leads to increased reactivity of cysteines with ROS (Geilfus *et al.* 2017).

The mechanism leading to the rapid spike of auxin is not clear. Potentially the spike is promoted by the rapid ROS wave or other signals such as Ca^{2+} or ABA. In certain cases, ROS such as H_2O_2 have been found to promote auxin accumulation, in particular in the short term in areas such as the root meristem (Zwiewka *et al.* 2019). Further research is required to elucidate what occurs downstream of this spike in auxin and what could be causing it. Potentially there is a direct link between osmosensors and this rapid auxin increase.

8.3.2 PIN proteins plays a critical role in auxin transport under osmotic stress

In the longer-term study (24 hrs), there was a reduction in R2D2 ratio levels under high osmotic stress conditions compared to both control and mild stress conditions (Figure 4.4). Under mild stress we did not see a significant reduction in R2D2 levels compared to control. Similar to previous research (Rowe *et al.* 2016) this indicates that under high osmotic stress conditions there is a significant reduction in the auxin maximum in the root tip. This reduction of auxin at the root tip is likely contributing to the reduction in root growth we see under osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016). The reduction in auxin is further confirmed by the decrease in expression levels of *IAA2* (an auxin responsive gene) in both mild and high osmotic stress (Figure 4.13).

N-1-napthylpthalamic acid (NPA) has recently been shown to be a direct PIN transport inhibitor, independent of other auxin transport proteins (Abas *et al.* 2021). The application of NPA results in a significant reduction in R2D2 levels in the root tip indicating a reduction of auxin content due to reduced PIN transport (Figure 4.4). In all three treatments (control, mild and high osmotic stress) NPA has a significant impact on R2D2 levels when compared to the control (DMSO) treatment. This indicates that a critical level of auxin transport via PINs to maintain an auxin maximum is still taking place even at high osmotic stress. Under NPA treatment, mild and high osmotic stress has no impact on R2D2 levels compared to the control NPA treatment, indicating that once PIN-mediated auxin transport is inhibited, we see no further reduction in auxin levels under osmotic stress (Figure 4.4). This suggests that PIN-mediated auxin transport is critical for auxin reduction we see in osmotic stress response. Furthermore, these results suggest that local auxin biosynthesis has little impact on levels of auxin under osmotic stress as once PIN-mediated auxin transport is removed there is little change in auxin levels. Auxin biosynthesis in the root tip may still have some effect but not to the level that is detectable via the R2D2 auxin reporter.

8.3.3 PIN3 and PIN7 under osmotic stress

Studying proPIN3:PIN3:GFP expression under osmotic stress, there was seen little overall change in total fluorescence but there was an increase in PIN3:GFP localization to the plasma membrane (Figure 4.9, Figure 4.10). PIN polarization has been shown to direct auxin flux and plays a key role in plant phototropism and gravitropism (Wisniewska *et al.* 2006, Rakusova *et al.* 2015, Ding *et al.* 2011). An increase in plasma membrane localization suggests that auxin transport out of the root tip is potentially increasing under osmotic stress, leading to the reduction in auxin maximum (Rowe *et al.* 2016).

PIN3 expression was significantly reduced under osmotic stress conditions in *Arabidopsis* (Figure 4.11). A reduction in *PIN3* expression, in particular in areas such as the stele, may lead to a reduction of auxin transport acropetally to the root tip and a reduction of the auxin maximum. The contrasting results between PIN3:GFP and *PIN3* expression might be due to a whole plant system reduction of *PIN3* expression and no decrease in the root tip. Recently Yuan *et al.* (2021) has shown that *PIN3* expression is reduced under osmotic stress due to repression by increased levels of HAT2 transcription factor. This research also found that PIN3:GFP expression was reduced under mannitol treatment. Interestingly HAT2 expression is induced by auxin but is not altered by ABA, ethylene or BR treatment. More research is required investigating how ROS could cause HAT2 and PIN3 expression changes.

Under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions, the *pin3* mutant appears to perform worse than WT, with shorter roots (Figure 4.12A). This indicates that PIN3 plays an important role in root growth. With PIN3 no longer functioning it is likely that auxin transport down in the root tip is reduced, leading to a reduction in auxin at the root tip therefore a reduction in root growth.

136

Although performing worse than compared to Col-0 under all conditions, the *pin3* mutant appears to be insensitive to PEG treatment (4.12B). For example, there is little difference in the mutant's performance under control or under high stress conditions. This phenotype is similar to that of Yuan *et al.* (2021) which found that *pin3* mutant roots were less sensitive to mannitol treatment. This indicates that the inhibition of root development via osmotic stress requires the normal operation of PIN3. When normally functioning, PIN3 likely performs a critical in auxin transport to reduce auxin in the root tip leading to the osmotic stress phenotype previous described.

proPIN7:PIN7:GFP transgenics show a decrease in fluorescence in the root under osmotic stress, indicating that PIN7 levels reduce under high osmotic stress response in the root (Figure 4.9). This reduction likely leads to a slowing of auxin transport down into the root tip leading to the reduction of the auxin maximum. Using qRT-PCR, *PIN7* expression saw a non-significant reduction in both mild and high osmotic stress (Figure 4.11). Potentially *PIN7* expression is only reduced in the root system, as indicated by PIN7:GFP. As a result, the expression in the whole seedling is not significantly altered.

The *pin7* mutant did not have a significantly different root growth under control or osmotic stress conditions when compared to the WT (Figure 4.12A). Furthermore, the *pin7* mutant was responsive to osmotic stress and was significantly reduced in root growth under mild and high stress conditions (Figure 14.2B). This indicates that PIN7 may not have a significant role in root growth, or in osmotic stress response. Potentially the absence of PIN7 is rescued by redundancy from other PIN proteins.

The *pin3/pin7* double mutant did not have significantly different root growth when compared to WT in all conditions indicating that their combined deletion does not result in a significant change to osmotic stress response (Figure 14.2A). This is particularly interesting as *pin3* mutant shows significant changes to root growth. Again, perhaps there may be redundancy between PIN proteins, leading to the unaltered phenotype.

Considering PIN3 and PIN7 roles in the acropetal transport of auxin to form a 'reverse fountain' pattern of auxin distribution (Friml *et al.* 2003), it can be suggested that these changes in patterning, expression and polarization likely contribute to the reduction in auxin levels seen in the root tip under osmotic stress. It appears that PIN3 plays a more critical role in root development than PIN7 under these conditions. More work is required to analyse their precise role in osmotic stress response and what pathways could be causing these changes in expression and patterning.

8.3.4 The role of DAO1 under osmotic stress

DOA1 is a key enzyme in auxin metabolism. If DAO1 is no longer functioning, oxIAA-Asp and oxIAA-Glu are no longer being formed, a key step in the GH3-IRL1-DAO pathway (Hayashi *et al.* 2021). As these oxidised forms can no longer be formed there is a large amount of IAA-Asp and IAA-Glu leading to IAA release and increased free IAA in the plant system (Hayashi *et al.* 2021).

The *dao1* mutant has significantly more root growth when compared to the WT under control conditions (Figure 4.12A). Under high stress conditions the *dao1* mutant also has significantly improved root growth. Interestingly, under mild stress conditions the mutant performs worse than the WT. The *dao1* mutant is sensitive to mild osmotic stress, with root growth significantly reduced (Figure 4.12B). High osmotic stress appears to have no impact on the *dao1* mutant, with no difference between *dao1* root growth in control and high osmotic stress conditions.

It is likely that increased free IAA in the *dao1* mutant is improving plant performance under high osmotic stress as exogenous IAA has been found to improve root performance in previous studies (Rowe *et al.* 2016, Yuan *et al.* 2021). It is unclear why *dao1* mutant would perform much worse under mild osmotic stress whilst not responding to high osmotic stress. Perhaps the accumulation of free IAA under mild stress has negative consequences on root development. More work is required to study the expression of *DAO1* under osmotic stress and look at how the *dao1* mutant alters other hormonal pathways.

8.4 The dynamics of ABA under osmotic stress

8.4.1 ABAleonSD1-3L21 analysis of osmotic stress response

Within 10 mins of osmotic stress treatment, there is an increase in ABA levels (represented by a decrease in ratio between cpVenus173/mTurquoise ratio in ABAleonSD1-3L21), though this is not statistically significant (Figure 5.1A). This correlates with previous work indicating ABA levels rise under osmotic stress conditions (Rowe *et al.* 2016). Previously ABA has been shown to induce ROS accumulation within minutes (Postiglione and Muday 2020). A rapid increase in ABA could lead to an enhanced ROS wave through the plant system in response to osmotic stress along with altering other stress signals and hormones such as auxin and ethylene.

Application of exogenous H₂O₂ (10 mM H₂O₂) for 10 mins leads to a significant decrease in cpVenus173/mTurquoise ratio, signifying an increase in ABA levels (Figure 5.1A). This indicates that ABA levels rapidly increase in the root tip under elevated ROS levels. Previously a strong positive feedback loop between ABA and ROS has been proposed (Song *et al.* 2014, Mittler & Blumwald 2015). These results reinforce this idea and indicate that this process could occur within minutes.

Under 24 hrs of osmotic stress, there is a significant increase in ABA levels (represented by a decrease in cpVenus173/mTurquoise ratio in ABAleonSD1) (Figure 5.1B). This indicates there is a long-term increase in ABA in response to osmotic stress, correlating with previous research (Rowe *et al.* 2016). Treatment with exogenous H_2O_2 (10 mM) led to a significant increase in ABA levels, higher than that following the osmotic stress treatment. This indicates along with the previous 10-min treatment, that there is a strong relationship positive relationship between ABA and elevated ROS.

Upon treatment with RBOH inhibitor diphenyleneiodonium (DPI, 10 μ M) for 24 hrs, there is seen a significant increase in ABA (represented by decrease in ABAleonSD1 ratio) when compared to control conditions (Figure 5.1C). This indicates that ABA levels are increased when RBOH ROS production is limited by DPI. It is possible that this increase in ABA is due to a stress response from the DPI treatment, whereby DPI may have a toxic impact on the plant system at a 10 μ M concentration or ROS levels may regulate ABA concentrations. There are other pathways where ROS levels could be increasing including the Fe/Asc pathway (Martiniere *et al.* 2019), leading to an ABA increase.

Under DPI treatment, osmotic stress appears to reduce the level of ABA compared to the control DPI treatment (Figure 5.1C). This indicates that the osmotic stress induced increase in ABA is no longer possible when RBOH ROS production is limited. Potentially this might be due to the levels of ABA

already being high under the 10 μ M DPI treatment. Comparing the cpVenus173/mTurquoise ratio at high osmotic stress between control (DMSO) and 10 μ M DPI treatment it appears little has changed in ABA levels. The lack of difference between ABA levels in control and DPI treatment is likely due to other pathways producing high ABA levels under osmotic stress other than RBOH ROS production.

8.4.2 ABA-Responsive RD29B under osmotic stress

From analysing the expression of *RD29B*, an ABA-responsive gene, it is possible to estimate the levels of ABA response within the plant. In WT (Col-0) there was a significant increase in *RD29B* expression under both mild and high osmotic stress (Figure 5.4). Under high osmotic stress there is a near 200-fold upregulation in expression. This indicates that under high osmotic stress we see a significant increase in ABA responses, likely indicative of high ABA concentrations. This correlates with previous research indicating that *RD29B* expression along with ABA levels increase under osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016).

8.5 The dynamics and role of ROS in osmotic stress response

8.5.1 The level of oxidation in the root tip increases under osmotic stress

Developed by Nietzel *et al.* (2019), the fluorescent protein sensor cytosolic roGFP2-Orp1 is capable of monitoring oxidation levels in the cytosol. Using this reporter, it is possible to study the levels of oxidation within the plant root and help determine ROS dynamics under osmotic stress.

From studying roGFP2-Orp1, there is a significant increase in oxidation levels within 10 minutes of osmotic stress treatment following both 10% PEG and 300 mM sorbitol treatments (Figure 6.1). This rapid increase in oxidation is likely an increase in ROS acting as a signal, triggering responses within the root system, potentially travelling up the root in a shootward direction as a signal to the rest of the plant. Previous research has shown that ROS is rapidly upregulated as a stress signal under abiotic stress in a form of a ROS wave leading to an increase in oxidation (Fichman and Mittler 2020).

The exogenous application of the ABA biosynthesis inhibitor fluridone for 10 minutes under control conditions did not lead to a change in oxidation levels. However, the application of fluridone appears to have a significant impact on the level of oxidation under 10% PEG treatment, indicating that local carotenoid biosynthesis (which leads to ABA) might play a role in rapid osmotic stress signalling and the resulting oxidation increase we see under osmotic stress (Figure 6.1).

Both 10-min treatments with RBOH inhibitor DPI (1 μ M & 20 μ M) surprisingly lead to an increase in oxidation levels (Figure 6.1). Perhaps the inhibition of RBOH leads to ROS production elsewhere in the plant system in a form of homeostasis or there is a reduction in antioxidant capacity such as lowered glutathione pool. Inhibiting other ROS pathways such as the Fe/Asc pathway in combination with DPI might prove useful in elucidating why we observe a rise in oxidation. Inhibiting the Fe/Asc pathway is possible with treatment with bathophenanthrolinedisulfonic acid (BPDS), a membrane-impermeant Fe²⁺ chelator that depletes free Fe²⁺ in the cell apoplastic space. The inhibition or a deliberate increase of antioxidant production could help determine what is causing the rise of oxidation in roGFP2-Orp1.

20 μ M DPI treatment leads to less oxidation than that of the 1 μ M DPI treatment under 10 mins (Figure 6.1). Considering the increase in oxidation we see under both 1 μ M and 20 μ M treatments, perhaps both of these treatments are not at high enough concentrations for full RBOH inhibition. Further work with difference concentrations of DPI is needed in order to fully understand how the inhibition RBOH production alters oxidation in osmotic stress response.

1 μ M and 20 μ M DPI treatments led to a small increase in the level of oxidation under 10% PEG conditions which are already increased compared to the control (Figure 6.1). This suggests that DPI may cause even greater levels of oxidation, perhaps in a stress response. Interestingly this combination of 10% PEG treatment coupled with DPI treatment (both 1 μ M and 20 μ M) led to a small decrease below just the level of oxidation at relative DPI treatment. This is challenging to explain and requires more research.

We see an even greater increase in roGFP2-Orp1 ratio under the 24-hr osmotic stress treatment, indicating that root tip oxidation has risen over the longer period of osmotic treatment (Figure 6.3). Interestingly sorbitol treatment did not lead to an increase in ratio. This might be explained by different effects that PEG and sorbitol have upon plant cells (plasmolysis versus cytorrhysis) (Verslues *et al.* 2006).

24-hr treatment with 1 μM fluridone led to a significant increase in roGFP2-Orp1 levels (Figure 6.3). As there is a large amount of evidence indicating ABA leads to ROS increase (e.g. Watkins *et al.* 2017, Postiglione and Muday 2020), it is unlikely that ABA is inhibiting ROS levels. Fluridone inhibits carotenoid biosynthesis which indirectly lowers ABA content. Lowered carotenoids can lead to reduction in protection from photobleaching (Gamble and Mullet 1986). Fluridone treatment also is not sufficient to reduce ABA content completely as there is a large pool of epoxy carotenoids (Srivastava *et al.* 2002). As a result, increased oxidation in response to 24 hr fluridone treatment could be caused by increased light-stress response or due to other sources of ABA still increasing under osmotic stress.

When compared to the control, 24-hr High PEG treatment combined with 1 µM fluridone led to an increase in roGFP2-Orp1 oxidation levels (Figure 6.3). It is clear that fluridone application has little impact on oxidation levels under 24 hr High PEG. This indicates that inhibition of carotenoid biosynthesis and part of the ABA pathway does not have an impact on the increase in oxidation under 24 hr osmotic stress. As previously mentioned, fluridone can lead to enhance light-stress along with other ABA pathways are still functioning. Interestingly, fluridone treatment does appear to hinder the increase in oxidation under osmotic stress in the 10-min treatment but not under the 24-hour treatment. Perhaps after 24 hrs, fluridone-mediated stress has had an impact, leading to an increase in stress signalling and ROS-mediated oxidation. As a result, the impact of reduced carotenoid biosynthesis on ROS levels/oxidation is negated.

24-hr treatment with DPI also led to an increase in oxidation, indicating that the increase in oxidation under 10-minute DPI treatment was not only a short-term response (Figure 6.3). The increase indicates that DPI might cause stress to the plant leading to an overproduction in ROS via other forms of production such as the Fe/Asc pathway or a reduction in antioxidant capacity. The presence of osmotic stress treatment did not lead to a change in oxidation under 24 hr DPI treatment. This could be explained by DPI treatment causing an increase in oxidation that osmotic stress may not be able to exceed.

The rise in oxidation seen in both 10 min and 24 hr osmotic treatment of roGFP2Orp1 is likely due to the increased production of ROS; as previous work of ROS in abiotic stress response has indicated that this could be the case ((Mittler *et al.* 2004, Shabala *et al.* 2015, Baxter *et al.* 2014, Martiniere *et al.* 2019). However, it is important to consider this may also be due to a reduction in antioxidant capacity such as glutathione or catalase (Dumanovic *et al.* 2021). As a result, more work is required to confirm this increase in oxidation is due to ROS production. Using other forms of ROS analysis such as CellRox DeepRed or DAB (3,3'-Diaminobenzidine) staining may help.

8.5.2 Change in the pattern of oxidation in the root tip under osmotic stress

In the 10-min short term treatments there is little change in the proximal/distal distribution of oxidation in the root tip, as shown by 10% PEG, 300 mM sorbitol, 1 μ M fluridone, 1 μ M DPI, 10% PEG + 1 μ M DPI and 20 μ M DPI treatments compared to the control (Figure 6.2). Only under the 10% PEG + 20 μ M DPI treatment there is a significant difference in distribution; oxidation is greater in the higher regions of the root system (proximal region). The shift in oxidation is potentially due to the

reduction of RBOH production in the root tip whilst ROS production is increased further up the root system. Changes in oxidation can also be caused by changes in reduction rate due to lowering of antioxidant production

Over the longer term 24-hr treatments there are distinct changes in the proximal/distal distribution of roGFP2-Orp1 (Figure 6.4). Under High PEG treatment we see a significant increase in oxidation higher up the root in the EZ area when compared to the meristematic zone. Along with the broad increase in oxidation in the root tip, this shift in patterning could have key ramifications for plant root development. A more oxidized elongation zone, and a more reduced environment in the apical meristem leads to an inhibition in root growth (Tsukagoshi *et al.* 2010, Tsukagoshi *et al.* 2016, Mabuchi *et al.* 2018). This shift of distribution to an increasingly oxidized EZ under osmotic stress could account for the observed reduction in cell elongation, leading to reduced root growth. Under sorbitol treatment there is a similar shift in distribution although not significant.

The application of fluridone does not appear to have affect the pattern of roGFP2-Orp1 expression in control conditions or under osmotic stress (Figure 6.4). Despite this, it is possible that ABA may have an impact on the distribution of oxidation under osmotic stress. As previously described, there are other active ABA pathways together with the potential for fluridone application to cause stress to the plant.

There are large shifts in roGFP2-Orp1 proximal/distal distribution with increased oxidation higher up the root system under 24-hour DPI treatment (Figure 6.4). This shift in distribution could be caused by the lack of apoplastic ROS production via RBOH inhibition, leading to increased ROS in regions away from the root tip. DPI application during high stress treatment results in an even greater shift in distribution. More research is required into the location of RBOH ROS production in the root tip, and the effects of DPI upon ROS distribution.

8.5.3 ROS and ROS inhibitor treatment alters root growth under osmotic stress

In the wildtype (Col-0), exogenous treatment with H_2O_2 (1 mM) leads to a reduction in root growth under control, mild and high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 6.9). This indicates that elevated ROS levels in seedlings can lead to decreased root growth under osmotic stress conditions. The exogenous application of H_2O_2 likely leads to increased ABA among other responses that likely contribute to the reduced root growth. Increasing the level of ROS past a certain threshold concentration can also lead to cell death (Duan *et al.* 2010, Sofo *et al.* 2015).
The application of different concentrations of exogenous DPI (5 μ M, 10 μ M and 20 μ M DPI) led to almost a complete reduction in root growth in all treatments (Figure 6.9). This suggests that apoplastic ROS production via RBOH enzymes is critical for root growth in all conditions.

Combining these results with the increase in oxidation and ABA levels that we see under DPI treatment it is highly possible that these concentrations of DPI treatment are damaging to the plant leading to a stress response and cell death. As a result, these results along with the DPI treatment data in ABAleonSD1 and roGFP2Orp1 should be treated with caution.

The combination treatment of H_2O_2 with DPI had little impact on the high negative effect of DPI on root growth. This indicates that the harmful impact on DPI on root growth may not be due to the reduction of ROS in the root tip as its replacement with exogenous H_2O_2 treatment has little impact.

8.5.4 RBOHD and RBOHF play a key role in root growth and osmotic stress

response

The *rbohd* and *rbohf* single mutants and *rbohd/rbohf* double mutant appear to have significantly reduced root growth in all conditions (Control, Mild and High stress) (Figure 6.7). This indicates that both RBOHD and RBOHF are critical for root growth under control conditions and under osmotic stress. Interestingly, these three mutant ecotypes performed better under mild osmotic stress conditions, when compared to control and high stress (Figure 6.8). Furthermore, they are tolerant to high osmotic stress conditions when compared with the stunted control response. Previously RBOHD and RBOHF have been found to play a key role in ABA-signalling, ABA-mediated growth inhibition and in stress-induced ROS accumulation (Kwak *et al.* 2003, Jiao *et al.* 2013, Martiniere *et al.*2019). It is clear that tight regulation of these pathways is critical for growth under normal conditions, but also under osmotic stress. It can be concluded that RBOHD and RBOHF act as negative regulator of growth inhibition under osmotic stress.

8.5.5 RBOHC has a complex role in root osmotic stress response

The *rbohc* mutant has a similar growth response to Col-0 (WT) under control and high osmotic stress conditions but grows significantly better under mild stress (Figure 6.7). The *rbohc* mutant remains sensitive to strong osmotic stress, with high stress having a significant impact on its root growth (Figure 6.8). Mild stress does not have a significant impact when compared to control conditions. This indicates that RBOHC may not be critical for root growth under standard conditions or response to high osmotic stress. Under mild stress, ABA-stimulated ROS production may be limited as RBOHC

is no longer functional (Ma *et al.* 2019). This reduced ROS production may not have the same level inhibitory impact and could lead to improved root performance and tolerance to mild osmotic stress. Potentially as ABA-induced ROS production is limited, other pathways are less inhibited, improving root growth.

RBOHC expression does not appear to increase under osmotic stress (Figure 6.6). This may indicate that ROS production in RBOHC is not responsive to osmotic stress. Potentially RBOHC activity could be altered via its localisation or by post-translational modification in response to osmotic stress. Previous studies have identified that RBOHD and RBOHF spatio-temporal expression is finely tuned in response to biotic stress (Morales *et al.* 2016). Other members of the RBOH family such as RBOHC could have a similar level of intricate patterning that cannot be detected by the whole-seedling qRT-PCR that was performed.

The *rbohc* mutant displays a significant increase in *RD29B* expression under osmotic stress (near to 600-fold) suggesting a large increase in ABA levels under osmotic stress, much larger than that seen in the WT (Figure 5.4). Loss of RBOHC function appears to limit ABA-mediated inhibition of root growth (Ma *et al.* 2019). This may lead to ABA levels further increasing, in a form of homeostasis, reflected in the observed high expression of *RD29B*. Interestingly, the loss-of-function of RBOHC does not appear to alter ABA homeostasis under control conditions as *rbohc* has similar levels of *RD29B* to Col-0 under control conditions (Figure 5.3).

Auxin response gene *IAA2* expression does not show significant changes under osmotic stress conditions in the *rbohc* mutant, while WT seedlings show a significant decrease in *IAA2* levels under osmotic stress (Figure 4.14). This indicates that RBOHC is critical and therefore RBOHC-mediated ROS production is required for the auxin response under osmotic stress. Perhaps as RBOHC-mediated ROS production is no longer possible, auxin levels are no longer able to be adjusted under osmotic stress. The impact of RBOHC on *IAA2* levels appears only osmotic stress related as the *rbohc* mutant has a similar level of expression to that of Col-0 (Figure 4.13).

As ABA levels are still increasing but IAA levels are no longer altered by osmotic stress in the *rbohc* mutant, it is concluded that RBOHC may act as a link between ABA and auxin signalling under osmotic stress.

8.5.6 *PERK4* expression increases under osmotic stress where it plays critical role

PERK4 has been suggested to be a link between ABA and ROS production in limiting root growth (Ma *et al.* 2019). ABA accumulation is thought to drive PERK4 to increase the expression of NADPH

oxidases such as RBOHC, leading to ROS production that inhibits root growth. RBOHC is thought to be a vital enzyme for ROS formation in the primary root in response to ABA (Ma *et al.* 2019). *perk4* mutants were found to display attenuated sensitivity to ABA inhibition of root growth, as they were incapable of generating ROS in response to ABA (Ma *et al.* 2019)

PERK4 expression significantly increases under mild osmotic stress and has a very near to significant two-fold increase under high stress (Figure 6.6). This indicates that PERK4 may be involved in osmotic stress response. Increased ABA levels under osmotic stress likely increase *PERK4* expression, leading to increased expression of RBOHs and increased ROS production, which leads to reduced root growth. Interestingly, there was not the same increase in expression of *RBOHC* under osmotic stress that was seen for *PERK4*. RBOHC is suggested as the primary mechanism behind PERK4-mediated ABA inhibition of root growth (Ma *et al.* 2019). Although *RBOHC* expression may not increase, PERK4 might alter RBOHC performance in some other form or regulate (i.e increase) the expression of other RBOH genes under osmotic stress.

The *perk4-1* mutant root grows significantly less than wildtype under control and mild osmotic stress conditions, whilst growing longer under high osmotic stress conditions (Figure 6.7). The results also show that the *perk4* mutant is less sensitive than the wild type to osmotic stress, similar to results present by Ma *et al.* (2019) (Figure 6.8). This indicates that PERK4 is critical for root growth under standard conditions and also plays a role in the osmotic stress response. When PERK4 function is lost, ABA-induced expression of RBOH enzymes, leading to ROS production is reduced, resulting in altered root growth under control conditions and improved root growth under high osmotic stress. PERK4 is likely an important link between ABA and ROS under osmotic stress.

8.5.7 RBOHI plays critical role in root growth inhibition and sensitivity to osmotic stress

RBOHI has been identified to play a key role in under osmotic stress conditions (Huan *et al.* 2017). Mannitol stress was found to significantly increase *RBOHI* expression at the transcript level, whereas ABA application was found to decrease RBOHI expression. Loss of function mutant *rbohi* displayed enhanced sensitivity to mannitol stress. Overexpression of RBOHI lead to drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis*, along with an increase in H_2O_2 compared to wildtype (Huan *et al.* 2017).

In the current study, *RBOHI* expression levels has very near significant two-fold increase under 24hours of high osmotic stress treatment (Figure 6.6). Under mild osmotic stress, this upregulation is not seen. This indicates that *RBOHI* expression is likely upregulated leading to an increase ROS production under intense osmotic stress conditions. In the *rbohi* mutant under osmotic stress, there is a near significant increase in the ABA-responsive gene *RD29B* (about 300-fold) (Figure 16.2). This indicates that ABA response under osmotic stress is still possible with *RBOHI* no longer functioning. In fact, ABA responses may be enhanced as this increase in *RD29B* is greater than we see in wildtype, indicating that RBOHI acts as repressor of ABA responses under osmotic stress. Similar to the response we see in *rbohc*, ABA levels may increase in *rbohi* to accommodate for restricted ROS production in the osmotic stress response. Along with the *rbohc* mutant, the loss-of-function *rbohi* mutant has similar levels of *RD29B* expression to that of Col-0, indicating RBOHI may not have a function in ABA-homeostasis.

Interestingly *rbohi* exhibited significantly better root growth that wildtype under all conditions (Control, mild stress, and high stress), indicating that RBOHI acts to inhibit root growth and particularly under osmotic stress (Figure 19.1). The potential reduction in ROS production from the loss of RBOHI may improve root length. The *rbohi* mutant is tolerant to osmotic stress treatment seeing little change between control and stress treatments. This is in contrast to what Haun *et al.* (2017) described in their research, with *rbohi* mutant displaying enhanced sensitivity to mannitol. The difference in effects of mannitol and PEG could explain the large discrepancy between these results. Mannitol is toxic and can cause plasmolysis, while PEG does not. More work is required to analyse the role of RBOHI in osmotic stress to explain the difference between studies.

8.5.8 The role of UPB1 under osmotic stress

UBP1, a bHLH transcription factor, plays a key role in maintaining ROS balance between meristematic and elongation zones (Tsukagoshi *et al.* 2010). UPB1 upregulates ROS homeostasis by repressing the expression of class III peroxidases in the elongation zone. The *upb1-1* mutant has a larger meristematic zone, owing to an increase in the number of cells, which accumulates O₂ as UPB1-targeted peroxidase expression is not suppressed. In the current study *upb1-1* showed little difference in root length when compared to the WT, however *upb1-2* displayed a significant improvement in root length in all conditions (Figure 6.7). These data are similar to Tsukagoshi *et al.* (2010) who showed that UPB1 is a negative regulator of root growth; although my results indicate this is the case even under osmotic stress conditions. Loss of UPB1 function, leading to altered ROS balance and an increased O₂⁻ distribution in the root tip improves root growth under control and osmotic stress conditions. ROS mutants such as *rbohd*, *rbohf*, *rbohi* and *perk4-1* displaying decreased/improved root growth likely have some form of shift in ROS balance between meristematic and elongation leading to their change in growth. Both *upb1-1* and *upb1-2* appear to be near-significantly and significantly sensitive to osmotic stress respectively. Both mutants show increases in root length under mild osmotic stress and reduced root length under high osmotic stress (Figure 6.8). This indicates that under mild stress, UPB1 may negatively regulate root growth as its loss of function leads to improved root growth.

8.5.9 The role of ROPs in osmotic stress response

ROP proteins play a key role in development and stress responses, acting as molecular switches triggering signalling cascades (Feiguelman *et al.* 2018) Previously ROP6 activation under osmotic stress has been shown to trigger the nanoclustering of RBOHD and RBOHF leading to ROS production (Smokvarska *et al.* 2020) along with playing a role in auxin signalling (Wu *et al.* 2011).

The *rop2* mutant displays root growth similar to WT under control conditions but performs significantly better under osmotic stress when compared with WT (Figure 7.1). Furthermore, the *rop2* mutant is also insensitive to osmotic stress, with seedling length in both mild and high osmotic stress conditions similar to that under control conditions (Figure 7.2). These results indicate that ROP2 plays an essential role in promoting root growth inhibition under osmotic stress. Loss of ROP2 function leads to root systems being longer and more tolerant to osmotic stress.

Although *RD29B* expression increases under osmotic stress conditions in the *rop2* mutant, it is not a significant increase, and when compared to the WT it is comparatively much lower (20-fold compared to 200-fold) (Figure 5.3). This suggests that ROP2 is critical for the osmotic stress-induced ABA response. Interestingly there is evidence that other ROPs (ROP 10 & ROP11) suppress ABA responses (Yu *et al.* 2012). In the *rop2* mutant we see an increase in *IAA2* levels in mild and high osmotic stress indicating an increase in auxin under osmotic stress (Figure 4.14). This is directly opposite to the decrease in auxin that has been previously characterised in Col-0 under osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016) and seen in our own *IAA2* WT results; and indicates that ROP2 is required for repression of auxin responses during osmotic stress. The role of ROP2 in both *RD29B* and *IAA2* expression may be strictly osmotic stress related, as the *rop2* mutant does not have significantly different levels of either gene when compared to the Col-0 mutant under control conditions.

It is therefore possible to suggest that in the WT, ROP2 activation via osmotic stress leads to increased ABA levels which in turn leads to a decrease in auxin accumulation in the root tip. Given the role for ROP6 in inducing RBOHD and RBOHF ROS production under osmotic stress (Smokvarska *et al.* 2020); increased ROS production via ROP2 activation may lead to an increase in ABA levels. In the *rop2* mutant, ABA levels do not increase as greatly therefore auxin levels are able to increase.

Previously studies have shown that the perturbation of ROP activity leads to auxin-related phenotypes. This is likely due to ROPs effects on PM localization and the trafficking of PINs which, in turn, regulates auxin fluxes and concentrations (Dubey *et al.* 2021). For example, PIN2 recycling in

roots is dependent on ROP6 activation by its GEF protein SPIKE1 (Lin *et al.* 2012). Plants showing ROP6 overexpression or the expression of the constitutively active of form ROP6 bend their roots faster and to a greater degree than WT plants (Platre *et al.* 2019). It is also possible that the impact *rop2* mutant has on *IAA2* levels is independent of ROS or ABA pathways. ROP2 mutation was found to have little impact on ROS accumulation under high sorbitol concentration (Smokvarska *et al.* 2020). This suggests that ROP2 has may have direct control of auxin levels under osmotic stress.

Interestingly *ROP2* expression does not increase significantly under osmotic stress (Figure 7.3). This may not be critical as found with ROP6, and the activation state may be more important than the level of expression under osmotic stress (Smokvarsak *et al.* 2020). It is likely that its activations state may be altered under osmotic stress conditions. More research is required to analyse ROP2's role in osmotic stress and its impact on ABA and auxin levels under osmotic stress conditions.

ROP6 activation under osmotic stress has been shown to trigger the nanoclustering of RBOHD and RBOHF leading to ROS production (Smokvarska 2020). The *rop6* mutant performs significantly better that WT under high osmotic stress (Figure 7.1). This correlates with previous research that *rop6.2* mutants grew faster under high sorbitol conditions (Smokvaska *et al.* 2020). The rop6 mutant appears to be insensitive to osmotic stress, having a similar level performance at control compared to high osmotic stress (Figure 7.2). As osmotically stress ROS production is reduced due the absence of ROP6 (Smokvarska *et al.* 2020). This reduction in ROS production under osmotic stress leads to a better performance of root growth and tolerance to osmotic stress. Further research is required to analyse the role of ROP6 osmotic stress-induced ROS production on auxin and ABA levels.

8.6 Hormonal crosstalk under osmotic stress

Previous work has shown that ABA plays a critical role in regulating root growth under osmotic stress via interacting with auxin, cytokinin and ethylene (Rowe *et al.* 2016). Specifically, osmotic stress modulates auxin transporter levels and localisation leading to reduced root auxin concentrations, and PIN1 levels are reduced in an ABA-dependent manner (Rowe *et al.* 2016). However there remains large gaps in our understanding of root growth regulation under osmotic stress.

8.6.1 Short Term Signalling

The majority of research into abiotic stress signalling has focused on plant systems above the soil such as stomata, and there has been little work on visualising the short-term signalling that takes place in the root under osmotic stress.

By studying the ratiometric auxin reporter R2D2, results in this thesis show that within minutes of stress there is a rapid spike in auxin levels in the root tip (Figure 4.3). In this short time frame, auxin may be acting initially as a stress signal, altering plasma membrane polarization and apoplastic pH, leading to downstream osmotic stress responses such as immediate root growth inhibition (Serre *et al.* 2021). Increased auxin could increase ROS levels, causing ROS wave and increase the level of stress signalling in the root system (Peer *et al.* 2013, Zwiewka *et al.* 2019).

ABA levels, represented via ABAleonSD1-3L21, also appear to increase (non-significantly) within minutes of osmotic stress treatment (Figure 15.1 A). A rapid change in ABA could act as stress signals throughout the plant system, and immediately begin to alter hormonal pathways such as auxin, cytokinin and ethylene. ABA levels rapidly increase within minutes under exogenous treatment of H_2O_2 , combining this with previous evidence, it is apparent there is a strong positive relationship between ABA and ROS that can operate within minutes (Figure 15.1 A).

Studying fluorescent reporter roGFP2Orp1, we see a rapid rise in oxidation in the root tip within 10 minutes of osmotic stress (Figure 17.1). When considering previous analysis, it is likely that this is a spike in ROS causing the increase in oxidation, rather than a reduction in antioxidant capacity. A spike in ROS could act as a stress signal in the form of ROS wave (Fichman and Mittler 2020). An increase in ROS will have numerous downstream consequences including increased ABA levels, which lead to osmotic stress response. The application of ABA biosynthesis inhibitor fluridone led to a reduction in the spike of oxidation we see under 10 mins of osmotic stress treatment, indicating that increasing ABA production may have a role in the increase in ROS under osmotic stress (Figure 17.1).

From these data based on the analysis of fluorescent reporters, we can propose that auxin, ROS and ABA all increase within 10 minutes of osmotic stress treatment, leading to downstream signalling (Figure 24). Both ABA and ROS share a positive feedback relationship whereby increases in one will increase the levels of the other. Auxin and ROS have also been shown to promote each other; increased ROS leads to increased auxin concentrations and auxin application can lead to increase ROS levels (Liao *et al.* 2015, Zwiekwa *et al.* 2019). ABA has been found to negatively influence auxin levels under osmotic stress (Rowe *et al.* 2016), so it is unlikely it is behind the rapid increase in auxin levels.

With all three hormones increasing rapidly in a short window of osmotic stress, it is difficult to determine what comes first, potentially generating the other signals. Potentially all three stress signals are triggered synchronously via an osmo-sensing system, although the nature of the osmo-

sensing system is unclear. Potentially a homolog of the calcium-gated channel OSCA1 could be behind this rapid cascade (Liu *et al.* 2018).

How ABA, ROS and auxin all interact in this short time frame needs further research. ROP2 and RBOHC should be studied to determine the role they have in short-term signalling. There remain further questions on what is occurring downstream of these increases in ABA, ROS and auxin. More research is required in this area if we are to reach a better understanding of short-term osmotic stress signalling.



8.6.2 Longer Term Signalling (24 hr)

Studying signalling over on a longer time frame of osmotic stress treatment (24hrs) was also important as there remains large gaps of knowledge that require more work. Previously Rowe *et al.* (2016) presented evidence that auxin transport is altered under osmotic stress response by ABA and ABA-independent means.

A reduction in auxin response under osmotic stress was found that is consistent with previous research (Rowe *et al.* 2016). It is clear that polar auxin transport is critical for auxin maximum

maintenance under osmotic stress. When PIN transport is inhibited by the application of NPA, auxin levels are reduced in the meristem under control and osmotic stress conditions (Figure 10.3). This indicates that polar auxin transport is still taking place even under high osmotic stress conditions. Under NPA treatment, auxin responses are no longer sensitive to osmotic stress, indicating that auxin biosynthesis or conjugation has little contribution to auxin levels in the root tip in these conditions (Figure 10.2). PIN3 and PIN7 levels, localization and polarization are altered under osmotic stress, likely enhancing the reduction of auxin we see under osmotic stress (Figure 11.3, Figure 11.4, Figure 12). PIN3 plays a critical role in root development under control conditions and osmotic stress, whereas for PIN7 this is less clear. How ABA and ROS alter PIN3 and PIN7 levels to control root development under osmotic stress requires study.

As indicated in other research (Rowe *et al.* 2016), ABA responses were found to increase under 24hr osmotic stress (Figure 15.1 B, Figure 16.2). ABA responses were also shown in this thesis to increase under exogenous H_2O_2 treatment, supporting the view that ABA and ROS have a strong positive relationship (Figure 15.1 B).

From the data collected, it is clear that ROS have a critical role in the osmotic stress response. Analysing roGFP2Orp1, there is a rise in the levels of oxidation in the root tip after 24hr osmotic stress, either through an increase in the level of ROS in the root tip or a reduction in the level of antioxidation (Figure 17.3). We also see a shift in the distribution of oxidation under osmotic stress; to a more oxidised elongation zone and reduction in the apical meristem (Figure 17.4). This shift likely contributes to the inhibition of root growth we see under osmotic stress (Mabuchi *et al.* 2018).

DPI treatment led to an increase in both ABA and in oxidation in (ABAleon and roGFP2Orp1) (Figure 15.B, Figure 17.3). Considering the significant inhibitory impact that DPI treatment had on root growth, it is likely that this form of DPI treatment is causing significant stress to the plant leading to a rise in both stress hormones. As a result, it is difficult to interpret these DPI results in the context of signalling under osmotic stress. More research is required to fully analyse how ROS production via RBOH enzymes can alter ABA and ROS levels under osmotic stress.

Auxin, ABA, and ROS all play critical roles in plant development. Auxin decreasing likely caused by the increase in ROS and ABA under osmotic stress. ROS and ABA likely have a strong positive relationship, increasing each other to reduce the level of auxin in the root tip. Before we can develop a network including ROS into the osmotic stress signalling network, more work is required to understand how ROS interacts with auxin and ABA. For example, how ROS alters the impact of ABA on PIN transport shown in Rowe *et al.* (2016). Also determining how inhibiting the ROS pathway via some other form of treatment than DPI alters osmotic stress response.

152

8.7 The role of ROS in root development under osmotic stress

The role of ROS in root development has previously been studied, including controlling cell polarity and expansion, and the development of root hairs and Casparian strip (Huang *et al.* 2016). However, the control ROS exerts on root development under osmotic stress has not received a critical analysis.

ROS producing enzymes RBOHD and RBOHF play a critical role in plant development and osmotic stress response. Both have enzymes have previously been found to play key roles in abiotic stress response (Smokvaska *et al.* 2020). This study reveals that when either or both proteins are no longer functioning, it results in reduced root growth, indicating their role in positively regulating root development (Figure 19.1). The mutants with reduced root growth appear to be insensitive to osmotic stress, indicating that RBOHD and RBOHF may play some role in osmotic stress root development (Figure 19.2).

RBOHI appears to have a significant role in inhibiting root development, both in control conditions and under osmotic stress (Figure 19.1). Loss of function of RBOHI led to improved primary root length under all conditions. With RBOHI absent, ABA levels still increase, indicating it may have no role in the ABA pathway under osmotic stress (Figure 16.2). Potentially RBOHI is involved in ABAindependent osmotic stress response.

Although the RBOHC mutant appears to have little role in root growth under control and high stress conditions, its absence does appear to improve root growth under mild osmotic stress (Figure 19.1). In the RBOHC mutant we see a significant change in auxin signalling under osmotic stress. There is no longer a reduction in auxin responsive *IAA2* which is seen in the control under osmotic stress (Figure 14.2). ABA-responsive *RD29B* sees a large increase under osmotic stress similar to that of the WT, suggesting RBOHC does not alter ABA response too greatly (Figure 16.2). Despite the fact that RBOHC expression does not see a change under osmotic stress (Figure 18), RBOHC localisation and production may change, leading to changes in ROS production and altering auxin levels in the root tip. The lack of a reduction in auxin may explain why the *rbohc* mutant performs better under mild stress conditions.

ABA-regulated inhibition of root growth under control conditions has been shown to be partially mediated by PERK4-stimulated ROS accumulation, likely through RBOHC (Ma *et al.* 2019). PERK4 expression significantly increases under osmotic stress (Figure 18). Loss of function of PERK4 results in significant changes to root development under osmotic stress, with longer primary roots under high stress whilst displaying reduced root growth in control and mild conditions (Figure 19.1). The loss of PERK4 also results in tolerance to osmotic stress as determined by root growth (Figure 19.2).

PERK4 may be critical for root development for its role in mediating ABA signal to ROS production. A possible pathway under osmotic stress is increasing PERK4 expression under increased ABA levels results in ROS production from RBOH's. This increased level of ROS results in reduced root growth. RBOHC may not be the only RBOH enzyme that is altered by increased PERK4 expression. More work is required to analyse auxin, ABA and ROS response in the *perk4* mutant under control and osmotic stress conditions.

The balance of ROS in the root tip is critical for plant development. Mutation in UPB1 leads to improved root growth in all conditions including osmotic stress, likely due to altered ROS distribution in the root tip (Figure 19.2).

8.8 A key role for ROP2 in osmotic stress signalling

ROP2 and ROP6 clearly have a key role in root development under osmotic stress conditions. Both *rop2* and *rop6* appear insensitive to osmotic stress, performing better under high stress conditions when compared to the WT (Figure 21.1).

ROP2 also has a clear position in auxin and ABA signalling under osmotic stress. Auxin responses appear to increase under osmotic stress in the *rop2* mutant but decrease in the WT (Figure 14.2). The increase in ABA responses appears to be reduced in comparison to the WT (Figure 16.2). From these data it is proposed that under osmotic stress, ROP2 activates, leading to an increase in ABA response which in turn reduces auxin accumulation in the root tip, leading to a reduction in root growth.

ROP2 may regulate ABA and auxin through the production of ROS, as ROP6 has previously been shown to be responsible for ROS production via RBOHD and RBOHF under osmotic stress. Further work is required to understand how ROP2 is controls root development under osmotic stress. More work is also required to analyse auxin and ABA signalling in the *rop6* mutant.

8.9 Perspectives

With rapidly changing environments, plants must be able to respond immediately to changes in conditions. Plants have developed a variety of responses to the damaging consequences of osmotic stress (Bhargava and Sarwant 2013, Nezhadahmadi *et al.* 2015). In root systems, promoting or inhibiting root growth is a critical developmental choice that a plant must make, grow deeper for more moisture or inhibition of growth to prevent exposing the root further to the loss of water (Cajero-Sanchez *et al.* 2019). With increasing global temperatures and greater frequencies of drought, understanding how plants make these decisions and respond to osmotic stress is critical.

Previously ABA and auxin roles in osmotic stress have been partly characterised. It is clear that ROS also play a role in the early phase of osmotic signalling along with in the development of root growth under water-deficit. More research must focus on how ROS interacts with ABA and auxin leading to osmotic stress phenotypes. Potentially plant breeders can consider how ROS pathways including RBOH-mediated ROS production could be harnessed to improve plant tolerance to drought stress; as well as exploiting early osmotic stress signalling.

8.10 Future Work

Root response to osmotic stress is a critical topic that the scientific community needs to understand if we are to resolve food security issues in the face of climate change. There are various areas that require more research if we are to understand how plants control the roots development under osmotic stress and improve drought performance.

More effort is required to analyse the short-term response of auxin to osmotic stress. For example, how does inhibiting PIN transport with NPA alter this rapid auxin spike? Potentially this auxin signal generates a number of downstream responses that could be analysed. Further study could look at how PIN expression and distribution changes in the short-term osmotic stress response. This could be achieved via LSCM and qRT-PCR. Further study could look at the immediate response of ROS and ABA to exogenous auxin treatment to simulate this rapid auxin spike.

The control of PIN3 and PIN7 under osmotic stress needs to be further analysed. For example, it is unclear whether it is an increase ABA and/or ROS levels that is responsible for the changes in expression and distribution that we see. This can be achieved by studying PIN3 and PIN7 under the exogenous application of ABA, fluridone and other treatments. More research could reveal how ROS influences other PINs that have been found to be critical in osmotic stress response.

As previously mentioned, it is important to clarify the increases in oxidation we see under osmotic stress in roGFP2Orp1 is a result of increase ROS production or a reduction in antioxidant capacity; or a combination of both. More evidence can be achieved via the use of CellRox and DAB staining as well as the inhibition of ROS production via other means than DPI treatment. The crossing of loss-of-function RBOH mutants with roGFP2-Orp1 could create an effective line to study if ROS production via RBOH is responsible for the spike in oxidation.

Further work is required to analyse the role of ROS production by RBOHs under osmotic stress, and how this leads to changes in ABA, ROS and auxin levels. More work is needed to study how RBOH expression and distribution is altered under osmotic stress. Determining how these RBOH proteins are regulated, for example through ubiquitination could reveal critical answers. It is important to analyse how PERK4 may alter auxin, ABA and ROS under osmotic stress; potentially through increasing RBOH apoplastic ROS production.

The role of *rbohi* in root development under osmotic stress requires further analysis considering the difference between this study's results and Huan *et al.* (2017). More research is required into how RBOHI alters ABA, auxin and ROS response to osmotic stress. Potentially this could involve the use of mannitol and PEG treatment in comparison with each other, this may reveal why we see such contrasting results between studies.

Work is required to analyse whether ROP2's impact on root development under osmotic stress is through the ROS pathway, or whether the impacts to auxin and ABA independently. It is important to analyse whether ROP2 alters RBOH ROS production. This could be achieved via qRT-PCR of RBOH enzymes in the loss-of-function *rop2* mutant under osmotic stress conditions. How ROP6-mediated osmotic stress production (Smokvaska *et al.* 2020) alters ABA and auxin is also an area that requires more work. The role of RHOGDI's in regulating ROP response to osmotic stress response is also interesting (Garcia-Mata *et al.* 2011) and could be studied further.

More research is required to fully understand what is causing the application of diphenyleneiodonium chloride (DPI) to have a negative and potentially toxic impact on root development. Using a smaller range of DPI treatments may answer as well as treating with a shorter time period. Potentially there are other chemical sources of inhibiting RBOH production that could be identified and used.

Bibliography

Abas, Lindy, Kolb, Martina, Stadlmann, Johannes, Janacek, Dorina, Lukic, Claus Schwechheimer, Leonid A. Sazanov, Lukas Mach, Jiri Friml and Ulrich Hammes. "Naphthylphthalamic Acid Associates with and Inhibits PIN Auxin Transporters." *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 118, no. 1 (2021): e2020857118.

- Abel, Steffen., and Athanios Theologis. "Early Genes and Auxin Action." *Plant Physiology* 111, no. 1 (1996): 9-17.
- Acharya, Biswa R., Byeong Wook Jeon, Wei Zhang, and Sarah M. Assmann. "Open Stomata 1 (OST1) Is Limiting in Abscisic Acid Responses of Arabidopsis Guard Cells." *New Phytologist* 200, no. 4 (2013): 1049-63.
- Adamowski, Maciek, and Jiří Friml. "PIN-Dependent Auxin Transport: Action, Regulation, and Evolution." *The Plant Cell* 27, no. 1 (2015): 20-32.
- Agurla, Srinivas., Shashibhushan Gahir, Shintaro Munemasa, Yoshiyuki Murata, and Agepati S Raghavendra. "Mechanism of Stomatal Closure in Plants Exposed to Drought and Cold Stress." [In eng]. Adv Exp Med Biol 1081 (2018): 215-32.
- Aida, Mitsuhiro., Dimitris Beis, Renze Heidstra, Viola Willemsen, Ikram Blilou, Carla Galinha, Laurent Nussaume, Yoo-Sun Noh, Richard Amasino and Ben Scheres "The PLETHORA Genes Mediate Patterning of the Arabidopsis Root Stem Cell Niche." [In eng]. *Cell* 119, no. 1 (Oct 1 2004): 109-20.
- Ali, Aktar. "Desensitization of ABA-Signaling: The Swing from Activation to Degradation." (2020).
- Antoniadi, Ioanna, Lenka Plačková, Biljana Simonovik, Karel Doležal, Colin Turnbull, Karin Ljung, and Ondřej Novák. "Cell-Type-Specific Cytokinin Distribution within the Arabidopsis Primary Root Apex." *The Plant Cell* 27, no. 7 (2015): 1955-67.
- Apel, Klaus, and Heribert Hirt. "Reactive Oxygen Species: Metabolism, Oxidative Stress, and Signal Transduction." [In eng]. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55 (2004): 373-99.
- Armengot, Laia, Eleonara Caldarella, Maria M. Marquès-Bueno, and M. Carmen Martínez. "The Protein Kinase CK2 Mediates Cross-Talk between Auxin- and Salicylic Acid-Signaling Pathways in the Regulation of *PINOID* Transcription." [In eng]. *PLoS One* 11, no. 6 (2016): e0157168.
- Assmann, Sarah M. "OPEN STOMATA1 Opens the Door to ABA Signaling in Arabidopsis Guard Cells." [In eng]. *Trends Plant Sci* 8, no. 4 (Apr 2003): 151-3.
- Bacelar, Eunice L. V. A., José M. Moutinho-Pereira, Berta M. C. Gonçalves, Cátia V. Q. Brito, José
 Gomes-Laranjo, Helena M. F. Ferreira, and Carlos M. Correia. "Water Use Strategies of Plants under Drought Conditions." In *Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features*, edited by Ricardo Aroca, 145-70. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- Bae, Sangsu., Jeongbin Park, and Jin-Soo Kim. "Cas-OFFinder: A Fast and Versatile Algorithm That Searches for Potential Off-Target Sites of Cas9 RNA-Guided Endonucleases." [In eng]. *Bioinformatics* 30, no. 10 (May 15 2014): 1473-5.
- Barbez, Elke, Martin Kubeš, Jakub Rolčík, Chloé Béziat, Aleš Pěnčík, Bangjun Wang, Michel Ruiz Rosquete, et al. "A Novel Putative Auxin Carrier Family Regulates Intracellular Auxin Homeostasis in Plants." *Nature* 485, no. 7396 (2012): 119-22.
- Bargmann, Bastiaan O. R., and Mark Estelle. "Auxin Perception: In the IAA of the Beholder." *Physiologia Plantarum* 151, no. 1 (2014): 52-61.
- Basu, Sahana., Surbhi Kumari, Alok Kumar, Rimsha Shahid, Santosh Kumar, and Gautam Kumar.
 "Nitro-Oxidative Stress Induces the Formation of Roots' Cortical Aerenchyma in Rice under Osmotic Stress." [In eng]. *Physiol Plant* 172, no. 2 (Jun 2021): 963-75.

- Batool, Sundas, Veli Vural Uslu, Hala Rajab, Nisar Ahmad, Rainer Waadt, Dietmar Geiger, Mario Malagoli, *et al.* "Sulfate Is Incorporated into Cysteine to Trigger ABA Production and Stomatal Closure." *The Plant Cell* 30, no. 12 (2018): 2973-87.
- Baxter, Aaron, Ron Mittler, and Nobuhiro Suzuki. "ROS as Key Players in Plant Stress Signalling." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 65, no. 5 (2013): 1229-40.
- Bechtold, Ulrike, John N Ferguson, and Philip M Mullineaux. "To Defend or to Grow: Lessons from Arabidopsis C24." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 69, no. 11 (2018): 2809-21.
- Ben Rejeb, Kilani, Delphine Lefebvre-De Vos, Isabel Le Disquet, Anne-Sophie Leprince, Marianne Bordenave, Régis Maldiney, Asma Jdey, Chedly Abdelly, and Arnould Savouré. "Hydrogen Peroxide Produced by NADPH Oxidases Increases Proline Accumulation During Salt or Mannitol Stress in a Rabidopsis Thaliana." New Phytologist 208, no. 4 (2015): 1138-48.
- Benjamins, Rene, and Ben Scheres. "Auxin: The Looping Star in Plant Development." [In eng]. Annu Rev Plant Biol 59 (2008): 443-65.
- Berken, Antje, and Alfred Wittinghofer. "Structure and Function of Rho-Type Molecular Switches in Plants." [In eng]. *Plant Physiol Biochem* 46, no. 3 (Mar 2008): 380-93.
- Berli, Federico. J., Daniela Moreno, Patricia Piccoli, Leandro Hespanhol-Viana, M. Fernanda Silva, Ricardo Bressan-Smith, J. Bruno Cavagnaro, and Ruben Bottini. "Abscisic Acid Is Involved in the Response of Grape (Vitis Vinifera L.) Cv. Malbec Leaf Tissues to Ultraviolet-B Radiation by Enhancing Ultraviolet-Absorbing Compounds, Antioxidant Enzymes and Membrane Sterols." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Environ* 33, no. 1 (Jan 2010): 1-10.
- Bhargava, Sujata, and Kshitija Sawant. "Drought Stress Adaptation: Metabolic Adjustment and Regulation of Gene Expression." *Plant Breeding* 132, no. 1 (2013): 21-32.
- Bienert, Gerd P., and Francois Chaumont. "Aquaporin-Facilitated Transmembrane Diffusion of Hydrogen Peroxide." [In eng]. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1840, no. 5 (May 2014): 1596-604.
- Boer, D. Roeland, Alejandra Freire-Rios, W. A. van den Berg, T. Saaki, I. W. Manfield, S. Kepinski, I. López-Vidrieo, et al. "Structural Basis for DNA Binding Specificity by the Auxin-Dependent ARF Transcription Factors." [In eng]. Cell 156, no. 3 (Jan 30 2014): 577-89.
- Boursiac, Yann, Sophie Léran, Claire Corratgé-Faillie, Alain Gojon, Gabriel Krouk, and Benoit Lacombe. "ABA Transport and Transporters." [In eng]. *Trends Plant Sci* 18, no. 6 (Jun 2013): 325-33.
- Boursiac, Yann, Sodana Prak, J. Boudet, O. Postaire, D. T. Luu, C. Tournaire-Roux, V. Santoni, and C. Maurel. "The Response of Arabidopsis Root Water Transport to a Challenging Environment Implicates Reactive Oxygen Species- and Phosphorylation-Dependent Internalization of Aquaporins." [In eng]. *Plant Signal Behav* 3, no. 12 (Dec 2008): 1096-8.
- Brumos, Javier, Linda M. Robles, Jeonga Yun, Thien C. Vu, Savannah Jackson, Jose M. Alonso, and Anna N. Stepanova. "Local Auxin Biosynthesis Is a Key Regulator of Plant Development." *Developmental Cell* 47, no. 3 (2018/11/05/2018): 306-18.e5.
- Brunetti, Cecilia, Alessio Fini, Federico Sebastiani, Antonella Gori, and Massimiliano Tattini. "Modulation of Phytohormone Signaling: A Primary Function of Flavonoids in Plant– Environment Interactions." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 9 (2018-July-20 2018).
- Buer, Charles S., Farzanah Kordbacheh, Thy T. Truong, Charles H. Hocart, and Michael A. Djordjevic.
 "Alteration of Flavonoid Accumulation Patterns in Transparent Testa Mutants Disturbs Auxin Transport, Gravity Responses, and Imparts Long-Term Effects on Root and Shoot Architecture." [In eng]. *Planta* 238, no. 1 (Jul 2013): 171-89.
- Bulgakov, Victor P., Hui-Chen Wu, and Tsung-Luo Jinn. "Coordination of Aba and Chaperone Signaling in Plant Stress Responses." *Trends in Plant Science* 24, no. 7 (2019): 636-51.
- Burla, Bo, Stefanie Pfrunder, Réka Nagy, Rita Maria Francisco, Youngsook Lee, and Enrico Martinoia.
 "Vacuolar Transport of Abscisic Acid Glucosyl Ester Is Mediated by ATP-Binding Cassette and Proton-Antiport Mechanisms in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *Plant physiology* 163, no. 3 (2013): 1446-58.

- Cajero-Sanchez, Wendy, Pamela Aceves-Garcia, María Fernández-Marcos, Crisanto Gutiérrez, Ulises Rosas, Berenice García-Ponce, Elena R. Álvarez-Buylla, Maria De La Paz Sánchez, and Adriana Garay-Arroyo. "Natural Root Cellular Variation in Responses to Osmotic Stress in Arabidopsis Thaliana Accessions." *Genes* 10, no. 12 (2019): 983.
- Casson, Stuart A., Paul M. Chilley, Jennifer F. Topping, I. Marta Evans, Martin A. Souter, and Keith Lindsey. "The POLARIS Gene of Arabidopsis Encodes a Predicted Peptide Required for Correct Root Growth and Leaf Vascular Patterning." *The Plant Cell* 14, no. 8 (2002): 1705-21.
- Castro, Bardo, Matteo Citterico, Sachie Kimura, Danielle M. Stevens, Michael Wrzaczek, and Gitta Coaker. "Stress-Induced Reactive Oxygen Species Compartmentalization, Perception and Signalling." *Nature Plants* (2021).
- Cha, Joon-Yung, Mi R. Kim, In J. Jung, Sun B. Kang, Hee J. Park, Min G. Kim, Dae-Jin Yun, and Woe-Yeon Kim. "The Thiol Reductase Activity of YUCCA6 Mediates Delayed Leaf Senescence by Regulating Genes Involved in Auxin Redistribution." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7 (2016-May-09 2016).
- Chen, Jui-Heng, Han-Wei Jiang, En-Jung Hsieh, Hsing- Yu Chen, Ching-Te Chien, Hsu-Liang Hsieh, and Tsan-Piao Lin. "Drought and Salt Stress Tolerance of an Arabidopsis Glutathione S-Transferase U17 Knockout Mutant Are Attributed to the Combined Effect of Glutathione and Abscisic Acid." [In eng]. *Plant Physiol* 158, no. 1 (Jan 2012): 340-51.
- Cheval, Cecilia, and Christine Faulkner. "Plasmodesmal Regulation During Plant–Pathogen Interactions." *New Phytologist* 217, no. 1 (2018): 62-67.
- Chilley, Paul M., Stuart A. Casson, Petr Tarkowski, Nathan Hawkins, Kevin L. Wang, Patrick J. Hussey, Mike Beale, Joseph R Ecker, Goran K Sandberg and Keith Lindsey. "The POLARIS Peptide of Arabidopsis Regulates Auxin Transport and Root Growth Via Effects on Ethylene Signaling." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 18, no. 11 (Nov 2006): 3058-72.
- Choi, Won-Gyu., Masatsugu Toyota, Su-Hwa H. Kim, Richard Hilleary, and Simon Gilroy. "Salt Stress-Induced Ca²⁺ Waves Are Associated with Rapid, Long-Distance Root-to-Shoot Signaling in Plants." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 111, no. 17 (Apr 29 2014): 6497-502.
- Choudhury, Feroza K., Amith R. Devireddy, Rajeev K. Azad, Vladmir Shulaev, and Ron Mittler. "Local and Systemic Metabolic Responses During Light-Induced Rapid Systemic Signaling." [In eng]. *Plant Physiol* 178, no. 4 (Dec 2018): 1461-72.
- Choudhury, Feroza K., Rosa M. Rivero, Eduardo Blumwald, and Ron Mittler. "Reactive Oxygen Species, Abiotic Stress and Stress Combination." *The Plant Journal* 90, no. 5 (2017): 856-67.
- Chun, Se Chul, Manivannan Paramasivan, and Murugesan Chandrasekaran. "Proline Accumulation Influenced by Osmotic Stress in Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Symbiotic Plants." [In English]. Frontiers in Microbiology 9 (2018-October-29 2018).
- Clark, Natalie M., Maria A. de Luis Balaguer, and Rosangela Sozzani. "Experimental Data and Computational Modeling Link Auxin Gradient and Development in the Arabidopsis Root." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 5 (2014-July-07 2014).
- Colebrook, Ellen H., Stephen G. Thomas, Andrew L. Phillips, and Peter Hedden. "The Role of Gibberellin Signalling in Plant Responses to Abiotic Stress." [In eng]. *J Exp Biol* 217, no. Pt 1 (Jan 1 2014): 67-75.
- Creelman, Robert. A., Hugh S. Mason, Robert J. Bensen, John S. Boyer, and John E. Mullet. "Water Deficit and Abscisic Acid Cause Differential Inhibition of Shoot Versus Root Growth in Soybean Seedlings : Analysis of Growth, Sugar Accumulation, and Gene Expression." [In eng]. *Plant physiology* 92, no. 1 (1990): 205-14.
- Cutler, Sean R., Pedro L. Rodriguez, Ruth R. Finkelstein, and Suzanne R. Abrams. "Abscisic Acid: Emergence of a Core Signaling Network." [In eng]. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 61 (2010): 651-79.
- Czechowski, Tomasz, Mark Stitt, Thomas Altmann, Michael K. Udvardi, and Wolf-Rudiger Scheible. "Genome-Wide Identification and Testing of Superior Reference Genes for Transcript Normalization in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *Plant Physiol* 139, no. 1 (Sep 2005): 5-17.

- Dai, Xinhua, Kiyoshi Mashiguchi, Qingguo Chen, Hiroyuki Kasahara, Yuji Kamiya, Sunil Ojha, Jennifer DuBois, David Ballou, and Yunde Zhao. "The Biochemical Mechanism of Auxin Biosynthesis by an Arabidopsis Yucca Flavin-Containing Monooxygenase." [In eng]. *J Biol Chem* 288, no. 3 (Jan 18 2013): 1448-57.
- Danquah, Agyemang, Axel de Zelicourt, Jean Colcombet and Heribert Hirt. "The Role of ABA and MAPK Signaling Pathways in Plant Abiotic Stress Responses." [In eng]. *Biotechnol Adv* 32, no. 1 (Jan-Feb 2014): 40-52.
- Das, Kaushik, and Aryadeep Roychoudhury. "Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) and Response of Antioxidants as ROS-Scavengers During Environmental Stress in Plants." [In English]. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* 2 (December-02 2014).
- Daudi, Arsalan, Zhenyu Cheng, Jose A. O'Brien, Nicole Mammarella, Safina Khan, Frederick M. Ausubel, and G. Paul Bolwell. "The Apoplastic Oxidative Burst Peroxidase in Arabidopsis Is a Major Component of Pattern-Triggered Immunity ". *The Plant Cell* 24, no. 1 (2012): 275-87.
- De Smet, Ive, Takuya Tetsumura, Bert De Rybel, Nicolas Frei dit Frey, Laurent Laplaze, Ilda Casimiro, Ranjan Swarup, Mirande Naudts, Steffen Vanneste, Dominique Audenaert, Dirk Inze, Malcolm J Bennett, Tom Beeckman "Auxin-Dependent Regulation of Lateral Root Positioning in the Basal Meristem of Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *Development* 134, no. 4 (Feb 2007): 681-90.
- De Smet, Stefanie, Ann Cuypers, Jaco Vangronsveld, and Tony Remans. "Gene Networks Involved in Hormonal Control of Root Development in Arabidopsis Thaliana: A Framework for Studying Its Disturbance by Metal Stress." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 16, no. 8 (2015): 19195-224.
- de Vega, Daniel, Adrian C. Newton, and Ari Sadanandom. "Post-Translational Modifications in Priming the Plant Immune System: Ripe for Exploitation?". *FEBS Letters* 592, no. 12 (2018): 1929-36.
- del Pozo, Juan Carlos. "Reactive Oxygen Species: From Harmful Molecules to Fine-Tuning Regulators of Stem Cell Niche Maintenance." *PLOS Genetics* 12, no. 9 (2016): e1006251.
- Dello Ioio, Raffaele., Francisco S. Linhares, Emanuele Scacchi, Eva Casamitjana-Martinez, Renze Heidstra, Paolo Costantino, and Sabrina Sabatini. "Cytokinins Determine Arabidopsis Root-Meristem Size by Controlling Cell Differentiation." [In eng]. *Curr Biol* 17, no. 8 (Apr 17 2007): 678-82.
- Dello Ioio, Raffaele, Kinu Nakamura, Laila Moubayidin, Serena Perilli, Masatoshi Taniguchi, Miyo T Morita, Takashi Aoyama, Paolo Costantino and Sabrina Sabatini. "A Genetic Framework for the Control of Cell Division and Differentiation in the Root Meristem." [In eng]. *Science* 322, no. 5906 (Nov 28 2008): 1380-4.
- Devireddy, Amith R., Emmanuel Liscum, and Ron Mittler. "Phytochrome B Is Required for Systemic Stomatal Responses and Reactive Oxygen Species Signaling During Light Stress ". *Plant Physiology* 184, no. 3 (2020): 1563-72.
- Devireddy, Amith R., Sara I. Zandalinas, Aurelio Gómez-Cadenas, Eduardo Blumwald, and Ron Mittler. "Coordinating the Overall Stomatal Response of Plants: Rapid Leaf-to-Leaf Communication During Light Stress." *Science Signaling* 11, no. 518 (2018): eaam9514.
- Dindas, Julian, Sönke Scherzer, M. Rob G. Roelfsema, Katharina von Meyer, Heike M. Müller, K. A. S. Al-Rasheid, Klaus Palme, *et al.* "Aux1-Mediated Root Hair Auxin Influx Governs Scftir1/Afb-Type Ca2+ Signaling." *Nature Communications* 9, no. 1 (2018/03/21 2018): 1174.
- Ding, Shuangcheng, Bin Zhang, and Feng Qin. "Arabidopsis RZFP34/CHYR1, a Ubiquitin E3 Ligase, Regulates Stomatal Movement and Drought Tolerance Via SnRK2.6-Mediated Phosphorylation." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 27, no. 11 (Nov 2015): 3228-44.
- Ding, Zhaojun., Carlos S. Galván-Ampudia, Emilie Demarsy, Łukasz Łangowski, Jurgen Kleine-Vehn, Yuanwei Fan, Miyo. T. Morita, Masao Tasaka, Christian Fankhauser, Remko Offringa and Jiri Friml " Light-Mediated Polarization of the PIN3 Auxin Transporter for the Phototropic Response in *Arabidopsis*." [In eng]. *Nat Cell Biol* 13, no. 4 (Apr 2011): 447-52.

- Dinneny, José R. "Developmental Responses to Water and Salinity in Root Systems." *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* 35, no. 1 (2019): 239-57.
- Dolan, L., K. Janmaat, V. Willemsen, P. Linstead, S. Poethig, K. Roberts, and B. Scheres. "Cellular Organisation of the Arabidopsis thaliana Root." *Development* 119, no. 1 (1993): 71-84.
- Du, Hao., Hongbo Liu, and Lizhong Xiong. "Endogenous Auxin and Jasmonic Acid Levels Are Differentially Modulated by Abiotic Stresses in Rice." [In eng]. *Front Plant Sci* 4 (2013): 397.
- Du, Yujuan, and Ben Scheres. "Lateral Root Formation and the Multiple Roles of Auxin." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 69, no. 2 (2017): 155-67.
- Duan, Yunfeng, Wensheng Zhang, Bao Li, Youning Wang, Kexue Li, Sodmergen, Chunyu Han, Yizhang Zhang, and Xia Li. "An Endoplasmic Reticulum Response Pathway Mediates Programmed Cell Death of Root Tip Induced by Water Stress in Arabidopsis." *New Phytologist* 186, no. 3 (2010): 681-95.
- Dubey, Shiv Mani, Nelson B. C. Serre, Denisa Oulehlová, Pruthvi Vittal, and Matyas Fendrych. "No Time for Transcription-Rapid Auxin Responses in Plants." [In eng]. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 13, no. 8 (Aug 2 2021).
- Dubiella, Ullrich, Heike Seybold, Guido Durian, Eileen Komander, Roman Lassig, Claus-Peter Witte, Waltraud X. Schulze, and Tina Romeis. "Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinase/NADPH Oxidase Activation Circuit Is Required for Rapid Defense Signal Propagation." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, no. 21 (2013): 8744-49.
- Dumanović, Jelena, Eugenie Nepovimova, Maja Natić, Kamil Kuča, and Vesna Jaćević. "The Significance of Reactive Oxygen Species and Antioxidant Defense System in Plants: A Concise Overview." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11 (2021-January-06 2021).
- Dunand, Christophe, Michele Crèvecoeur, and Claude Penel. "Distribution of Superoxide and Hydrogen Peroxide in Arabidopsis Root and Their Influence on Root Development: Possible Interaction with Peroxidases." [In eng]. *New Phytol* 174, no. 2 (2007): 332-41.
- Eliáš, Marek, and Vladimir Klimeš. "Rho GTPases: Deciphering the Evolutionary History of a Complex Protein Family." [In eng]. *Methods Mol Biol* 827 (2012): 13-34.
- Emenecker, Ryan J., and Lucia C. Strader. "Auxin-Abscisic Acid Interactions in Plant Growth and Development." [In eng]. *Biomolecules* 10, no. 2 (2020): 281.
- Endo, Akira, Yoshiaki Sawada, Hirokazu Takahashi, Masanori Okamoto, Keiichi Ikegami, Hanae Koiwai, Mitsunori Seo, et al. "Drought Induction of Arabidopsis 9-Cis-Epoxycarotenoid Dioxygenase Occurs in Vascular Parenchyma Cells". Plant Physiology 147, no. 4 (2008): 1984-93.
- Evans, Michael L., Hideo Ishikawa, and Mark A. Estelle. "Responses of Arabidopsis Roots to Auxin Studied with High Temporal Resolution: Comparison of Wild Type and Auxin-Response Mutants." *Planta* 194, no. 2 (1994/07/01 1994): 215-22.
- Fàbregas, Norma, Takuya Yoshida, and Alisdair R. Fernie. "Role of Raf-Like Kinases in Snrk2 Activation and Osmotic Stress Response in Plants." *Nature Communications* 11, no. 1 (2020).
- FAO, The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. "Proactive Approaches to Drought Preparedness – Where Are We Now and Where Do We Go from Here?". FAO Rome (2019).
- Fehér Attila, Dézi Bianka Lajkó, "Signals fly when kinases meet Rho-of-plants (ROP) small G-proteins", *Plant Science*, Volume 237, (2015), Pages 93-107,
- Feiguelman, Gil, Ying Fu, and Shaul Yalovsky. "Rop Gtpases Structure-Function and Signaling Pathways." *Plant Physiology* 176, no. 1 (2018): 57-79.
- Fendrych, Matyas, Maria Akhmanova, Jack Merrin, Matous Glanc, Shinya Hagihara, Koji Takahashi, Naoyuki Uchida, Keiko U. Torii, and Jiri Friml. "Rapid and Reversible Root Growth Inhibition by TIR1 Auxin Signalling." [In eng]. Nat Plants 4, no. 7 (Jul 2018): 453-59.
- Feng, Wei, Daniel Kita, Alexis Peaucelle, Heather N. Cartwright, Vinh Doan, Qiaohong Duan, Ming-Che Liu, Jacob Maman, Leonie Steinhorst, Ina Schmitz-Thom, Robert Yvon, Jorg Kudle, Hen-Ming Wu, Alice Y Change and Jose Dinneny "The FERONIA Receptor Kinase Maintains Cell-

Wall Integrity During Salt Stress through Ca²⁺ Signaling." [In eng]. *Curr Biol* 28, no. 5 (Mar 5 2018): 666-75.e5.

- Feng, Wei, Heike Lindner, Neil E. Robbins, II, and José R. Dinneny. "Growing out of Stress: The Role of Cell- and Organ-Scale Growth Control in Plant Water-Stress Responses." *The Plant Cell* 28, no. 8 (2016): 1769-82.
- Fichman, Yosef, Ronald J. Myers Jr., DeAna G. Grant, and Ron Mittler. "Plasmodesmata-Localized Proteins and ROS Orchestrate Light-Induced Rapid Systemic Signaling in *Arabidopsis*." [In eng]. *Sci Signal* 14, no. 671 (Feb 23 2021).
- Fichman, Yosef, and Ron Mittler. "Integration of Electric, Calcium, Reactive Oxygen Species and Hydraulic Signals During Rapid Systemic Signaling in Plants." *The Plant Journal* 107, no. 1 (2021): 7-20.
- Fichman, Yosef, and Ron Mittler. "Rapid Systemic Signaling During Abiotic and Biotic Stresses: Is the ROS Wave Master of All Trades?". *The Plant Journal* 102, no. 5 (2020): 887-96.
- Finkelstein, Ruth, Wendy Reeves, Tohru Ariizumi, and Camille Steber. "Molecular Aspects of Seed Dormancy." [In eng]. Annu Rev Plant Biol 59 (2008): 387-415.
- Finkelstein, Ruth. "Abscisic Acid Synthesis and Response." [In eng]. *The arabidopsis book* 11 (2013): e0166-e66.
- Friml, Jiri, Anne Vieten, Michael Sauer, Dolf Weijers, Heinz Schwarz, Thorsten Hamann, Remko Offringa, and Gerd Jürgens. "Efflux-Dependent Auxin Gradients Establish the Apical-Basal Axis of Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *Nature* 426, no. 6963 (Nov 13 2003): 147-53.
- Fu, Jing, Xinglin Zhang, Jiaming Liu, Xudong Gao, Juan Bai, Yueling Hao, and Hongchang Cui. "A Mechanism Coordinating Root Elongation, Endodermal Differentiation, Redox Homeostasis and Stress Response." *The Plant Journal* (2021).
- Fujii, Hiroaki, Viswanathan Chinnusamy, Americo Rodrigues, Silvia Rubio, Regina Antoni, Sang-Youl Park, Sean R. Cutler, et al. "In Vitro Reconstitution of an Abscisic Acid Signalling Pathway." Nature 462, no. 7273 (2009/12/01 2009): 660-64.
- Fujita, Satoshi, Damien De Bellis, Kai H Edel, Philipp Köster, Tonni Grube Andersen, Emanuel Schmid-Siegert, Valérie Dénervaud Tendon, et al. "SCHENGEN Receptor Module Drives Localized ROS Production and Lignification in Plant Roots." The EMBO Journal 39, no. 9 (2020): e103894.
- Gamble, Patricia E., and John E. Mullet. "Inhibition of Carotenoid Accumulation and Abscisic Acid Biosynthesis in Fluridone-Treated Dark-Grown Barley." *European Journal of Biochemistry* 160, no. 1 (1986): 117-21.
- Gapper, Catherine., and Liam Dolan. "Control of Plant Development by Reactive Oxygen Species." [In eng]. *Plant Physiol* 141, no. 2 (Jun 2006): 341-5.
- Garcia-Mata, Rafael, Etienne Boulter, and Keith Burridge. "The 'Invisible Hand': Regulation of Rho Gtpases by Rhogdis." [In eng]. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* 12, no. 8 (2011): 493-504.
- García, Ana Victoria, M. Al-Yousif, and Heribert Hirt. "Role of Agc Kinases in Plant Growth and Stress Responses." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 69 (2012): 3259-67.
- Geilfus, Christoph-Martin. "The Ph of the Apoplast: Dynamic Factor with Functional Impact under Stress." *Molecular Plant* 10, no. 11 (2017/11/06/ 2017): 1371-86.
- Gill, Sarvajeet Singh, and Narendra Tuteja. "Reactive Oxygen Species and Antioxidant Machinery in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants." [In eng]. *Plant Physiol Biochem* 48, no. 12 (Dec 2010): 909-30.
- Gilroy, Simon, Maciej Białasek, Nobuhiro Suzuki, Magdalena Górecka, Amith R. Devireddy, Stanisław Karpiński, and Ron Mittler. "ROS, Calcium, and Electric Signals: Key Mediators of Rapid Systemic Signaling in Plants ". *Plant Physiology* 171, no. 3 (2016): 1606-15.
- González-Guzmán, Miguel, Nadezda Apostolova, Jose M. Bellés, Jose M. Barrero, Pedro Piqueras, Maria R. Ponce, Jose L. Micol, Ramon Serrano, and Pedro L. Rodríguez. "The Short-Chain Alcohol Dehydrogenase ABA2 Catalyzes the Conversion of Xanthoxin to Abscisic Aldehyde." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 14, no. 8 (Aug 2002): 1833-46.

- Gosti, Francoise., Nathalie Beaudoin, Carine Serizet, Alex A. Webb, Nicole Vartanian, and Jerome Giraudat. "ABI1 Protein Phosphatase 2C is a Negative Regulator of Abscisic Acid Signaling." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 11, no. 10 (Oct 1999): 1897-910.
- Grondin, Alexandre, Olivier Rodrigues, Lionel Verdoucq, Sylvain Merlot, Nathalie Leonhardt, and Christophe Maurel. "Aquaporins Contribute to ABA-Triggered Stomatal Closure through Ost1-Mediated Phosphorylation." *The Plant Cell* 27, no. 7 (2015): 1945-54.
- Gu, Xiaoyan, Kumari Fonseka, Julien Agneessens, Stuart A. Casson, Andrei Smertenko, Guangqin
 Guo, Jennifer F. Topping, Patrick J. Hussey, and Keith Lindsey. "The Arabidopsis R-Snare
 Vamp714 Is Essential for Polarisation of Pin Proteins and Auxin Responses." New Phytologist
 230, no. 2 (2021): 550-66.
- Gupta, Aditi, Andrés Rico-Medina, and Ana I. Caño-Delgado. "The Physiology of Plant Responses to Drought." *Science* 368, no. 6488 (2020): 266-69.
- Ha, Chien Van., Dung T. Le, Rie Nishiyama, Yasuko Watanabe, Saad Sulieman, Uyen Thi Tran, Keiichi Mochida, Nguyen Van Dong, Kazuko Yamaguch-Shinozaki, Kazuo Shinozaki and Lam-Son Phan Tran "The Auxin Response Factor Transcription Factor Family in Soybean: Genome-Wide Identification and Expression Analyses During Development and Water Stress." [In eng]. DNA Res 20, no. 5 (Oct 2013): 511-24.
- Hachez, Charles, Arnaud Besserer, Adrien S. Chevalier, and Francois Chaumont. "Insights into Plant Plasma Membrane Aquaporin Trafficking." [In eng]. *Trends Plant Sci* 18, no. 6 (Jun 2013): 344-52.
- Harris, Jeanne M. "Abscisic Acid: Hidden Architect of Root System Structure." [In eng]. *Plants (Basel)* 4, no. 3 (Aug 11 2015): 548-72.
- Hasanuzzaman, Mirza, M.H.M. Borhannuddin Bhuyan, Faisal Zulfiqar, Ali Raza, Sayed Mohammad Mohsin, Jubayer Al Mahmud, Masayuki Fujita, and Vasileios Fotopoulos. "Reactive Oxygen Species and Antioxidant Defense in Plants under Abiotic Stress: Revisiting the Crucial Role of a Universal Defense Regulator." *Antioxidants* 9, no. 8 (2020): 681.
- Hashimoto, Takashi "Microtubules in Plants." [In eng]. Arabidopsis Book 13 (2015): e0179.
- Haswell, Elizabeth S., and Paul E. Verslues. "The Ongoing Search for the Molecular Basis of Plant Osmosensing." *Journal of General Physiology* 145, no. 5 (2015): 389-94.
- Hayashi, Ken-ichiro, Kazushi Arai, Yuki Aoi, Yuka Tanaka, Hayao Hira, Ruipan Guo, Yun Hu, *et al.* "The Main Oxidative Inactivation Pathway of the Plant Hormone Auxin." *Nature Communications* 12, no. 1 (2021/11/22 2021): 6752.
- Heisler, Marcus G., Carolyn Ohno, Pradeep Das, Ppatrick Sieber, Gonehal V. Reddy, Jeff A. Long, and Elliot M. Meyerowitz. "Patterns of Auxin Transport and Gene Expression During Primordium Development Revealed by Live Imaging of the Arabidopsis Inflorescence Meristem." [In eng]. *Curr Biol* 15, no. 21 (Nov 8 2005): 1899-911.
- Hoffmann, Robert D., Lene I. Olsen, Chukwuebuka V. Ezike, Jesper T. Pedersen, Raffaele Manstretta, Rosa L. López-Marqués, and Michael Palmgren. "Roles of Plasma Membrane Proton ATPases AHA2 and AHA7 in Normal Growth of Roots and Root Hairs in *Arabidopsis Thaliana*." [In eng]. *Physiol Plant* 166, no. 3 (Jul 2019): 848-61.
- Hou, Congcong, Wang Tian, Thomas Kleist, Kai He, Veder Garcia, Fenglin Bai, Yanli Hao, Sheng Luan, and Legong Li. "DUF221 Proteins are a family of Osmosensitive Calcium-Permeable Cation Channels conserved across Eukaryotes." *Cell Research* 24, no. 5 (2014/05/01 2014): 632-35.
- Hu, Chun-Hong, Peng-Qi Wang, Peng-Peng Zhang, Xiu-Min Nie, Bin-Bin Li, Li Tai, Wen-Ting Liu, Wen-Qiang Li, and Kun-Ming Chen. "NADPH Oxidases: The Vital Performers and Center Hubs During Plant Growth and Signaling." [In eng]. *Cells* 9, no. 2 (2020): 437.
- Huang, Daiqing, Weiren Wu, Suzanne R. Abrams, and Adrian J. Cutler. "The Relationship of Drought-Related Gene Expression in Arabidopsis Thaliana to Hormonal and Environmental Factors."
 [In eng]. J Exp Bot 59, no. 11 (2008): 2991-3007.

- Huang, Guo-Tao, Shi-Liang Ma, Li-Ping Bai, Li Zhang, Hui Ma, Ping Jia, Jun Liu, Ming Zhong, and Zhi-Fu
 Guo. "Signal Transduction During Cold, Salt, and Drought Stresses in Plants." [In eng]. *Mol Biol Rep* 39, no. 2 (Feb 2012): 969-87.
- Huang, Honglin, Farhan Ullah, Dao-Xiu Zhou, Ming Yi, and Yu Zhao. "Mechanisms of ROS Regulation of Plant Development and Stress Responses." *Frontiers in Plant Science* 10 (2019).
- Huang, Shaobai, Olivier Van Aken, Markus Schwarzländer, Katharina Belt, and A Harvey Millar. "The Roles of Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species in Cellular Signaling and Stress Response in Plants." [In eng]. *Plant Physiol* 171, no. 3 (Jul 2016): 1551-9.
- Huang, Ya-Chen, Chung-Yen Niu, Chen-Ru Yang, and Tsung-Luo Jinn. "The Heat Stress Factor HSFA6B Connects ABA Signaling and ABA-Mediated Heat Responses." [In eng]. *Plant physiology* 172, no. 2 (2016): 1182-99.
- Hwang, Jae-Ung, Byeong Wook Jeon, Daewoong Hong, and Youngsook Lee. "Active ROP2 GTPase Inhibits ABA- and CO₂-Induced Stomatal Closure." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Environ* 34, no. 12 (Dec 2011): 2172-82.
- Hwang, Sung Min, Dae Won Kim, Min Seok Woo, Hyeong Seop Jeong, Young Sim Son, Salina Akhter, Gyung Ja Choi, and Jeong Dong Bahk. "Functional Characterization of Arabidopsis HsfA6a as a Heat-Shock Transcription Factor under High Salinity and Dehydration Conditions." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Environ* 37, no. 5 (May 2014): 1202-22.
- Iqbal, Mohammed Shariq, Akhilesh Kumar Singh, and Mohammad Israil Ansari. "Effect of Drought Stress on Crop Production." In *New Frontiers in Stress Management for Durable Agriculture*, 35-47: Springer, 2020.
- Iqbal, Noushina, Nafees A. Khan, Antonio Ferrante, Alice Trivellini, Alessandra Francini, and M. I. R. Khan. "Ethylene Role in Plant Growth, Development and Senescence: Interaction with Other Phytohormones." [In English]. Frontiers in Plant Science 8 (2017-April-04 2017).
- Isoda, Reika, Akira Yoshinari, Yuuma Ishikawa, Mayuri Sadoine, Rüdiger Simon, Wolf B. Frommer, and Masayoshi Nakamura. "Sensors for the Quantification, Localization and Analysis of the Dynamics of Plant Hormones." [In eng]. *The Plant journal : for cell and molecular biology* 105, no. 2 (2021): 542-57.
- Jang, Geupil, Youngdae Yoon, and Yang Do Choi. "Crosstalk with Jasmonic Acid Integrates Multiple Responses in Plant Development." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21, no. 1 (2020): 305.
- Janků, Martina, Lenka Luhová, and Marek Petřivalský. "On the Origin and Fate of Reactive Oxygen Species in Plant Cell Compartments." [In eng]. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)* 8, no. 4 (2019): 105.
- Jiao, Yiheng, Lirong Sun, Yalin Song, Limin Wang, Liping Liu, Liyue Zhang, Bo Liu, *et al.* "ATRBOHD and ATRBOHF Positively Regulate Abscisic Acid-Inhibited Primary Root Growth by Affecting Ca²⁺ Signalling and Auxin Response of Roots in Arabidopsis." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 64, no. 14 (2013): 4183-92.
- Jones, Mark A., Jun-Jiang Shen, Ying Fu, Hai Li, Zhenbiao Yang, and Claire S. Grierson. "The Arabidopsis Rop2 GTPase Is a Positive Regulator of both Root Hair Initiation and Tip Growth." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 14, no. 4 (Apr 2002): 763-76.
- Joo, Jung Hee, Yun Soo Bae, and June Seung Lee. "Role of Auxin-Induced Reactive Oxygen Species in Root Gravitropism." *Plant Physiology* 126, no. 3 (2001): 1055-60.
- Ju, Chuanli, Gyeong Mee Yoon, Jennifer Marie Shemansky, David Y. Lin, Z. Irene Ying, Jianhong Chang, Wesley M. Garrett, Mareika Kessenbrock, George Groth, Mark L Tucker, Bret Cooper, Joseph Kieber and Caren Chang "CTR1 Phosphorylates the Central Regulator EIN2 to Control Ethylene Hormone Signaling from the ER Membrane to the Nucleus in Arabidopsis." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, no. 47 (2012): 19486-91.
- Jürgens, Gerd "Apical-Basal Pattern Formation in Arabidopsis Embryogenesis." [In eng]. *The EMBO journal* 20, no. 14 (2001): 3609-16.

- Kadota, Yasuhiro., Ken Shirasu, and Cyril Zipfel. "Regulation of the NADPH Oxidase RBOHD During Plant Immunity." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Physiol* 56, no. 8 (Aug 2015): 1472-80.
- Kadoto, Yasuhiro, Jan Sklenar, Paul Derbyshire, Lena Stransfeld, Shuta Asai, Vardis, Ntoukakis, Jonathan, DG Jones, Ken Shirasu, Frank Menke, Alexandra Jones and Cyril Zipfel "Direct Regulation of the Nadph Oxidase Rbohd by the Prr-Associated Kinase Bik1 During Plant Immunity." [In eng]. *Mol Cell* 54, no. 1 (Apr 10 2014): 43-55.
- Kalve, Shweta, Bulelani L. Sizani, Marios Nektarios Markakis, Céline Helsmoortel, Geert Vandeweyer, Kris Laukens, Manou Sommen, et al. "Osmotic Stress Inhibits Leaf Growth of Arabidopsis Thaliana by Enhancing Arf-Mediated Auxin Responses." New Phytologist 226, no. 6 (2020): 1766-80.
- Kang, Joohyun, Jae-Ung Hwang, Miyoung Lee, Yu-Young Kim, Sarah M. Assmann, Enrico Martinoia, and Youngsook Lee. "PDR-Type ABC Transporter Mediates Cellular Uptake of the Phytohormone Abscisic Acid." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107, no. 5 (2010): 2355-60.
- Kanno, Yuri, Atsushi Hanada, Yasutaka Chiba, Takanari Ichikawa, Miki Nakazawa, Minami Matsui, Tomokazu Koshiba, Yuji Kamiya, and Mitsunori Seo. "Identification of an Abscisic Acid Transporter by Functional Screening Using the Receptor Complex as a Sensor." *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 109, no. 24 (2012): 9653-58.
- Kärkönen, Anna, and Kazuyuki Kuchitsu. "Reactive Oxygen Species in Cell Wall Metabolism and Development in Plants." [In eng]. *Phytochemistry* 112 (Apr 2015): 22-32.
- Katsuta, Shohei, Goro Masuda, Hyeokjin Bak, Akihisa Shinozawa, Yoshiaki Kamiyama, Taishi Umezawa, Daisuke Takezawa, *et al.* "Arabidopsis Raf-Like Kinases Act as Positive Regulators of Subclass Iii Snrk2 in Osmostress Signaling." *The Plant Journal* 103, no. 2 (2020): 634-44.
- Kawano, T. "Roles of the Reactive Oxygen Species-Generating Peroxidase Reactions in Plant Defense and Growth Induction." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Rep* 21, no. 9 (Jun 2003): 829-37.
- Khan, M. Iqbal R., Mehar Fatma, Tasir S. Per, Naser A. Anjum, and Nafees A. Khan. "Salicylic Acid-Induced Abiotic Stress Tolerance and Underlying Mechanisms in Plants." [In English]. Frontiers in Plant Science 6 (2015-June-30 2015).
- Khan, S., and J. M. Stone. "Arabidopsis Thaliana GH3.9 Influences Primary Root Growth." [In eng]. *Planta* 226, no. 1 (Jun 2007): 21-34.
- Kieber, J. J. "The Ethylene Response Pathway in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol* 48 (1997): 277-96.

Kim, Chanhong. "ROS-Driven Oxidative Modification: Its Impact on Chloroplasts-Nucleus Communication." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 10 (2020-January-23 2020).

- Kimura, Sachie, Cezary Waszczak, Kerri Hunter, and Michael Wrzaczek. "Bound by Fate: The Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in Receptor-Like Kinase Signaling." *The Plant Cell* 29, no. 4 (2017): 638-54.
- Kinoshita, Natsuko, Huan Wang, Hiroyuki Kasahara, Jun Liu, Cameron Macpherson, Yasunori
 Machida, Yuji Kamiya, Matthew A. Hannah, and Nam-Hai Chua. "IAA-Ala Resistant3, an
 Evolutionarily Conserved Target of miR167, Mediates *Arabidopsis* Root Architecture Changes
 During High Osmotic Stress." [In eng]. *The Plant cell* 24, no. 9 (2012): 3590-602.
- Kishor, P. B. Kavi, S. Sangam, R. N. Amrutha, P. Sri Laxmi, K. R. Naidu, K. R. S. S. Rao, Sreenath Rao, Sreenath Rao, K.J Reddy, P. Theriappan and N. Sreenivasulu. "Regulation of Proline Biosynthesis, Degradation, Uptake and Transport in Higher Plants: Its Implications in Plant Growth and Abiotic Stress Tolerance." *Current Science* 88, no. 3 (2005): 424-38.
- Kleine-Vehn, Jürgen, Fang Huang, Satoshi Naramoto, Jing Zhang, Marta Michniewicz, Remko
 Offringa, and Jiří Friml. "PIN Auxin Efflux Carrier Polarity Is Regulated by Pinoid Kinase Mediated Recruitment into Gnom-Independent Trafficking in Arabidopsis". *The Plant Cell* 21, no. 12 (2009): 3839-49.

Koevoets, Iko T., Jan Henk Venema, J. Theo. M. Elzenga, and Christa Testerink. "Roots Withstanding Their Environment: Exploiting Root System Architecture Responses to Abiotic Stress to Improve Crop Tolerance." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7 (2016-August-31 2016).

- Kohli, Sukhmeen Kaur, Kanika Khanna, Renu Bhardwaj, Elsayed Fathi Abd Allah, Parvaiz Ahmad, and Francisco J. Corpas. "Assessment of Subcellular Ros and No Metabolism in Higher Plants: Multifunctional Signaling Molecules." [In eng]. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)* 8, no. 12 (2019): 641.
- Kollist, Hannes, Sara. I. Zandalinas, Soham Sengupta, Maris Nuhkat, Jaakko Kangasjärvi, and Ron Mittler. "Rapid Responses to Abiotic Stress: Priming the Landscape for the Signal Transduction Network." [In eng]. *Trends Plant Sci* 24, no. 1 (Jan 2019): 25-37.
- Korver, Ruud A., Iko T. Koevoets, and Christa Testerink. "Out of Shape During Stress: A Key Role for Auxin." [In eng]. *Trends Plant Sci* 23, no. 9 (Sep 2018): 783-93.
- Kovács, Hajnalka, Dávid Aleksza, Abu Imran Baba, Anita Hajdu, Anna Mária Király, Laura Zsigmond, Szilvia Z. Tóth, László Kozma-Bognár, and László Szabados. "Light Control of Salt-Induced Proline Accumulation Is Mediated by Elongated Hypocotyl 5 in Arabidopsis." [In English]. Frontiers in Plant Science 10 (2019-December-10 2019).
- Kramer, Eric M., and Malcolm J. Bennett. "Auxin Transport: A Field in Flux." [In eng]. *Trends Plant Sci* 11, no. 8 (Aug 2006): 382-6.
- Kramer, Paul J, and John S Boyer. Water Relations of Plants and Soils. Academic press, 1995.
- Krämer, Ute. "Planting Molecular Functions in an Ecological Context with Arabidopsis Thaliana." [In eng]. *eLife* 4 (2015): e06100.
- Kreszies, Tino, Nandhini Shellakkutti, Alina Osthoff, Peng Yu, Jutta A. Baldauf, Viktoria V. Zeisler-Diehl, Kosala Ranathunge, Frank Hochholdinger, and Lukas Schreiber. "Osmotic Stress Enhances Suberization of Apoplastic Barriers in Barley Seminal Roots: Analysis of Chemical, Transcriptomic and Physiological Responses." *New Phytologist* 221, no. 1 (2019): 180-94.
- Kuhn, Benjamin M., Tomasz Nodzyński, Sanae Errafi, Rahel Bucher, Shibu Gupta, Bibek Aryal, Petre Dobrev, et al. "Flavonol-Induced Changes in PIN2 Polarity and Auxin Transport in the Arabidopsis Thaliana ROL1-2 Mutant Require Phosphatase Activity." Scientific Reports 7, no. 1 (2017/02/06 2017): 41906.
- Kurihara, Daisuke, Yoko Mizuta, Yoshikatsu Sato, and Tetsuya Higashiyama. "ClearSee: A Rapid Optical Clearing Reagent for Whole-Plant Fluorescence Imaging." *Development* 142, no. 23 (2015): 4168-79.
- Kuromori, Takashi, Mitsunori Seo, and Kazuo Shinozaki. "ABA Transport and Plant Water Stress Responses." *Trends in Plant Science* 23, no. 6 (2018/06/01/ 2018): 513-22.
- Kwak, June M., Izumi C. Mori, Zhen-Ming Pei, Nathalie Leonhardt, Miguel Angel Torres, Jeffery L.
 Dangl, Rachel E. Bloom, et al. "NADPH Oxidase AtRBOHD and AtRBOHF Genes Function in ROS-Dependent ABA Signaling in Arabidopsis." *The EMBO Journal* 22, no. 11 (2003): 2623-33.
- Lamers, Jasper, Tom Van Der Meer, and Christa Testerink. "How Plants Sense and Respond to Stressful Environments." *Plant Physiology* 182, no. 4 (2020): 1624-35.
- Lee, Minyoung, Jae-Hoon Jung, Doo-Yeol Han, Pil Joon Seo, Woong June Park, and Chung-Mo Park. "Activation of a Flavin Monooxygenase Gene YUCCA7 Enhances Drought Resistance in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *Planta* 235, no. 5 (May 2012): 923-38.
- Lesk, Corey, Pedram Rowhani, and Navin Ramankutty. "Influence of Extreme Weather Disasters on Global Crop Production." *Nature* 529, no. 7584 (2016/01/01 2016): 84-87.
- Leyser, O. "Auxin Signaling." [In eng]. Plant Physiol 176, no. 1 (Jan 2018): 465-79.
- Li, Lei, Meng Li, Liping Yu, Zhaoyang Zhou, Xiangxiu Liang, Zixu Liu, Gaihong Cai, Liyan Gao, Xiaojuan Zhang, Yingchun Wang, She Chen and Jian-Min Zhou "The FLS2-Associated Kinase BIK1 Directly Phosphorylates the NADPH oxidase RBOHD to Control Plant Immunity." [In eng]. *Cell Host Microbe* 15, no. 3 (Mar 12 2014): 329-38.

- Li, Mengping, and Chanhong Kim. "Chloroplast ROS and Stress Signaling." *Plant Communications* 3, no. 1 (2022/01/10/ 2022): 100264.
- Li, Xiaoqing, Lin Chen, Brian G. Forde, and William J. Davies. "The Biphasic Root Growth Response to Abscisic Acid in Arabidopsis Involves Interaction with Ethylene and Auxin Signalling Pathways." *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8 (2017).
- Li, Yang, Yaping Wang, Shutang Tan, Zhen Li, Zhi Yuan, Matouš Glanc, David Domjan, Kai Wang, Wei Xuan, Yan Guo, Zhizhong Gong, Jiri Friml, Jing Zhang "Root Growth Adaptation Is Mediated by PYLs ABA Receptor-PP2A Protein Phosphatase Complex." *Advanced Science* 7, no. 3 (2020): 1901455.
- Li, Zixing, and Dong Liu. "ROPGEF1 and ROPGEF4 Are Functional Regulators of ROP11 GTPase in ABA-Mediated Stomatal Closure in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *FEBS Lett* 586, no. 9 (May 7 2012): 1253-8.
- Li, Z., Rainer Waadt, and Julian I. Schroeder. "Release of GTP Exchange Factor Mediated Down-Regulation of Abscisic Acid Signal Transduction through ABA-Induced Rapid Degradation of RopGEFs." [In eng]. *PLoS Biol* 14, no. 5 (May 2016): e1002461.
- Liao, Che-Yang, Wouter Smet, Geraldine Brunoud, Saiko Yoshida, Teva Vernoux, and Dolf Weijers. "Reporters for Sensitive and Quantitative Measurement of Auxin Response." *Nature Methods* 12, no. 3 (2015/03/01 2015): 207-10.
- Lin, Deshu, Shingo Nagawa, Jisheng Chen, Lingyan Cao, Xu Chen, Tongda Xu, Hongjiang Li, Pankaj Dhonukshe, Chizuko Yamamuro, Jiri Friml, Ben Scheres, Ying Fu and Zhenbiao Yang "A ROP GTPase-Dependent Auxin Signaling Pathway Regulates the Subcellular Distribution of PIN2 in Arabidopsis Roots." [In eng]. *Curr Biol* 22, no. 14 (Jul 24 2012): 1319-25.
- Lin, Zhen, Yuan Li, Zhengjing Zhang, Xiaolei Liu, Chuan-Chih Hsu, Yanyan Du, Tian Sang, Chen Zhu, Yubei Wang, Viswanathan Satheesh, Pritu Pratibha, Yang Zhao, Chun-Peng Song, W. Andy Tao, Jian-Kang Zhu and Pengcheng Wang "A RAF-SnRK2 Kinase Cascade Mediates Early Osmotic Stress Signaling in Higher Plants." *Nature Communications* 11, no. 1 (2020).
- Liu, Haipei, Iain R. Searle, Diane E. Mather, Amanda J. Able, and Jason A. Able. "Morphological, Physiological and Yield Responses of Durum Wheat to Pre-Anthesis Water-Deficit Stress Are Genotype-Dependent." *Crop and Pasture Science* 66, no. 10 (2015): 1024-38.
- Liu, Jingchun and Bruno Müller. "Imaging TCSn::GFP, a Synthetic Cytokinin Reporter, in Arabidopsis Thaliana." [In eng]. *Methods Mol Biol* 1497 (2017): 81-90.
- Liu, Junli, Saher Mehdi, Jennifer Topping, Petr Tarkowski, and Keith Lindsey. "Modelling and Experimental Analysis of Hormonal Crosstalk in Arabidopsis." *Molecular Systems Biology* 6, no. 1 (2010): 373.
- Liu, Junli, James Rowe, and Keith Lindsey. "Hormonal Crosstalk for Root Development: A Combined Experimental and Modeling Perspective." [In eng]. *Frontiers in plant science* 5 (2014): 116-16.
- Liu, Shiwei, Zongyou Lv, Yihui Liu, Ling Li, and Lida Zhang. "Network Analysis of ABA-Dependent and ABA-Independent Drought Responsive Genes in Arabidopsis Thaliana." [In eng]. *Genet Mol Biol* 41, no. 3 (Jul/Sept. 2018): 624-37.
- Liu, Xin, Jiawei Wang, and Linfeng Sun. "Structure of the Hyperosmolality-Gated Calcium-Permeable Channel OSCA1.2." *Nature Communications* 9, no. 1 (2018/11/29 2018): 5060.
- Livanos, Pantelis, Basil Galatis, and Panagiotis Apostolakos. "The Interplay between ROS and Tubulin Cytoskeleton in Plants." [In eng]. *Plant Signal Behav* 9, no. 1 (2014): e28069.
- Ljung, Karl, Anna K. Hull, John Celenza, Masashi Yamada, Mark Estelle, Jennifer Normanly, and Goran Sandberg. "Sites and Regulation of Auxin Biosynthesis in Arabidopsis Roots." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 17, no. 4 (Apr 2005): 1090-104.
- Lorrai, Riccardo., Alessandra Boccaccini, Veronica Ruta, Marco Possenti, Paolo Costantino, and Paola Vittorioso. "Abscisic Acid Inhibits Hypocotyl Elongation Acting on Gibberellins, DELLA Proteins and Auxin." [In eng]. *AoB Plants* 10, no. 5 (Oct 2018): ply061.

Ludwig-Müller, Jutta. "Auxin Conjugates: Their Role for Plant Development and in the Evolution of Land Plants." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 62, no. 6 (2011): 1757-73.

- Ma, Xiaonan, Xiaoran Zhang, Ling Yang, Mengmeng Tang, Kai Wang, Li Wang, Ling Bai, and Chunpeng Song. "Hydrogen Peroxide Plays an Important Role in PERK4-Mediated Abscisic Acid-Regulated Root Growth in *Arabidopsis*." *Functional Plant Biology* 46, no. 2 (2019): 165-74.
- Mabuchi, Kaho, Hiromasa Maki, Tomotaka Itaya, Takamasa Suzuki, Mika Nomoto, Satomi Sakaoka, Atsushi Morikami, *et al.* "Myb30 Links Ros Signaling, Root Cell Elongation, and Plant Immune Responses." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115, no. 20 (2018): E4710-E19.
- Mafakheri, A., A. Siosemardeh, Bahman Bahramnejad, Paul Struik, and Yousef Sohrabi. "Effect of Drought Stress on Yield, Proline and Chlorophyll Contents in Three Chickpea Cultivars." *Australian Journal of Crop Science 4 (2010) 8* 4 (10/01 2010).
- Maki, Hiromasa, Satomi Sakaoka, Tomotaka Itaya, Takamasa Suzuki, Kaho Mabuchi, Takashi Amabe, Nobutaka Suzuki, Tetsuya Higashiyama, Yasuomi Tada, Tsuyoshi Nakagaw, Atsushi Morikami and Hironaka Tsukagoshi. "ANAC032 Regulates Root Growth through the MYB30 Gene Regulatory Network." *Scientific Reports* 9, no. 1 (2019).
- Mangano, Silvina, Silvina Paola Denita Juárez, and José M. Estevez. "ROS Regulation of Polar Growth in Plant Cells." [In eng]. *Plant physiology* 171, no. 3 (2016): 1593-605.
- Marcec, Matthew J., and Kiwamu Tanaka. "Crosstalk between Calcium and ROS Signaling During Flg22-Triggered Immune Response in *Arabidopsis* Leaves." [In eng]. *Plants (Basel)* 11, no. 1 (Dec 21 2021).
- Martinière, Alexandre, Jean Bernard Fiche, Marija Smokvarska, Stéphane Mari, Carine Alcon, Xavier Dumont, Kian Hematy, Yvon Jaillais, Marcelo Nollmann and CHristophe Maurel "Osmotic Stress Activates Two Reactive Oxygen Species Pathways with Distinct Effects on Protein Nanodomains and Diffusion." *Plant Physiology* 179, no. 4 (2019): 1581-93.
- Mase, Kosuke, and Hironaka Tsukagoshi. "Reactive Oxygen Species Link Gene Regulatory Networks During Arabidopsis Root Development." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 12, no. 642 (2021-April-27 2021).
- Mason, Michael G., Dennis E. Mathews, D. Aaron Argyros, Bridey B. Maxwell, Joseph J. Kieber, Jose M. Alonso, Joseph R. Ecker, and G. Eric Schaller. "Multiple Type-B Response Regulators Mediate Cytokinin Signal Transduction in Arabidopsis". *The Plant Cell* 17, no. 11 (2005): 3007-18.
- Mazars, Christian, Patrice Thuleau, Olivier Lamotte, and Stéphane Bourque. "Cross-Talk between ROS and Calcium in Regulation of Nuclear Activities." *Molecular Plant* 3, no. 4 (2010/07/01/ 2010): 706-18.
- Meinhard, Michael, Pedro L. Rodriguez, and Erwin Grill. "The Sensitivity of ABI2 to Hydrogen Peroxide Links the Abscisic Acid-Response Regulator to Redox Signalling." [In eng]. *Planta* 214, no. 5 (Mar 2002): 775-82.
- Mellor, Nathan L., Ute Voß, Alexander Ware, George Janes, Duncan Barrack, Anthony Bishopp, Malcolm J. Bennett, Darren M Wells, Leah R Band "Systems Approaches Reveal That ABCB and PIN Proteins Mediate Co-Dependent Auxin Efflux." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* (Mar 18 2022).
- Mhamdi, Amna, and Frank Van Breusegem. "Reactive Oxygen Species in Plant Development." [In eng]. *Development* 145, no. 15 (Aug 9 2018).
- Miao, Yuchen., Dong Lv, Pengchen Wang, Xue-Chen Wang, Jia Chen, Chen Miao, and Chun-P Song.
 "An Arabidopsis Glutathione Peroxidase Functions as Both a Redox Transducer and a Scavenger in Abscisic Acid and Drought Stress Responses." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 18, no. 10 (Oct 2006): 2749-66.
- Miao, Yuchen, Guo Jinggon, Liu ErTao, Li Kun, Jie Dai, Pengcheng Wang, Jia Chen, and ChunPeng Song. "Osmotically Stress-Regulated the Expression of Glutathione Peroxidase 3 in Arabidopsis." *Chinese Science Bulletin - CHIN SCI BULL* 52 (11/01 2007): 127-30.
- Michel, Burlyn E. "Evaluation of the Water Potentials of Solutions of Polyethylene Glycol 8000 Both in the Absence and Presence of Other Solutes." *Plant Physiology* 72, no. 1 (1983): 66-70.

- Miller, Gad, Karen Schlauch, Rachel Tam, Diego Cortes, Miguel A. Torres, Vladimir Shulaev, Jeffery L. Dangl, and Ron Mittler. "The Plant NADPH Oxidase RBOHD Mediates Rapid Systemic Signaling in Response to Diverse Stimuli." [In eng]. *Sci Signal* 2, no. 84 (Aug 18 2009): ra45.
- Mironova, Victoria V., Nadezda A. Omelyanchuk, Daniil S. Wiebe, and Victor G. Levitsky. "Computational Analysis of Auxin Responsive Elements in the *Arabidopsis thaliana* L. Genome." [In eng]. *BMC Genomics* 15 Suppl 12, no. Suppl 12 (2014): S4.
- Mittler, Ron, Sany Vanderauwera, Nobuhiro Suzuki, Gad Miller, Vanesa B. Tognetti, Klaas Vandepoele, Marty Gollery, Vladimir Shulaev, and Frank Van Breusegem. "ROS Signaling: The New Wave?" [In eng]. *Trends Plant Sci* 16, no. 6 (Jun 2011): 300-9.
- Mittler, Ron, and Eduardo Blumwald. "The Roles of Ros and Aba in Systemic Acquired Acclimation." *The Plant Cell* 27, no. 1 (2015): 64-70.
- Moore, Simon, Xiaoxian Zhang, Anna Mudge, James H. Rowe, Jennifer F. Topping, Junli Liu, and Keith Lindsey. "Spatiotemporal Modelling of Hormonal Crosstalk Explains the Level and Patterning of Hormones and Gene Expression in *Arabidopsis thaliana* Wild-Type and Mutant Roots." *New Phytologist* 207, no. 4 (2015): 1110-22.
- Moore, Travis R., H. Damon Matthews, Christopher Simmons, and Martin Leduc. "Quantifying Changes in Extreme Weather Events in Response to Warmer Global Temperature." *Atmosphere-Ocean* 53, no. 4 (2015/08/08 2015): 412-25.
- Morales, Jorge, Yasuhiro Kadota, Cyril Zipfel, Antonio Molina, and Miguel-Angel Torres. "The Arabidopsis NADPH Oxidases RBOHD and RBOHF Display Differential Expression Patterns and Contributions During Plant Immunity." [In eng]. J Exp Bot 67, no. 6 (Mar 2016): 1663-76.
- Moubayidin, Laila, Serena Perilli, Raffaele Dello Ioio, Riccardo Di Mambro, Paolo Costantino, and Sabrina Sabatini. "The Rate of Cell Differentiation Controls the *Arabidopsis* Root Meristem Growth Phase." *Current Biology* 20, no. 12 (2010): 1138-43.
- Mudge, Anna "The Role of the POLARIS Peptide in Ethylene Signallingand Root Development in Arabidopsis Thaliana." *Durham Theses, Durham University* <u>http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/11473/</u> (2016).
- Mulkey, Timothy J., Michael L. Evans, and Konrad M. Kuzmanoff. "The Kinetics of Abscisic Acid Action on Root Growth and Gravitropism." [In eng]. *Planta* 157, no. 2 (Mar 1983): 150-7.
- Murata, Yoshiyuki, Zhen-Ming Pei, Izumi C. Mori, and Julian Schroeder. "Abscisic Acid Activation of Plasma Membrane Ca²⁺ Channels in Guard Cells Requires Cytosolic NADPH and Is Differentially Disrupted Upstream and Downstream of Reactive Oxygen Species Production in *abi1-1* and *abi2-1* Protein Phosphatase 2C Mutants." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 13, no. 11 (Nov 2001): 2513-23.
- Nadarajah, Kalaivani K. "ROS Homeostasis in Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants." *International Journal* of Molecular Sciences 21, no. 15 (2020): 5208.
- Nakabayashi, Ryo, Keiko Yonekura-Sakakibara, Kaoru Urano, Makoto Suzuki, Yutaka Yamada, Tomoko Nishizawa, Fumio Matsuda, Mikiko Kojima, Hitoshi Sakakibara, Kazuo Shinozaki, Anthony J Michael, Takayuki Tohge, Mami Yamazaki and Kazuki Saito "Enhancement of Oxidative and Drought Tolerance in Arabidopsis by Overaccumulation of Antioxidant Flavonoids." [In eng]. *Plant J* 77, no. 3 (Feb 2014): 367-79.
- Nakashima, Kazuo, Zabta K. Shinwari, Yoh Sakuma, Motoaki Seki, Setsuko Miura, Kazuo Shinozaki, and Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki. "Organization and Expression of Two Arabidopsis DREB2 Genes Encoding DRE-Binding Proteins Involved in Dehydration- and High-Salinity-Responsive Gene Expression." [In eng]. *Plant Mol Biol* 42, no. 4 (Mar 2000): 657-65.
- Nakashima, Kazuo, Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, and Kazuo Shinozaki. "The Transcriptional Regulatory Network in the Drought Response and Its Crosstalk in Abiotic Stress Responses Including Drought, Cold, and Heat." [In eng]. *Front Plant Sci* 5 (2014): 170.
- Nambara, Eiji, and Annie Marion-Poll. "Abscisic Acid Biosynthesis and Catabolism." [In eng]. Annu Rev Plant Biol 56 (2005): 165-85.

- Naser, Victoria, and Eilon Shani. "Auxin Response under Osmotic Stress." [In eng]. *Plant Mol Biol* 91, no. 6 (Aug 2016): 661-72.
- Nezhadahmadi, Arash, Golam Faruq, and Kamaludin Rashid. "The Impact of Drought Stress on Morphological and Physiological Parameters of Three Strawberry Varieties in Different Growing Conditions." *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 52 (03/30 2015).
- Nezhadahmadi, Arash, Zakaria Hossain Prodhan, and Golam Faruq. "Drought Tolerance in Wheat." *The Scientific World Journal* 2013 (2013/11/11 2013): 610721.
- Ng, Sophia, Aneta Ivanova, Owen Duncan, Simon R. Law, Olivier Van Aken, Inge De Clercq, Yan Wang, Chris Carrie, Lin Xu, Beata Kmiec, Hayden Walker, Frank Van Breusegem, James Whelan and Estelle Giraud "A Membrane-Bound NAC Transcription Factor, ANAC017, Mediates Mitochondrial Retrograde Signaling in *Arabidopsis*." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 25, no. 9 (Sep 2013): 3450-71.
- Nietzel, Thomas, Marlene Elsässer, Cristina Ruberti, Janina Steinbeck, José Manuel Ugalde, Philippe Fuchs, Stephan Wagner, Lara Ostermann, Anna Moseler, Philipp Lemke, Mark D. Fricker, Stefanie J. Muller-Schussele, Bruno M. Moerschbacher, Alex Costa, Andreas J Meye and Markus Schwarzlander. "The Fluorescent Protein Sensor RoGFP2-Orp1 Monitors In vivo H₂O₂ and Thiol Redox Integration and Elucidates Intracellular H₂O₂ Dynamics During Elicitor-Induced Oxidative Burst in Arabidopsis." *New Phytologist* 221, no. 3 (2019): 1649-64.
- Nishimura, C., Y. Ohashi, S. Sato, T. Kato, S. Tabata, and C. Ueguchi. "Histidine Kinase Homologs That Act as Cytokinin Receptors Possess Overlapping Functions in the Regulation of Shoot and Root Growth in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 16, no. 6 (Jun 2004): 1365-77.
- Niu, Lijuan, and Weibiao Liao. "Hydrogen Peroxide Signaling in Plant Development and Abiotic Responses: Crosstalk with Nitric Oxide and Calcium." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7 (2016-March-04 2016).
- Okamoto, Masanori, Yoko Tanaka, Suzanne R. Abrams, Yuji Kamiya, Motoaki Seki, and Eiji Nambara. "High Humidity Induces Abscisic Acid 8'-Hydroxylase in Stomata and Vasculature to Regulate Local and Systemic Abscisic Acid Responses in *Arabidopsis*." *Plant Physiology* 149, no. 2 (2008): 825-34.
- Orman-Ligeza, Beata, Boris Parizot, Riet de Rycke, Ana Fernandez, Ellie Himschoot, Frank Van Breusegem, Malcolm J. Bennett, *et al.* "RBOH-Mediated ROS Production Facilitates Lateral Root Emergence in Arabidopsis." *Development* 143, no. 18 (2016): 3328-39.
- Osakabe, Yuriko, Keishi Osakabe, Kazuo Shinozaki, and Lam-Son Tran. "Response of Plants to Water Stress." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 5 (2014-March-13 2014).
- Osmolovskaya, Natalia, Julia Shumilina, Ahyoung Kim, Anna Didio, Tatiana Grishina, Tatiana Bilova, Olga A. Keltsieva, *et al.* "Methodology of Drought Stress Research: Experimental Setup and Physiological Characterization." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 19, no. 12 (2018): 4089.
- Peer, Wendy Anne., Joshua J. Blakeslee, Haibing Yang, and Angus S. Murphy. "Seven Things We Think We Know About Auxin Transport." [In eng]. *Mol Plant* 4, no. 3 (May 2011): 487-504.
- Peer, Wendy Anne, and Angus S. Murphy. "Flavonoids and Auxin Transport: Modulators or Regulators?" [In eng]. *Trends Plant Sci* 12, no. 12 (Dec 2007): 556-63.
- Peer, Wendy Ann, Yan Cheng, and Angus S. Murphy. "Evidence of Oxidative Attenuation of Auxin Signalling." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 64, no. 9 (2013): 2629-39.
- Pei, Zhen-Ming., Yoshiyuki Murata, Gregor Benning, Sebastien Thomine, Birgit Klüsener, Gethyn J.
 Allen, Erwin Grill, and Julian I. Schroeder. "Calcium Channels Activated by Hydrogen Peroxide Mediate Abscisic Acid Signalling in Guard Cells." [In eng]. *Nature* 406, no. 6797 (Aug 17 2000): 731-4.
- Petersson, Sara V., Annika I. Johansson, Mariusz Kowalczyk, Alexander Makoveychuk, Jean Y. Wang, Thomas Moritz, Markus Grebe, Phillip N. Benfey, Goran Sandberg and Karin Ljung "An Auxin Gradient and Maximum in the Arabidopsis Root Apex Shown by High-Resolution Cell-Specific Analysis of Iaa Distribution and Synthesis." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 21, no. 6 (Jun 2009): 1659-68.

- Petrásek, Jan, and Jiri Friml. "Auxin Transport Routes in Plant Development." [In eng]. *Development* 136, no. 16 (Aug 2009): 2675-88.
- Petricka, Jalean J., Cara M. Winter, and Philip N. Benfey. "Control of Arabidopsis Root Development." Annual Review of Plant Biology 63, no. 1 (2012): 563-90.
- Platre, Matthieu P., Vincent Bayle, Laia Armengot, Joseph Bareille, Maria Del Mar Marquès-Bueno, Audrey Creff, Lilly Maneta-Peyret, Jean-Bernard Fiche, Marcelo Nollmann, Christine Miege, Patrick Moreau, Alexandre Martiniere and Yvon Jaillais "Developmental Control of Plant Rho GTPase Nano-Organization by the Lipid Phosphatidylserine." [In eng]. Science 364, no. 6435 (Apr 5 2019): 57-62.
- Porco, Silvana, Aleš Pěnčík, Afaf Rashed, Ute Voß, Rubén Casanova-Sáez, Anthony Bishopp, Agata Golebiowska, Rahul Bhosale, Rajan Swarup, Kamal Swarup, Pavlina Penakova, Ondrej Novak, Paul Staswick, Peter Hedden, Andrew L. Phillips, Kris Vissenberg and Malcolm J.
 Bennett"Dioxygenase-Encoding *AtDAO1* Gene Controls IAA Oxidation and Homeostasis in *Arabidopsis*." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113, no. 39 (2016): 11016-21.
- Postiglione, Anthony E., and Gloria K. Muday. "The Role of ROS Homeostasis in ABA-Induced Guard Cell Signaling." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11 (2020-June-30 2020).
- Pritchard, Jeremy. "Turgor Pressure." In Els, 2001.
- Qi, Junsheng, Jinlong Wang, Zhizhong Gong, and Jian-Min Zhou. "Apoplastic ROS Signaling in Plant Immunity." [In eng]. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 38 (Aug 2017): 92-100.
- Qi, Junsheng, Chun-Peng Song, Baoshan Wang, Jianmin Zhou, Jaakko Kangasjärvi, Jian-Kang Zhu, and Zhizhong Gong. "Reactive Oxygen Species Signaling and Stomatal Movement in Plant Responses to Drought Stress and Pathogen Attack." *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* 60, no. 9 (2018): 805-26.
- Qiu, Xue-Mei, Yu-Ying Sun, Xin-Yu Ye, and Zhong-Guang Li. "Signaling Role of Glutamate in Plants." *Frontiers in Plant Science* 10 (2020).
- Rajab, Hala, Muhammad Sayyar Khan, Mario Malagoli, Rudiger Hell, and Markus Wirtz. "Sulfate-Induced Stomata Closure Requires the Canonical ABA Signal Transduction Machinery." [In eng]. *Plants (Basel)* 8, no. 1 (Jan 16 2019).
- Rakusová, Hana, Matyas Fendrych, and Jiri Friml. "Intracellular Trafficking and PIN-Mediated Cell Polarity During Tropic Responses in Plants." [In eng]. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 23 (Feb 2015): 116-23.
- Raman, Ruchir. "The Impact of Genetically Modified (GM) Crops in Modern Agriculture: A Review." GM Crops & Food 8, no. 4 (2017/10/02 2017): 195-208.
- Ranocha, Philippe, Oana Dima, Réka Nagy, Judith Felten, Claire Corratgé-Faillie, Ondřej Novák, Kris Morreel, Benoît Lacombe, Yves Martinez, Stephanie Pfrunder, Xu Jin, Jean-Pierre Renou, Jean-Baptiste Thibaud, Karin Ljung, Urs Fischer, Enrico Martinoia, Wout Boerjan and Deborah Goffner. "Arabidopsis WAT1 Is a Vacuolar Auxin Transport Facilitator Required for Auxin Homoeostasis." *Nature Communications* 4, no. 1 (2013).
- Rinaldi, Mauro A., James Liu, Tara A Enders, Bonnie Bartel, and Lucia C. Strader. "A Gain-of-Function Mutation in IAA16 Confers Reduced Responses to Auxin and Abscisic Acid and Impedes Plant Growth and Fertility." [In eng]. *Plant Mol Biol* 79, no. 4-5 (Jul 2012): 359-73.
- Ritchie, Joe T. "Water Dynamics in the Soil-Plant-Atmosphere System." *Plant and Soil* 58, no. 1/3 (1981): 81-96.
- Robert, Hélène S, Peter Grones, Anna N Stepanova, Linda M Robles, Annemarie S Lokerse, Jose M Alonso, Dolf Weijers, and Jiří Friml. "Local Auxin Sources Orient the Apical-Basal Axis in *Arabidopsis* Embryos." *Current Biology* 23, no. 24 (2013): 2506-12.
- Rodrigues, Olivier, Ganna Reshetnyak, Alexandre Grondin, Yusuke Saijo, Nathalie Leonhardt, Christophe Maurel, and Lionel Verdoucq. "Aquaporins Facilitate Hydrogen Peroxide Entry into Guard Cells to Mediate ABA and Pathogen-Triggered Stomatal Closure." [In eng]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114, no. 34 (Aug 22 2017): 9200-05.

- Rodríguez, Fernando I., Jeffrey J. Esch, Anne E. Hall, Brad M. Binder, G. Eric Schaller, and Anthony B. Bleecker. "A Copper Cofactor for the Ethylene Receptor ETR1 from *Arabidopsis*." *Science* 283, no. 5404 (1999): 996-98.
- Rosales, Miguel A., Christophe Maurel, and Philippe Nacry. "Abscisic Acid Coordinates Dose-Dependent Developmental and Hydraulic Responses of Roots to Water Deficit." *Plant Physiology* 180, no. 4 (2019): 2198-211.
- Rowe, James H., Jennifer F. Topping, Junli Liu, and Keith Lindsey. "Abscisic Acid Regulates Root Growth under Osmotic Stress Conditions Via an Interacting Hormonal Network with Cytokinin, Ethylene and Auxin." [In eng]. *New Phytol* 211, no. 1 (Jul 2016): 225-39.
- Ruiz Rosquete, Michel, Elke Barbez, and Jürgen Kleine-Vehn. "Cellular Auxin Homeostasis: Gatekeeping Is Housekeeping." *Molecular Plant* 5, no. 4 (2012/07/01/ 2012): 772-86.
- Sablok, Gaurav, Jonathan J. Powell, and Kemal Kazan. "Emerging Roles and Landscape of Translating mRNAs in Plants." [In eng]. *Front Plant Sci* 8 (2017): 1443.
- Saini, Kumud, Hamada AbdElgawad, Marios N. Markakis, Sébastjen Schoenaers, Han Asard, Els Prinsen, Gerrit T. S. Beemster, and Kris Vissenberg. "Perturbation of Auxin Homeostasis and Signaling by PINOID Overexpression Induces Stress Responses in Arabidopsis." [In English]. Frontiers in Plant Science 8 (2017-August-02 2017).
- Saini, Shivani, Isha Sharma, Navdeep Kaur, and Pratap Kumar Pati. "Auxin: A Master Regulator in Plant Root Development." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Rep* 32, no. 6 (Jun 2013): 741-57.
- Sakaoka, Satomi, Kaho Mabuchi, Atsushi Morikami, and Hironaka Tsukagoshi. "MYB30 Regulates Root Cell Elongation under Abscisic Acid Signaling." [In eng]. *Commun Integr Biol* 11, no. 4 (2018): e1526604.
- Sarwat, Maryam, and Narendra Tuteja. "Hormonal Signaling to Control Stomatal Movement During Drought Stress." *Plant Gene* 11 (2017/09/01/ 2017): 143-53.
- Sato, Hikaru, Hironori Takasaki, Fuminori Takahashi, Takamasa Suzuki, Satoshi luchi, Nobutaka Mitsuda, Masaru Ohme-Takagi, *Miho Ikeda, Mitsunori Seo, Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki,* and Kazuo Shinozaki "Arabidopsis Thaliana NGATHA1 Transcription Factor Induces ABA Biosynthesis by Activating NCED3 Gene During Dehydration Stress." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115, no. 47 (2018): E11178-E87.
- Schaller, G. Eric, Anthony Bishopp, and Joseph J. Kieber. "The Yin-Yang of Hormones: Cytokinin and Auxin Interactions in Plant Development." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 27, no. 1 (Jan 2015): 44-63.
- Schaller, G. Eric., Ian H. Street, and Josheph J. Kieber. "Cytokinin and the Cell Cycle." [In eng]. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 21 (Oct 2014): 7-15.
- Schwartz, Stephen H., Bao C. Tan, Douglas A. Gage, Jan A. Zeevaart, and Donald R. McCarty. "Specific Oxidative Cleavage of Carotenoids by VP14 of Maize." [In eng]. *Science* 276, no. 5320 (Jun 20 1997): 1872-4.
- Schwarzländer, M., M. D. Fricker, C. Müller, L. Marty, T. Brach, J. Novak, L. J. Sweetlove, R. Hell, and
 A. J. Meyer. "Confocal Imaging of Glutathione Redox Potential in Living Plant Cells." [In eng].
 J Microsc 231, no. 2 (Aug 2008): 299-316.
- Seo, Mitsunori, Anton J. Peeters, Hanae Koiwai, Takayuki Oritani, Annie Marion-Poll, Jan A. Zeevaart, Maarten Koornneef, Yuji Kamiya, and Tomokazu Koshiba. "The Arabidopsis Aldehyde Oxidase 3 (AAO3) Gene Product Catalyzes the Final Step in Abscisic Acid Biosynthesis in Leaves." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, no. 23 (Nov 7 2000): 12908-13.
- Serre, Nelson B. C., Dominik Kralík, Ping Yun, Zdeněk Slouka, Sergey Shabala, and Matyáš Fendrych. "AFB1 Controls Rapid Auxin Signalling through Membrane Depolarization in *Arabidopsis* Thaliana Root." *Nature Plants* 7, no. 9 (2021/09/01 2021): 1229-38.
- Shabala, Sergey, Honghon Wu, and Jayakumar Bose. "Salt Stress Sensing and Early Signalling Events in Plant Roots: Current Knowledge and Hypothesis." [In eng]. *Plant Sci* 241 (Dec 2015): 109-19.
- Sharipova, Guzel, Ruslan Ivanov, Dmitriy Veselov, Guzel Akhiyarova, Maria Shishova, Tatyana Nuzhnaya, and Guzel Kudoyarova. "Involvement of Reactive Oxygen Species in ABA-Induced

Increase in Hydraulic Conductivity and Aquaporin Abundance." [In eng]. *Int J Mol Sci* 22, no. 17 (Aug 24 2021).

- Sheard, Laura B., and Ning Zheng. "Signal Advance for Abscisic Acid." *Nature* 462, no. 7273 (2009/12/01 2009): 575-76.
- Shen, Jie, Jing Zhang, Mingjian Zhou, Heng Zhou, Beimi Cui, Cecilia Gotor, Luis C. Romero, Ling Fu, Jing Yang, Christine Helen Foyer, Qiaona Pan, Wenbiao Shen and Yanjie Xie "Persulfidation-Based Modification of Cysteine Desulfhydrase and the NADPH Oxidase RBOHD Controls Guard Cell Abscisic Acid Signaling." *The Plant Cell* 32, no. 4 (2020): 1000-17.
- Shen, Weiran "Genetic Control of Root Development in Arabidopsis." *Durham Theses, Durham University* <u>http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/13156/</u> (2019).
- Shi, Haitao, Li Chen, Tiantian Ye, Xiaodong Liu, Kejian Ding, and Zhulong Chan. "Modulation of Auxin Content in Arabidopsis Confers Improved Drought Stress Resistance." *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 82 (2014): 209-17.
- Sierla, Maija, Cezary Waszczak, Triin Vahisalu, and Jaakko Kangasjärvi. "Reactive Oxygen Species in the Regulation of Stomatal Movements". *Plant Physiology* 171, no. 3 (2016): 1569-80.
- Singh, Dhriti, and Ashverya Laxmi. "Transcriptional Regulation of Drought Response: A Tortuous Network of Transcriptional Factors." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 6 (2015-October-29 2015).
- Singh, Simranjeet, Vijay Kumar, Parul Parihar, Daljeet Singh Dhanjal, Rachana Singh, Praveen C. Ramamurthy, Ram Prasad, and Joginder Singh. "Differential Regulation of Drought Stress by Biological Membrane Transporters and Channels." *Plant Cell Reports* 40, no. 8 (2021): 1565-83.
- Sirichandra, Caroline, Dan Gu, Heng-Cheng C. Hu, Marlene Davanture, Sangmee Lee, Michael Djaoui, Benoit Valot, Michel Zivy, Jeffrey Leung, Sylvain Merlot and June M Kwak "Phosphorylation of the Arabidopsis AtRBOHF NADPH Oxidase by OST1 Protein Kinase." [In eng]. *FEBS Lett* 583, no. 18 (Sep 17 2009): 2982-6.
- Skoog, F., F. M. Strong, and C. O. Miller. "Cytokinins." [In eng]. *Science* 148, no. 3669 (Apr 23 1965): 532-3.
- Smokvarska, Marija, Charbel Francis, Matthieu Pierre Platre, Jean-Bernard Fiche, Carine Alcon, Xavier Dumont, Philippe Nacry, Vincent Bayle, Marcelo Nollmann, Christophe Maurel, Y. Jaillais and Alexandre Martiniere "A Plasma Membrane Nanoplatform Ensures Signal Specificity During Osmotic Signaling in Plants." Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 2020.
- Smolko, Ana, Nataša Bauer, Iva Pavlović, Aleš Pěnčík, Ondřej Novák, and Branka Salopek-Sondi.
 "Altered Root Growth, Auxin Metabolism and Distribution in Arabidopsis thaliana Exposed to Salt and Osmotic Stress." International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22, no. 15 (2021): 7993.
- Sofo, Adriano, Antonio Scopa, Maria Nuzzaci, and Antonella Vitti. "Ascorbate Peroxidase and Catalase Activities and Their Genetic Regulation in Plants Subjected to Drought and Salinity Stresses." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 16, no. 6 (2015): 13561-78.
- Solano, Roberto, Anna Stepanova, Qimin Chao, and Joseph R. Ecker. "Nuclear Events in Ethylene Signaling: A Transcriptional Cascade Mediated by ETHYLENE-INSENSITIVE3 and ETHYLENE-RESPONSE-FACTOR1." [In eng]. *Genes Dev* 12, no. 23 (Dec 1 1998): 3703-14.
- Soma, Fumiyuki, Fuminori Takahashi, Takamasa Suzuki, Kazuo Shinozaki, and Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki. "Plant Raf-Like Kinases Regulate the mRNA Population Upstream of ABA-Unresponsive SnRK2 Kinases under Drought Stress." *Nature Communications* 11, no. 1 (2020/03/13 2020): 1373.
- Somssich, Marc, Ghazanfar Abbas Khan, and Staffan Persson. "Cell Wall Heterogeneity in Root Development of Arabidopsis." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7 (2016-August-17 2016).
- Song, Yuwei, Yuchen Miao, and Chun-Peng Song. "Behind the Scenes: The Roles of Reactive Oxygen Species in Guard Cells." *New Phytologist* 201, no. 4 (2014): 1121-40.

 Spartz, Angela K., Hong Ren, Mee Yeon Park, Kristin N. Grandt, Sang Ho Lee, Angus S. Murphy, Michael R. Sussman, Paul J. Overvoorde, and William M. Gray. "SAUR Inhibition of PP2C-D Phosphatases Activates Plasma Membrane H⁺-ATPases to Promote Cell Expansion in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *The Plant cell* 26, no. 5 (2014): 2129-42.

Srivastava, Lalit. "Abscisic Acid and Stress Tolerance in Plants." 381-412, 2002.

- Staswick, Paul E., Bogdan Serban, Martha Rowe, Iskender Tiryaki, Marien T. Maldonado, Mitsa C. Maldonado, and Walter Suza. "Characterization of an Arabidopsis Enzyme Family That Conjugates Amino Acids to indole-3-acetic Acid." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 17, no. 2 (Feb 2005): 616-27.
- Stepanova, Anna N., Joyce Robertson-Hoyt, Jeonga Yun, Larissa M. Benavente, De-Yu. Xie, Karel Dolezal, Alexandara Schlereth, Gurd Jürgens, and Jose M. Alonso. "TAA1-Mediated Auxin Biosynthesis Is Essential for Hormone Crosstalk and Plant Development." [In eng]. *Cell* 133, no. 1 (Apr 4 2008): 177-91.
- Stepanova, Anna N., Jeonga Yun, Alla V. Likhacheva, and Jose M. Alonso. "Multilevel Interactions between Ethylene and Auxin in Arabidopsis Roots." *The Plant Cell* 19, no. 7 (2007): 2169-85.
- Strader, Lucia C., Grace L. Chen, and Bonnie Bartel. "Ethylene Directs Auxin to Control Root Cell Expansion." *The Plant Journal* 64, no. 5 (2010): 874-84.
- Sun, Li Rong, Yi Bin Wang, Shi Bin He, and Fu Shun Hao. "Mechanisms for Abscisic Acid Inhibition of Primary Root Growth." [In eng]. *Plant signaling & behavior* 13, no. 9 (2018): e1500069-e69.
- Sussmilch, Frances C, Timothy J Brodribb, and Scott A M McAdam. "Up-Regulation of NCED3 and ABA Biosynthesis Occur within Minutes of a Decrease in Leaf Turgor but AHK1 Is Not Required." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 68, no. 11 (2017): 2913-18.
- Sutka, Moira, Guowei Li, Julie Boudet, Yann Boursiac, Patrick Doumas, and Christophe Maurel. "Natural Variation of Root Hydraulics in Arabidopsis Grown in Normal and Salt-Stressed Conditions." [In eng]. *Plant Physiol* 155, no. 3 (Mar 2011): 1264-76.
- Suzuki, Nobuhiro, Gad Miller, Carolina Salazar, Hossain A. Mondal, Elena Shulaev, Diego F. Cortes, Joel L. Shuman, Xiaozhong Luo, Jyoti Shah, Karen Schlauch, Vladimir Shulaeva and Ron Mittler "Temporal-Spatial Interaction between Reactive Oxygen Species and Abscisic Acid Regulates Rapid Systemic Acclimation in Plants ". *The Plant Cell* 25, no. 9 (2013): 3553-69.
- Suzuki, Tomomi, Kumiko Miwa, Kuniko Ishikawa, Hisami Yamada, Hirofumi Aiba, and Takeshi Mizuno. "The Arabidopsis Sensor His-Kinase, AHK4, Can Respond to Cytokinins." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Physiol* 42, no. 2 (Feb 2001): 107-13.
- Takahashi, Fuminori., Takehiro Suzuki, Yuriko Osakabe, Shigeyuki Betsuyaku, Yuki Kondo, Naoshi
 Dohmae, Hiroo Fukuda, Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, and Kazuo Shinozaki. "A Small Peptide
 Modulates Stomatal Control Via Abscisic Acid in Long-Distance Signalling." [In eng]. Nature
 556, no. 7700 (Apr 2018): 235-38.
- Takahashi, Koji, Ken-ichiro Hayashi, and Toshinori Kinoshita. "Auxin Activates the Plasma Membrane H⁺-ATPase by Phosphorylation During Hypocotyl Elongation in Arabidopsis". *Plant Physiology* 159, no. 2 (2012): 632-41.
- Takahashi, Yohei, Jingbo Zhang, Po-Kai Hsu, Paulo H. O. Ceciliato, Li Zhang, Guillaume Dubeaux, Shintaro Munemasa, Chennan Ge, Yunde Zhao, Felix Hauser and Julian I. Schroeder
 "MAP3Kinase-Dependent SnRK2-Kinase Activation Is Required for Abscisic Acid Signal Transduction and Rapid Osmotic Stress Response." Nature Communications 11, no. 1 (2020).
- Takatsuka, Hirotomo, and Masaki Ito. "Cytoskeletal Control of Planar Polarity in Root Hair Development." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11 (2020-September-04 2020).
- Takatsuka, Hirotomo, and Masaaki Umeda. "ABA Inhibits Root Cell Elongation through Repressing the Cytokinin Signaling." [In eng]. *Plant signaling & behavior* 14, no. 3 (2019): e1578632-e32.
- Takatsuka, Hirotomo, and Masaaki Umeda. "Hormonal Control of Cell Division and Elongation Along Differentiation Trajectories in Roots." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 65, no. 10 (2014): 2633-43.

- Takubo, Eiko, Makoto Kobayashi, Shoko Hirai, Yuki Aoi, Chennan Ge, Xinhua Dai, Kosuke Fukui, Yunde Zhao and Hiroyuki Kasahara "Role of Arabidopsis INDOLE-3-ACETIC ACID CARBOXYL METHYLTRANSFERASE 1 in Auxin Metabolism." [In eng]. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 527, no. 4 (Jul 5 2020): 1033-38.
- Tan, Xu, Luz Irina A. Calderon-Villalobos, Michal Sharon, Changxue Zheng, Carol V. Robinson, Mark Estelle, and Ning Zheng. "Mechanism of Auxin Perception by the TIR1 Ubiquitin Ligase." *Nature* 446, no. 7136 (2007/04/01 2007): 640-45.
- Tanaka, Yasushi, Tomomi Suzuki, Takafumi Yamashino, and Takeshi Mizuno. "Comparative Studies of the AHP Histidine-Containing Phosphotransmitters Implicated in His-to-Asp Phosphorelay in Arabidopsis Thaliana." [In eng]. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 68, no. 2 (Feb 2004): 462-5.
- Taylor, Sean C., Katia Nadeau, Meysam Abbasi, Claude Lachance, Marie Nguyen, and Joshua Fenrich. "The Ultimate qPCR Experiment: Producing Publication Quality, Reproducible Data the First Time." *Trends in Biotechnology* 37, no. 7 (2019/07/01/ 2019): 761-74.
- Teale, William D., Ivan A. Paponov, and Klaus Palme. "Auxin in Action: Signalling, Transport and the Control of Plant Growth and Development." [In eng]. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7, no. 11 (Nov 2006): 847-59.
- Tenhaken, Raimund. "Cell Wall Remodeling under Abiotic Stress." [In English]. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 5 (2015-January-07 2015).
- Thole, Julie M., Erin R. Beisner, James Liu, Savina V. Venkova, and Lucia C. Strader. "Abscisic Acid Regulates Root Elongation through the Activities of Auxin and Ethylene in *Arabidopsis thaliana*." [In eng]. *G3 (Bethesda)* 4, no. 7 (May 15 2014): 1259-74.
- To, Jennifer P., Jean Deruère, Bridey B. Maxwell, Veronica F. Morris, Claire E. Hutchison, Fernando J. Ferreira, G. Eric Schaller, and Joseph J. Kieber. "Cytokinin Regulates Type-A *Arabidopsis* Response Regulator Activity and Protein Stability Via Two-Component Phosphorelay." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 19, no. 12 (Dec 2007): 3901-14.
- Tognetti, Vanesa. B., Per Mühlenbock, and Frank Van Breusegem. "Stress Homeostasis the Redox and Auxin Perspective." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Environ* 35, no. 2 (Feb 2012): 321-33.
- Tognetti, Vanesa B., Agnieszka Bielach, and Mónika Hrtyan. "Redox Regulation at the Site of Primary Growth: Auxin, Cytokinin and ROS Crosstalk." *Plant, Cell & Environment* 40, no. 11 (2017): 2586-605.
- Torres, Miguel A., and Jeffery L. Dangl. "Functions of the Respiratory Burst Oxidase in Biotic Interactions, Abiotic Stress and Development." [In eng]. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 8, no. 4 (Aug 2005): 397-403.
- Tran, Lam-Son., Takeshi Urao, Feng Qin, Kyonoshin Maruyama, Tatsuo Kakimoto, Kazuo Shinozaki, and Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki. "Functional Analysis of AHK1/ATHK1 and Cytokinin Receptor Histidine Kinases in Response to Abscisic Acid, Drought, and Salt Stress in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, no. 51 (Dec 18 2007): 20623-8.
- Tsukagoshi, Hironaka "Control of Root Growth and Development by Reactive Oxygen Species." [In eng]. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 29 (Feb 2016): 57-63.
- Tsukagoshi, Hironaka, Wolfgang Busch, and Phillip N. Benfey. "Transcriptional Regulation of ROS Controls Transition from Proliferation to Differentiation in the Root." [In eng]. *Cell* 143, no. 4 (Nov 12 2010): 606-16.
- Ueda, Minoru, and Motoaki Seki. "Histone Modifications Form Epigenetic Regulatory Networks to Regulate Abiotic Stress Response1 ." *Plant Physiology* 182, no. 1 (2019): 15-26.
- Umezawa, Taishi, Naoyuki Sugiyama, Masahide Mizoguchi, Shimpei Hayashi, Fumiyoshi Myouga,
 Kazuko Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, Yasushi Ishihama, Takashi Hirayama, and Kazuo Shinozaki.
 "Type 2C Protein Phosphatases Directly Regulate Abscisic Acid-Activated Protein Kinases in
 Arabidopsis." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106, no. 41 (2009): 17588-93.
- UNESCO. "United Nations World Water Development Report 2020: Water and Climate Change." (2020).

- United Nations, Department of Economic and Socail Affairs, Population Division "World Population Prospects 2019". *Data Booklet. ST/ESA/SER.A/424.* (2019).
- Ursache, Robertas, Tonni Grube Andersen, Peter Marhavý, and Niko Geldner. "A Protocol for Combining Fluorescent Proteins with Histological Stains for Diverse Cell Wall Components." *The Plant Journal* 93, no. 2 (2018): 399-412.
- Van Breusegem, Frank, and James F. Dat. "Reactive Oxygen Species in Plant Cell Death." [In eng]. *Plant physiology* 141, no. 2 (2006): 384-90.
- Van Der Weele, Corine M., William G. Spollen, Robert E. Sharp, and Tobias I. Baskin. "Growth of Arabidopsis Thaliana Seedlings under Water Deficit Studied by Control of Water Potential in Nutrient-Agar Media." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51, no. 350 (2000): 1555-62.
- Vandenbussche, Filip, Irina Vaseva, Kris Vissenberg, and Dominique Van Der Straeten. "Ethylene in Vegetative Development: A Tale with a Riddle." *New Phytologist* 194, no. 4 (2012): 895-909.
- Vaseva, Irina I, Enas Qudeimat, Thomas Potuschak, Yunlong Du, Pascal Genschik, Filip
 Vandenbussche, and Dominique Van Der Straeten. "The Plant Hormone Ethylene Restricts
 Arabidopsis Growth Via the Epidermis." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 115, no. 17 (Apr 24 2018): E4130-e39.
- Vernoux, T., R. C. Wilson, K. A. Seeley, J. P. Reichheld, S. Muroy, S. Brown, S. C. Maughan, Christopher S. Cobbett, Marc Van Montagu, Dirk Inzé, Mike J. May, Zinmay R. Sung. "The *ROOT MERISTEMLESS1/CADMIUM SENSITIVE2* Gene Defines a Glutathione-Dependent Pathway Involved in Initiation and Maintenance of Cell Division During Postembryonic Root Development." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 12, no. 1 (Jan 2000): 97-110.
- Verslues, Paul E., Manu Agarwal, Surekha Katiyar-Agarwal, Jianhua Zhu, and Jian-Kang Zhu. "Methods and Concepts in Quantifying Resistance to Drought, Salt and Freezing, Abiotic Stresses That Affect Plant Water Status." *The Plant Journal* 45, no. 4 (2006): 523-39.
- Vetter, Ingrid R., and Alfred Wittinghofer. "The Guanine Nucleotide-Binding Switch in Three Dimensions." [In eng]. *Science* 294, no. 5545 (Nov 9 2001): 1299-304.
- Waadt, Rainer, Kenichi Hitomi, Noriyuki Nishimura, Chiharu Hitomi, Stephen R. Adams, Elizabeth D. Getzoff, and Julian I. Schroeder. "FRET-Based Reporters for the Direct Visualization of Abscisic Acid Concentration Changes and Distribution in *Arabidopsis*." *eLife* 3 (2014).
- Waadt, Rainer, Philipp Köster, Zaida Andrés, Christian Waadt, Gabriele Bradamante, Konstantinos Lampou, Jörg Kudla, and Karin Schumacher. "Dual-Reporting Transcriptionally Linked Genetically Encoded Fluorescent Indicators Resolve the Spatiotemporal Coordination of Cytosolic Abscisic Acid and Second Messenger Dynamics in Arabidopsis." *The Plant Cell* 32, no. 8 (2020): 2582-601.
- Wang, Bing, Jinfang Chu, Tianying Yu, Qian Xu, Xiaohong Sun, Jia Yuan, Guosheng Xiong, et al.
 "Tryptophan-Independent Auxin Biosynthesis Contributes to Early Embryogenesis in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112, no. 15 (2015): 4821-26.
- Wang, Hong-Zhe, Ke-Zhen Yang, Jun-Jie Zou, Ling-Ling Zhu, Zi Dian Xie, Miyo Terao Morita, Masao Tasaka, Jiří Friml, Erich Grotewold, Tom Beeckman, Steffen Vanneste, Fred Sack and Jie Le
 "Transcriptional Regulation of *PIN* Genes by FOUR LIPS and MYB88 During Arabidopsis Root Gravitropism." [In eng]. *Nature communications* 6 (2015): 8822-22.
- Wang, Li, Deping Hua, Junna He, Ying Duan, Zhizhong Chen, Xuhui Hong, and Zhizhong Gong. "Auxin Response Factor2 (ARF2) and Its Regulated Homeodomain Gene HB33 Mediate Abscisic Acid Response in Arabidopsis." PLOS Genetics 7, no. 7 (2011): e1002172.
- Waszczak, Cezary, Salma Akter, Silke Jacques, Jingjing Huang, Joris Messens, and Frank Van Breusegem. "Oxidative Post-Translational Modifications of Cysteine Residues in Plant Signal Transduction." [In eng]. J Exp Bot 66, no. 10 (May 2015): 2923-34.
- Waszczak, Cezary, Melanie Carmody, and Jaakko Kangasjärvi. "Reactive Oxygen Species in Plant Signaling." *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 69, no. 1 (2018): 209-36.

- Wenjing, Wang, Qingbin Chen, Prashant Kumar Singh, Yuanyuan Huang, and Dongli Pei.
 "CRISPR/Cas9 Edited *HSFA6a* and *HSFA6b* of Arabidopsis Thaliana Offers ABA and Osmotic Stress Insensitivity by Modulation of ROS Homeostasis." *Plant Signaling & Behavior* 15, no. 12 (2020/12/01 2020): 1816321.
- Werner, Tomas, Vaclav Motyka, Miroslav Strnad, and Thomas Schmülling. "Regulation of Plant Growth by Cytokinin." [In eng]. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, no. 18 (Aug 28 2001): 10487-92.
- Whitmore, Andrew P., and W. Richard Whalley. "Physical Effects of Soil Drying on Roots and Crop Growth." [In eng]. *J Exp Bot* 60, no. 10 (2009): 2845-57.
- Wilkinson, Sally, and William J Davies. "Drought, Ozone, ABA and Ethylene: New Insights from Cell to Plant to Community." *Plant, Cell & Environment* 33, no. 4 (2010): 510-25.
- Justyna Wisniewska 1, Jian Xu, Daniela Seifertová, Philip B Brewer, Kamil Ruzicka, Ikram Blilou, David Rouquié, Eva Benková, Ben Scheres and Jirí Friml "Polar PIN Localization Directs Auxin Flow in Plants." [In eng]. *Science* 312, no. 5775 (May 12 2006): 883.
- Wu, Feihua, Yuan Chi, Zhonghao Jiang, Yuanyuan Xu, Ling Xie, Feifei Huang, Di Wan, Jun Ni, Fang Yuan, Xiaomei Wu, Yanyan Zhang, Li Wang, Rui Ye, Benjamin Byeon, Wenhua Wang, Shu Zhang, Matthew Sima, Suping Chen, Minghua Zhu, Jessica Pei, Douglas M. Johnson, Shan Zhu, Xiaoqiang Cao, Christopher Pei, Zijing Zai, Yihao Liu, Tianyi Liu, Gary B. Swift, Weiguo Zhang, Min Yu, Zhangli Hu, James N. Siedow, Xian Chen & Zhen-Ming Pei "Hydrogen Peroxide Sensor HPCA1 Is an LRR Receptor Kinase in Arabidopsis." *Nature* 578, no. 7796 (2020/02/01 2020): 577-81.
- Wu, Hen-Ming, Ora Hazak, Alice Y. Cheung, and Shaul Yalovsky. "RAC/ROP GTPases and Auxin Signaling." [In eng]. *The Plant cell* 23, no. 4 (2011): 1208-18.
- Wu, Rui, Lina Duan, José L. Pruneda-Paz, Dong-ha Oh, Michael Pound, Steve Kay, and José R. Dinneny. "The 6x*ABRE* Synthetic Promoter Enables the Spatiotemporal Analysis of ABA-Mediated Transcriptional Regulation." *Plant Physiology* 177, no. 4 (2018): 1650-65.
- Xing, Hui-Li, Li Dong, Zhi-Ping Wang, Hai-Yan Zhang, Chun-Yan Han, Bing Liu, Xue-Chen Wang, and Qi-Jun Chen. "A CRISPR/Cas9 Toolkit for Multiplex Genome Editing in Plants." *BMC Plant Biology* 14, no. 1 (2014/11/29 2014): 327.
- Xu, Zheng-Yi, Kwang Hee Lee, Ting Dong, Jae Cheol Jeong, Jing Bo Jin, Yuri Kanno, Dae Heon Kim, Soo Youn Kim, Mitsunori Seo, Ray A. Bressan, Dae-Jin Yun and Inhwan Hwang "A Vacuolar β-Glucosidase Homolog That Possesses Glucose-Conjugated Abscisic Acid Hydrolyzing Activity Plays an Important Role in Osmotic Stress Responses in *Arabidopsis*." [In eng]. *Plant Cell* 24, no. 5 (May 2012): 2184-99.
- Xue, Dawei, Xiaoqin Zhang, Xueli Lu, Guang Chen, and Zhong-Hua Chen. "Molecular and Evolutionary Mechanisms of Cuticular Wax for Plant Drought Tolerance." [In eng]. Frontiers in plant science 8 (2017): 621-21.
- Yamada, Hisami, Tomomi Suzuki, Kazunori Terada, Kentaro Takei, Kuniko Ishikawa, Kumiko Miwa, Takafumi Yamashino and Takeshi Mizuno "The Arabidopsis AHK4 Histidine Kinase is a cytokinin-binding receptor that transduces cytokinin signals across the membrane." [In eng]. *Plant Cell Physiol* 42, no. 9 (Sep 2001): 1017-23.
- Yamada, Masashi, Xinwei Han, and Philip N. Benfey. "RGF1 Controls Root Meristem Size through ROS Signalling." *Nature* 577, no. 7788 (2020): 85-88.
- Yamoune, Amel, Abigail Rubiato Cuyacot, Marketa Zdarska, and Jan Hejatko. "Hormonal Orchestration of Root Apical Meristem Formation and Maintenance in Arabidopsis." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 72, no. 19 (2021): 6768-88.
- Yang, Li, Jing Zhang, Junna He, Yingying Qin, Deping Hua, Ying Duan, Zhizhong Chen and Zhizhong Gong. "ABA-Mediated ROS in Mitochondria Regulate Root Meristem Activity by Controlling *PLETHORA* Expression in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *PLoS Genet* 10, no. 12 (Dec 2014): e1004791.
- Yao, Tao, Jin Zhang, Meng Xie, Guoliang Yuan, Timothy J. Tschaplinski, Wellington Muchero, and Jin-Gui Chen. "Transcriptional Regulation of Drought Response in Arabidopsis and Woody Plants." [In English]. Frontiers in Plant Science 11 (2021-January-08 2021).

- Yu, Feng, Lichao Qian, Candida Nibau, Qiaohong Duan, Daniel Kita, Kathryn Levasseur, Xiaoqian Li, , Changqing Lu, Hui Li, Congcong Hou, Legong Li, Bob B. Buchanan, Liangbi Chen, Alice Y. Cheung, Dongping Li and Sheng Luan "FERONIA Receptor Kinase Pathway Suppresses Abscisic Acid Signaling in *Arabidopsis* by Activating ABI2 Phosphatase." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, no. 36 (2012): 14693-98.
- Yu, Qianqian, Huiyu Tian, Kun Yue, Jiajia Liu, Bing Zhang, Xugang Li, and Zhaojun Ding. "A P-Loop NTPase Regulates Quiescent Center Cell Division and Distal Stem Cell Identity through the Regulation of ROS Homeostasis in Arabidopsis Root." *PLOS Genetics* 12, no. 9 (2016): e1006175.
- Yuan, Fang, Huimin Yang, Yan Xue, Dongdong Kong, Rui Ye, Chijun Li, Jingyuan Zhang, Lynn
 Theprungsirikul, Tayler Shrift, Bryan Krichilsky, Douglas M. Johnson, Gary B. Swift, Yikun He,
 James N. Siedow & Zhen-Ming Pei "OSCA1 Mediates Osmotic-Stress-Evoked Ca²⁺ Increases
 Vital for Osmosensing in Arabidopsis." *Nature* 514, no. 7522 (2014/10/01 2014): 367-71.
- Yuan, Jing., Fan Jin, Timo Glatter, and Victor Sourjik. "Osmosensing by the Bacterial PhoQ/PhoP Two-Component System." [In eng]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114, no. 50 (Dec 12 2017): E10792e98.
- Yuan, Minhang, Zeyu Jiang, Guozhi Bi, Kinya Nomura, Menghui Liu, Sheng Yang He, Jian-Min Zhou, and Xiu-Fang Xin. "Pattern-Recognition Receptors Are Required for NLR-Mediated Plant Immunity." *bioRxiv* (2020): 2020.04.10.031294.
- Yuan, Ting-Ting, Zhi-Xin Xiang, Wen Li, Xiang Gao, and Ying-Tang Lu. "Osmotic Stress Represses Root Growth by Modulating the Transcriptional Regulation of PIN-FORMED3." *New Phytologist* (2021).
- Zandalinas, Sara I., Yosef Fichman, and Ron Mittler. "Vascular Bundles Mediate Systemic Reactive Oxygen Signaling During Light Stress." *The Plant Cell* 32, no. 11 (2020): 3425-35.
- Zandalinas, Sara I., Soham Sengupta, David Burks, Rajeev K. Azad, and Ron Mittler. "Identification and Characterization of a Core Set of ROS Wave-Associated Transcripts Involved in the Systemic Acquired Acclimation Response of Arabidopsis to Excess Light." *The Plant Journal* 98, no. 1 (2019): 126-41.
- Zhang, Haiwen, Huifen Zhu, Yajun Pan, Yeuxuan Yu, Sheng Luan, and Legong Li. "A DTX/MATE-Type Transporter Facilitates Abscisic Acid Efflux and Modulates ABA Sensitivity and Drought Tolerance in Arabidopsis." [In eng]. *Mol Plant* 7, no. 10 (Oct 2014): 1522-32.
- Zhang, Hanma, Woong Han, Ive De Smet, Peter Talboys, Rakesh Loya, Amaar Hassan, Honglin Rong, Gerd Jürgens, J Paul Knox, Myeong-Hyeon Wang "ABA Promotes Quiescence of the Quiescent Centre and Suppresses Stem Cell Differentiation in the Arabidopsis Primary Root Meristem." *The Plant Journal* 64, no. 5 (2010): 764-74.
- Zhang, Jun, and Wendy A. Peer. "Auxin Homeostasis: The DAO of Catabolism." [In eng]. J Exp Bot 68, no. 12 (Jun 1 2017): 3145-54.
- Zhang, Jun, Jinshan Ella Lin, Chinchu Harris, Fernanda Campos Mastrotti Pereira, Fan Wu, Joshua J. Blakeslee, and Wendy Ann Peer. "DAO1 Catalyzes Temporal and Tissue-Specific Oxidative Inactivation of Auxin in Arabidopsis thaliana." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, no. 39 (2016): 11010-15.
- Zhang, Lu, and Donald F. Becker. "Connecting Proline Metabolism and Signaling Pathways in Plant Senescence." [In eng]. *Frontiers in plant science* 6 (2015): 552-52.
- Zhang, Meixiang., Yi-Hsuan Chiang, Tania Y. Toruño, DongHyuk Lee, Miaomiao Ma, Xiangxiu Liang, Neeraj K. Lal, Mark Lemos, Yi-Ju Lu, Shisong Ma, Jun Liu, Brad Day, Savithramma P. Dinesh-Kumar, Katayoon Dehesh, Daolong Dou, Jian-Min Zhou and Gitta Coaker "The MAP4 Kinase SIK1 Ensures Robust Extracellular ROS Burst and Antibacterial Immunity in Plants." [In eng]. *Cell Host Microbe* 24, no. 3 (Sep 12 2018): 379-91.e5.
- Zhang, Wenjin, Rajan Swarup, Malcolm Bennett, G. Eric. Schaller, and Joseph J. Kieber. "Cytokinin Induces Cell Division in the Quiescent Center of the Arabidopsis Root Apical Meristem." [In eng]. Curr Biol 23, no. 20 (Oct 21 2013): 1979-89.

Zhao, Y. "Auxin Biosynthesis." [In eng]. Arabidopsis Book 12 (2014): e0173.

- Zhou, Huailin, Guangsheng Zhou, Qijin He, Li Zhou, Yuhe Ji, and Xiaomin Lv. "Capability of Leaf Water Content and Its Threshold Values in Reflection of Soil–Plant Water Status in Maize During Prolonged Drought." *Ecological Indicators* 124 (2021/05/01/ 2021): 107395.
- Zhou, Xuemei, Yu Xiang, Chenglong Li, and Guanghui Yu. "Modulatory Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in Root Development in Model Plant of Arabidopsis thaliana." [In English]. Frontiers in Plant Science 11 (2020-September-16 2020).
- Zhu, Jinsheng, and Markus Geisler. "Keeping It All Together: Auxin-Actin Crosstalk in Plant Development." [In eng]. J Exp Bot 66, no. 16 (Aug 2015): 4983-98.
- Zwiewka, Marta, Agnieszka Bielach, Prashanth Tamizhselvan, Sharmila Madhavan, Eman Elrefaay Ryad, Shutang Tan, Mónika Hrtyan, Petre Dobrev, Radomira Vanková, Jiří Friml, Vanesa B Tognetti "Root Adaptation to H₂O₂-Induced Oxidative Stress by ARF-GEF BEN1- and Cytoskeleton-Mediated PIN2 Trafficking." *Plant and Cell Physiology* 60, no. 2 (2019): 255-73.
- Zwiewka, Marta, Tomasz Nodzyński, Stéphanie Robert, Steffen Vanneste, and Jiří Friml. "Osmotic Stress Modulates the Balance between Exocytosis and Clathrin-Mediated Endocytosis in Arabidopsis Thaliana." *Molecular Plant* 8, no. 8 (2015): 1175-87.
Appendix

Primers for qRT-PCR

Gene	Primer sequences	Tm (C°)	Notes
AT5G15710	Fw – CTCTTTCGCCTCTTGGTTTG	53.9	Housekeeping Gene for osmotic
			stress (Czechowski <i>et al.</i> 2005)
	Rv - TCCTTCCCACGAGAAACAAT	53.9	
RD29B	Fw - GGG GAA AGG ACA TGG TGA GG	60.03	ABA-responsive gene
	Rv - GGT TTA CCA CCG AGC CAA GA	59.96	
IAA2	Fw – GAAGAATCTACACCTCCTACCAAAA	54.3	Auxin-responsive gene
	Rv - CACGTAGCTCACACTGTTGTTG	56.2	
ROP2	Fw – GGTGTTCCCATTATCCTTGTTG	53.9	ROP2 expression
	Rv - TCACAAGAACGCGCAACGGTTC	60.7	
RBOHI	Fw – GGTACCGCAAAACGGTATGG	56.3	RBOHI expression
		56.2	
		50.3	
RBOHC	Fw – TCACCAGAGACTGGCACAATAAA	56.3	RBOHC expression
		55.8	
		55.0	DERK4 expression
FENK4	FW - ACOTTACOCCCOATGAC	58.0	
	Rv - CACCTTAGTAGATTGGGCTCGG	57.0	
PIN3	Fw – GAGGGAGAAGGAAGAAAGGGAAAC	60.8	PIN3 expression (Wang et al.
			2015)
	Rv - CTTGGCTTGTAA TGTTGGCATCAG	60.8	
PIN7	Fw – GTCCGTTAGGCACTTCCTTTACCC	64.5	PIN7 expression (Wang et al.
			2015)
	Rv - TCAAGGCGGTGCAAAAGAGATTCG	64.5	

Table 3. Primers used for qRT-PCR analysis of gene expression